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Dear fellow shareholders,

TheThe last year has been a year defined by resilience, perseverance, and success, as many milestones and 
achievements were made with respect to our operations. First and foremost was the success we had at the 
Lagoa Salgada VMS project in Portugal. With a limited drill program, the Company was able to substantially 
grow the overall resource base, increasing Measured & Indicated Resource tonnage by 125% from the 
previous year. The successful drill program set the stage for a very strong result in our Preliminary Economic 
Assessment released in January 2020 that provided an after-tax IRR of 31%, an NPV8% of $106 million and a 
2-year2-year payback period. Lagoa Salgada has proven to be a tremendously prolific deposit, providing a 
substantial global resource with less than 20,000 meters of total drilling. We look forward to our next drill 
program at Lagoa Salgada to continue the strong resource growth.

At the El Mochito mine in Honduras, production was increased to record levels with the best head grades 
achieved since the acquisition of the mine in late 2016. These successes were achieved despite the pressures 
of lower base metal prices and increased costs particular to Honduras. As a consequence of these pressures, 
Ascendant came to the conclusion that without substantial investment, the high cost base of El Mochito 
would continue to place the mine in the fourth quartile of zinc-cost based mines, and the prospective 
economic return would not fulfill the Company’s objectives. As a consequence, Ascendant sold the Mine to a 
private investor-based group in April 2020.
  

Conversely,Conversely, we have been very pleased with the substantial growth and progress made at the Lagoa Salgada 
VMS project in 2019. Following the first updated Mineral Resource Estimate announced in February 2019, we 
embarked on our second exploration program at Lagoa Salgada since the acquisition of our interest in the 
project in mid-2018. The second program included an exploration program consisting of 24 holes (8,164 
metres), and a surface Induced Polarization survey covering the 8km gravity anomaly identified in the 2018 
program. Drilling primarily focused on infill drilling in the North Zone to increase the confidence in the grade 
andand tonnage, while four holes were allocated to test the strong IP chargeability anomaly in the Central and 
South Zones. Our team again demonstrated significant results, expanding high-grade mineralization, 
substantially extending the North Zone, and identifying new copper-rich mineralization in the South and 
Central Zones, a characteristic common to major mine deposits on the Iberian Pyrite Belt, the world’s most 
prolific VMS host region. This success lead to an updated Mineral Resource Estimate announced in 
September 2019, yielding significant tonnage growth in the North’s Massive Sulphide Zone, and the 
conversionconversion of substantial resources into the Measured & Indicated categories from Inferred. The deposits 
remain open at depth and along strike, with indications of high-grade extensions providing high confidence 
in near-deposit future growth, especially given the high ratio of metres drilled to resource tonnes achieved 
to date. 

The work done at Lagoa Salgada in 2019, was a critical factor leading to the success of the maiden 
Preliminary Economic Assessment outlined. While we are very proud of the results of this study which 
demonstrates a robust and compelling case for the mineable potential of the project, the study was just 
completed on basis of the North Zone only, which represents only a small of the overall project’s resource, 
and does not define or even begin to illustrate the potential for the entire project as a whole – imagine what 
we can do with more work!  We are just as excited about our next program, and as we move the project 
towardstowards feasibility stage over the next year based on our work in 2020, we believe the picture of the full 
resource potential of the project will continue to unfold with exciting developments.

Amidst continuing metal price pressures and the new uncertainties brought to light from the onset of the 
global COVID-19 pandemic, the Company had to re-evaluate our business and make a strategic decision 
based on what was best for you, our shareholders, in both the short and long-term. Over the past three 
years, our team has done an exceptional job of growing production and reducing unit costs at the El Mochito 
Mine, and yet despite these efforts, management recognized that El Mochito could not be profitable in the 
current environment without major investment and without diluting current shareholders’ interests. The 
divestituredivestiture of the mine now allows us to focus our resources solely on the Lagoa Salgada project which we 
believe offers a considerably stronger growth profile and will ultimately benefit shareholders most greatly. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has also highlighted the importance of where you operate, and we believe a sole 
focus on Portugal, ranked the 5th best mining jurisdiction in the world for 2019 by the Fraser Institute, 
provides a shift in jurisdictional and operational risk that will be welcomed by our shareholders. We are 
taking precautions to protect our employees, with the vast majority working entirely remotely, and will 
similarly take appropriate care as activities increase.

With a significant year behind us and a new and ambitious year ahead, I would like to take this opportunity 
to thank our employees, including our past employees in Honduras, for their commitment and hard work 
throughout 2019. The accomplishments and successes achieved at both Lagoa Salgada and El Mochito were 
a direct result of your continued hard-work and dedication. I would also like to express my deepest gratitude 
for the continued support from all our stakeholders, especially our shareholders, for the continued support 
throughout the year and the Company’s subsequent transition in 2020. Finally, to our engaged and dedicated 
BoardBoard of Directors, your input and guidance has been an immense asset in 2019 helping to reposition 
Ascendant as we transition to the next phase for the Company. 

Wishing you health and safety in these uncertain times,

Chris Buncic
President & CEO
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Ascendant Resources Inc. is a Ascendant Resources Inc. is a 
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company focused on the 
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of the highly prospective Lagoa 
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on the prolific Iberian Pyrite 
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focused exploration and 
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the Company aims to unlock 
the inherent potential of the 
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Y/Y Operational Growth & Improvements

Lowest 
AISC
per ZnEq payable lb in 
Q4 2019;
minesite AISC $1.00
consolidated $1.05consolidated $1.05  

Record 
Grade
of  8.5% ZnEq in 
Q4 2019 with average 
2019 grade of 7.4% ZnEq 
    

Record 
Production
of 29.4 M ZnEq lbs in Q4 
2019 with 2019 production 
of 106.2 M ZnEq lbs; 
up 16% over 2018   

Q/Q Continuous Operational Success

El Mochito Mine, Las Vegas, HONDURAS

2020 Preliminary Economic Assessment Results

163%
in Inferred tonnage 
from 2018-Q3 2019 

125%
in M&I tonnage 
from 2018-Q3 2019 

1st
reporting of Measured 
value in Q1 2019  

Evolution of Mineral Resource Growth

Lagoa Salgada Project, Grândola, PORTUGAL

El Mochito Mine

METALS            zinc, lead, silver

STAGE         prodution

MINING TYPE     underground

LOCATION    las vegas, honduras

Lagoa Salgada Project

METALS            copper, gold , silver, lead, zinc, tin

STAGE         exploration/development

DEPOSIT TYPE    polymetallic VMS

LOCATION    grândola, portugal

2019 HIGHLIGHTS 
& Achievements 



CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
at Ascendant 

      ENVIRONMENT

Minimizing our environmental impact through diligent 
environmental stewardship is a key priority for Ascendant.

Ascendant strives to continually identify and proactively mitigate 
environmental risks in all business aspects in collaboration with 
key stakeholders, communities and regulatory bodies.

Our growth and overall business strategy is dependent on Our growth and overall business strategy is dependent on 
obtaining and maintaining access to environmental resources and 
we are committed to the efficient use of our resources.

      HEALTH & SAFETY

Ascendant holds health and safety in the highest regard and is 
committed to providing a safe and healthy workplace for all 
employees, contractors and suppliers, complying with the 
standards and regulations in all the jurisdictions in which we 
operate.

Our core tenet is that everyone goes home safely at the end of Our core tenet is that everyone goes home safely at the end of 
every shift.

We pledge to foster an inclusive working environment in which 
everyone, regardless of nationality, race, gender or religious belief 
is free from harassment and discrimination.

      GOVERNANCE

Ascendant conducts business in accordance with all applicable 
laws, rules and regulations and high ethical standards.

We continually adhere to good disclosure practices, in accordance 
with applicable legal and regulatory requirements as well as 
industry best practices.

The actions of all Ascendant employees, Officers and Directors The actions of all Ascendant employees, Officers and Directors 
shall, at all times, reflect honesty, transparency, objectivity and the 
highest level of integrity.

      SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

It is our top priority to create tangible long-lasting benefits for all 
our stakeholders, including our employees, government, and the 
local communities in which we operate in.

At all times we seek to act in a manner that respects local At all times we seek to act in a manner that respects local 
communities and supports local culture and identity, while 
building and strengthening collaboration and building 
relationships.

We believe providing a strong community with established 
mutually beneficial partnerships is fundamental to creating a safe, 
sustainable and successful business.
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Ascendant is committed to engaging with all our stakeholders, including employees, 
local communities, contractors, suppliers and shareholders with the highest level of 
respect. Our focus on sustainable and responsible development while maintaining 
and demonstrating safety, environmental and social stewardship is at the core of 
what we do and is vital to our existence, growth and continued development.
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INTRODUCTION 

The following Management’s Discussion & Analysis (“MD&A”) dated May 5, 2020 is a review of the 

operations, current financial position and outlook for Ascendant Resources Inc. (the “Company” or 

“Ascendant”) and should be read in conjunction with the Company’s Consolidated Financial 

Statements for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, and related notes thereto. The 

Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). This MD&A was 

reviewed and approved by the Company’s Audit Committee and Board of Directors on May 5, 2020. 

Additional information relating to the Company, including the Company’s Annual Information Form, 

is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. The Company uses non-IFRS performance measures in the 

MD&A which do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and therefore may not be 

directly comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. The Company provides a 

reconciliation in this MD&A between non-IFRS performance measures and the most closely 

comparable IFRS performance measures.   

 

COMPANY OVERVIEW & BACKGROUND 

 

Ascendant Resources Inc. is a Toronto-based mining company focused on the exploration and 

development of the highly prospective Lagoa Salgada VMS project located on the prolific Iberian Pyrite 

Belt in Portugal. Through focused exploration and aggressive development plans, the Company aims 

to unlock the inherent potential of the project, maximizing value creation for shareholders.  
  
Lagoa Salgada contains over 12.8 million tonnes of Measured & Indicated (“M&I”) Resources and over 

10.3 million tonnes in Inferred Resources and demonstrates typical mineralization characteristics of 

Iberian Pyrite Belt VMS deposits containing zinc, copper, lead, tin, silver and gold. Extensive 

exploration upside potential lies both near deposit and at prospective step-out targets across the 

large 10,700 ha property concession. The project also demonstrates compelling economics with 

scalability for future resource growth in the results of the Preliminary Economic Assessment 

completed in 2020. Located just 80km from Lisbon, Lagoa Salgada is easily accessible by road and 

surrounded by exceptional Infrastructure.  
  
In June 2018, Ascendant acquired an initial 21.25% interest in the Lagoa Salgada volcanogenic massive 

sulphide (“VMS”) Project (“Lagoa Salgada” or the “Lagoa Salgada project”) in Portugal project through 

its 25% position in Redcorp - Empreendimentos Mineiros, Lda, (“Redcorp”), which holds an 85% 

interest in the project, and has an earn-in opportunity to increase its interest in the project to 80%. 

Mineral & Financial Investments Limited owns the additional 75% of Redcorp. The remaining 15% of 

the Lagoa Salgada project is held by Empresa de Desenvolvimento Mineiro, S.A. (EDM), a Portuguese 

Government owned company supporting the strategic development of the country’s mining sector. 

The Company’s interest in the Lagoa Salgada project offers a low-cost entry to a potentially significant 

exploration and development opportunity, already demonstrating its mineable scale.  

 

The 10,700-hectare Project represents a low-cost entry into an early-stage, high-grade, polymetallic 

exploration opportunity in a low risk, established and prolific jurisdiction, and presents significant 

http://www.sedar.com/
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exposure to a known, high-grade VMS deposit that has great exploration potential to expand its 

Mineral Resource Estimate in the near term.  

 

On April 27, 2020, Ascendant completed the sale of its wholly-owned Honduran subsidiary American 

Pacific Honduras S.A. de C.V. (“AMPAC”), which holds 100% of the El Mochito mine, to Kirungu 

Corporation (the “Transaction”). Upon closing of the Transaction, Kirungu acquired 100% of the issued 

and outstanding shares of AMPAC for a purchase price of $1.0 million cash plus an additional $0.1 

million in working capital adjustments and a royalty on zinc sales from the El Mochito mine, subject 

to the future price of zinc, wherein Kirungu will pay Ascendant US$0.0125 per lb of zinc for all sales 

through December 31, 2029 when the price of zinc is in excess of US$1.15 per lb.  

 

The Company's common shares trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol ASND. 
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2019 HIGHLIGHTS  

Three months ended December 31, 2019 

 

Contained metal production for the fourth quarter 2019 (“Q4/19”) was 29.4 million pounds of zinc 

equivalent (“ZnEq”) metal, comprised of 16.5 million pounds of zinc, 7.7 million pounds of lead and 

394k ounces of silver. Total contained metal production for the quarter increased by 27% over the 

fourth quarter 2018 (“Q4/18”) production of 23.2 million pounds of ZnEq metal and 2% over the third 

quarter 2019 (“Q3/19”) production of 28.8 million pounds of ZnEq metal, due to higher zinc (6%) and 

substantially increased lead (11%) and silver grades (17%). 

 

Milled production in Q4/19 of 187 kt demonstrated a marginal improvement over 185 kt in Q4/18 and 

was 7% lower than the 200 kt in Q3/19, predominantly a result of seasonal holidays. 

 

The average head grade in Q4/19 of 8.5% ZnEq for the quarter represents an increase of 22% over 

Q4/18 and a 9% increase over Q3/19. Milled zinc grades for the quarter were 4.6%, up 10% as 

compared to Q4/18 and up 6% as compared to Q3/19. Lead head grades of 2.3% demonstrated an 

increase of 23% over Q4/18 and 11% over the previous quarter. Silver feed grades increased by 17% 

to 81g/t from the 69g/t achieved in previous quarter and was up 5% from 77g/t in Q4/18. The increase 

in silver and lead grades are a direct result of the Company focussing on dilution and improved 

production from various, small high-grade pillars in the upper old part of the mine. 

 

Zinc processing recoveries of 86% in Q4/19 were 2% higher than both the Q3/19 and Q4/18 results. 

Lead recoveries of 80% were marginally down 1% from Q3/19 and up 3% against Q4/18. Overall silver 

recoveries were 81%, a decrease of 2% from Q3/19 but up 6% from Q4/18. The reduced performance 

in lead and silver recovery against Q3/19 was a result of reduced capacity in the float cells due to the 

higher lead head grade in the plant, residence time in these cells being to the low side for the higher-

than-average grade lead.  

 

The Company generated revenues of $19.97 million in Q4/19 as a result of the sale of 24.8 million 

pounds of ZnEq metal, comprised of 13.4 million pounds of payable zinc in concentrates, 6.9 million 

pounds of payable lead in concentrates and 338,884 ounces of payable silver in concentrates. Average 

realized metal prices were $1.08 per pound zinc, $0.95 per pound lead and $17.36 per ounce silver. 

Revenues in Q4/19 were down 7% over Q4/18, and down 9% from Q3/19, as a result of lower metal 

prices for the comparative quarters. On a per tonne basis, the company generated a net smelter 

return (“NSR”) of $107.78 per tonne milled during Q4/19, down 11% from $121.42 per tonne in Q4/18, 

due to the drop in metal prices year over year.  This compares to NSR of $115.68 per tonne milled in 

Q3/19.      

 

Direct operating costs per tonne milled for Q4/19 at El Mochito were $85.63, in line with Q4/18 direct 

operating costs per tonne milled of $85.38, and a 1% decrease compared to Q3/19 direct operating 

costs per tonne milled of $86.52. This was due to reduced capitalized development, which resulted in 

a larger than expected amount of fixed costs being allocated to operating costs. While higher than 

anticipated direct operating costs have persisted, the Company is pleased to demonstrate a small 
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improvement over the previous quarter as we have a strong emphasis on decreasing costs in light of 

energy, labour cost and concentrate treatment charge pressures. Capital expenditures totaled $3.46 

million, or $18.51 per tonne milled in Q4/19, as compared to $3.62 million, or $19.58 per tonne milled, 

in Q4/18.  Capital expenditures totaled $3.25 million, or $16.25 per tonne milled, in Q3/19. 

 

Cash operating cost per zinc equivalent payable pound sold for Q4/19 was $0.61, representing a 

substantial decrease of 27% from $0.83 in Q4/18 and a decrease of 13% from $0.70 in Q3/19. As well 

the All-In Sustaining Cost (”AISC”) for Q4/19 of $1.05 per zinc equivalent payable pound sold, 

demonstrated a 18% decrease from Q4/18 of $1.28 and an decrease of 7% over the previous quarter 

of $1.13. The significant decrease achieved overall in unit costs on a ZnEq payable pound sold basis is 

a direct result of the increase in payable pounds sold given Q4/19 represented the Company’s 

strongest operational quarter yet at El Mochito driven by a significant improvement to the grade 

profile. The Company adopted the AISC reporting metric as the Company believes it more fully defines 

the total costs associated with producing zinc and provides greater transparency for stakeholders 

when assessing operating performance, ability to generate free cash flow from operations and overall 

value. For details on how this figure is calculated, please refer to the Non-IFRS Performance Measures 

sections of this document. 

 

Net income and basic and diluted earnings per share in Q4/19 were $3.59 million and $0.05 and $0.04 

respectively, compared to net loss and basic and diluted loss per share of $3.02 million and $0.04 in 

Q4/18, and $5.21 million and $0.07 respectively in Q3/19. Income from mining operations in Q4/19 

was $3.78 million.  

 

Adjusted EBITDA for the fourth quarter resulted in income of $5.51 million, compared to adjusted 

EBITDA loss of $0.12 million in Q4/18, and income in Q3/19 of $0.36 million.  

 

Year Ended December 31, 2019 

 

Contained metal production for the full year 2019 was 106.2 million pounds of ZnEq metal, in-line with 

the Company’s production guidance. This was comprised of 64.4 million pounds of zinc, 27.1 million 

pounds of lead and 1.4 million ounces of silver. Overall production represents a 16% increase over 

2018 contained metal production of 91.4 million pounds of ZnEq. 

 

Milled production for 2019 of 775k tonnes demonstrated a marginal improvement over 756k tonnes 

milled in 2018.  

 

For the year ended December 31, 2019, average recoveries were 85.2% zinc, 80.4% lead and 81.2% 

silver. Average head grades for the year were 4.4% zinc, 2.0% lead and 70 g/t silver resulting in a ZnEq 

grade of 7.4% representing a 14% increase over the 6.5% ZnEq grade achieved in 2018 due in large 

part to the substantial continuous improvement in silver grades resulting from the increased 

extraction of ore from the small high-grade pillars in the upper historical part of the mine.  

 

Revenue for the full year 2019 was $77.82 million, a decrease of 9% over revenue of $85.62 million in 

2018. This is due to the lower year over year average realized metal prices for both zinc and lead as 
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the average zinc price of $1.15/lb was 12% lower than $1.31 in 2018 and the average lead price of 

$0.92/lb was 8% lower than the $1.00 realized in 2018.  NSR per tonne milled was $95.73 in 2019, 

which was 16% lower than the $113.60 achieved in 2018, due to significantly lower metal prices.   

 

Costs on a per ZnEq pound basis for the year showed improvements as a result of higher grades 

mined during the year resulting in increased contained metal production. Cash operating cost per 

ZnEq payable pound sold was $0.70, a decrease of 11% from $0.79 per pound in 2018. The AISC on a 

consolidated basis for the year was $1.21 per ZnEq payable pound sold, down 8%% from $1.31 in 

2018. For details on how this figure is calculated, please refer to the Non-IFRS Performance Measures 

sections of this document. 
 

Direct operating costs per tonne milled for 2019 at El Mochito averaged $83.62, a 6% increase from 

the average of $78.98 in 2018. Heading into 2019, the Company worked to offset input cost pressures 

resulting from the previously disclosed 15% increase in national power rates imposed in September 

2018 as well as the 6% increase in labour costs that took place in October 2018. However, with the 

increased portion of labour intensive conventional mining required to mine the higher grade chimney 

ore in the upper portion of the mine combined with lower capital expenditure on underground 

development for the year, resulting in a higher portion of fixed costs being allocated to operating 

costs, average direct operating costs for the year were high than anticipated. Capital expenditures 

totaled $15.65 million, or $20.17 per tonne milled in 2019, as compared to $21.94 million, or $29.02 

per tonne milled, in 2018.   

 

The net loss for 2019 was $8.21 million, or a basic and diluted loss per share of $0.11 per share, 

compared to net income of $3.00 million or a basic and diluted earnings per share of $0.04 for the full 

year 2018. Income from mining operations was $5.59 million compared to $11.46 million in 2018.  

 

Adjusted EBITDA for 2019 totaled $7.82 million, compared to a loss in 2018 of $13.49 million. The cash 

balance exiting 2019 was $1.68 million.  
 

El Mochito Mine Expansion and Optimization 

 

In February 2019, the Company announced the receipt of a $35 million indicative term sheet from 

Overseas Private Investment Corporation (“OPIC”), now named the U.S. International Development 

Finance Corporation (“DFC”), for project loan financing for the expansion and optimization of the El 

Mochito mine. Throughout the year the Company also engaged in negotiations with additional 

international lenders for the project financing. Discussions with DFC have reaccelerated subsequent 

to the U.S. administration’s resumption of aid to the Northern Triangle countries which include 

Honduras.   

 

The Preliminary Economic Assessment (“PEA”) for the expansion of the El Mochito mine announced in 

December 2018 and prepared in accordance with National Instrument 43-101 outlines a substantial 

Internal rate of return and a robust after-tax incremental project NPV with a rapid payback period of 

just under two years. The PEA further presents a robust and compelling opportunity for the Company 

to position El Mochito as a long-term profitable operation as this project presents a significant 



ASCENDANT RESOURCES INC. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(Expressed in US dollars, except otherwise noted) 

 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis For The Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 | Page 7 

 

opportunity to bring the AISC at El Mochito down substantially within two years after the 

commencement of construction. The PEA assumes a mine life of 10 years inclusive of Inferred Mineral 

Resources, notably excluding any additional Mineral Resources added from the 2018 exploration 

program.  

 

Lagoa Salgada Project  

 

In 2019, the Company continued with its efforts to grow and advance the Lagoa Salgada project 

located on the Iberian Pyrite Belt in Portugal. Following the successful Mineral Resource Estimate 

announced on February 13, 2019, the Company executed on its second exploration program at Lagoa 

Salgada, since acquisition of an interest in the project.  

 

The 2019 exploration program included a diamond drill program consisting of 24 holes totaling 8,164 

metres, a grounded Induced Polarization (“IP”) survey covering the 8km gravity anomaly identified in 

the 2018 program and selected borehole IP. Drilling primarily focused on infill drilling in the North 

Zone to increase the confidence in the grade and tonnage, while four holes were allocated to test the 

strong IP chargeability anomaly in the Central and South Zones.  

 

Drill hole highlights from the 2019 drill program include (true thickness): 

 

Gossan  

• LS_MS_26- 9.1m at 0.16% Cu, 9.79% Pb, 1.13% Zn, 2.54g/t Au, 37.64g/t Ag and 0.39% Sn (16.52% ZnEq) 

• LS_MS_30- 13.4m at 0.06% Cu, 5.99% Pb, 0.33% Zn, 3.95g/t Au, 16.56g/t Ag and 0.61% Sn (13.19% ZnEq) 

 

Massive Sulphide  

• LS_MS_33- 24.9m at 0.42% Cu, 6.56% Pb, 5.76% Zn, 1.17g/t Au, 184.84g/t Ag and 0.23% Sn (21.09%ZnEq) 

• LS_MS_36- 20.3m at 0.23% Cu, 6.14% Pb, 9.76% Zn, 1.42g/t Au, 104.65g/t Ag and 0.19% Sn (22.61% ZnEq) 

• LS_MS_35- 37.6m at 0.25% Cu, 4.10% Pb, 6.87% Zn, 1.19g/t Au, 99.42g/t Ag and 0.17% Sn (17.21% ZnEq) 

• LS_MS_22- 60.1m at 0.46% Cu, 2.91% Pb, 3.70% Zn, 0.77g/t Au, 81.04g/t Ag and 0.11% Sn (11.62% ZnEq) 

• LS_MS_25- 19.6m at 0.21% Cu, 5.23% Pb, 5.76% Zn, 1.29g/t Au, 137.32g/t Ag and 0.23% Sn (18.32% ZnEq) 

• LS_MS_39- 36.2m at 0.39% Cu, 6.26% Pb, 7.30% Zn, 1.37g/t Au, 165.63g/t Ag and 0.20% Sn (21.90% ZnEq) 

• LS_MS_38- 35.2m at 0.19% Cu, 2.28% Pb, 4.01% Zn, 0.70g/t Au, 47.98g/t Ag and 0.13% Sn (9.84% ZnEq) 

 

Stockwork 

• LS_ST_16- 130.6m at 0.32% Cu, 0.82% Pb, 1.50% Zn, 0.04g/t Au, 12.89g/t Ag and 0.01% Sn (1.33% CuEq) 

• Including- 26.7m at 0.58% Cu, 1.13% Pb, 2.66% Zn, 0.03g/t Au, 24.78g/t Ag and 0.01% Sn (2.24% CuEq)   

 

Overall, the drill program at Lagoa Salgada was modest, yet identified significant high-grade 

mineralization, indicating the extension the North Zone in particular. This success led the company to 

complete an updated Mineral Resource Estimate for Lagoa Salgada, which the company announced 

on September 25, 2019.  

 

The update Mineral Resource Estimate was prepared in accordance with Canadian National 

Instrument 43-101 with an effective date of September 5, 2019 and was successful in significantly 
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upgrading the resources at Lagoa Salgada. Results demonstrated material growth in the North Zone 

(the main massive sulphide) with the conversion of significant resources into the Measured & 

Indicated category. To date the North Zone has been delineated by less than a total of 76 holes. 

 

Highlights from the Mineral Resource Estimate are as follows: 

   • North Zone: Measured Mineral Resources increased by 57% to 2.8 Mt at 10.7% ZnEq1. 

   • North Zone: Measured & Indicated Mineral Resources increased by 71% to 10.3 Mt at 9.1% ZnEq:  

o 170% increase in the precious metal rich gossan zone to 1.7 Mt at 4.6g/t AuEq2. 

   • Global NI 43-101Measured and Indicated Resources of 12.8 million tonnes and Inferred Resources   

     of 10.3 million tonnes.  

   • Drilling in the Central and South Zones identified Copper rich sulphide mineralization. The new     

     resources in these zones are reported in Copper equivalent grades. Future drill programs will focus    

     on expanding and upgrading the strong potential anticipated in these zones. 
1 ZnEq% = ((Zn Grade*25.35)+(Pb Grade*23.15)+(Cu Grade*67.24)+(Au Grade*40.19)+(Ag Grade*0.62) )+(Sn 

  Grade*191.75))/25.35 
2 AuEq(g/t) = ((Zn Grade*25.35)+(Pb Grade*23.15)+(Cu Grade*67.24)+(Au Grade*40.19)+(Ag Grade*0.62) )+(Sn 

  Grade*191.75))/40.19 

 

A summary of the updated Mineral Resource Estimate is set out in the table below: 
 

Lagoa Salgada  Mineral Resource Estimate - Effective September 5, 2019 

 

North Zone Mineral Resource Estimate 
        

 
Average Grade Contained Metal 

Deposit Category Min Cut-off Tonnes Cu Zn Pb Sn Ag Au ZnEq AuEq Cu Zn Pb Sn Ag Au 

    Zones ZnEq% (kt) (%) (%) (%) (%) (g/t) (g/t) (%) (g/t) (kt) (kt) (kt) (kt) (koz) (koz) 

North  Measured(M) GO 2.5 

               

234  

      

0.13  

      

0.70  

      

4.32  

      

0.36  51 

      

1.50  

    

11.38  

      

7.18  

        

0.3  

         

1.6  

       

10.1  

      

0.9  

           

385.2  

      

11.3  

  Indicated(I) GO 2.5 

           

1,462  

      

0.08  

      

0.43  

      

2.55  

      

0.26  37 

      

0.51  

      

6.63  

      

4.18  

        

1.2  

         

6.2  

       

37.3  

      

3.8  

        

1,742.1  

      

23.8  

  M & I GO 2.5 

           

1,696  

      

0.09  

      

0.47  

      

2.79  

      

0.27  39 

      

0.64  

      

7.28  

      

4.60  

        

1.5  

         

7.9  

       

47.4  

      

4.6  

        

2,127.2  

      

35.1  

  Inferred GO 2.5 

               

831  

      

0.08  

      

0.48  

      

2.62  

      

0.17  27 

      

0.37  

      

5.66  

      

3.57  

        

0.7  

         

4.0  

       

21.8  

      

1.4  

           

727.6  

        

9.9  

  Measured(M) MS 3.0 

           

2,444  

      

0.40  

      

3.12  

      

2.97  

      

0.15  72 

      

0.74  

    

10.95  

      

6.91  

        

9.7  

       

76.3  

       

72.5  

      

3.7  

        

5,623.9  

      

58.4  

  Indicated(I) MS 3.0 

           

5,457  

      

0.45  

      

2.35  

      

2.30  

      

0.13  75 

      

0.67  

      

9.55  

      

6.03  

      

24.5  

     

128.1  

     

125.6  

      

7.3  

      

13,221.5  

    

116.9  

  M & I MS 3.0 

           

7,902  

      

0.43  

      

2.59  

      

2.51  

      

0.14  74 

      

0.69  

      

9.98  

      

6.30  

      

34.2  

     

204.4  

     

198.1  

    

10.9  

      

18,845.5  

    

175.2  
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  Inferred MS 3.0 

           

1,529  

      

0.23  

      

1.96  

      

1.32  

      

0.09  45 

      

0.49  

      

6.36  

      

4.01  

        

3.6  

       

30.0  

       

20.2  

      

1.4  

        

2,219.7  

      

24.0  

  Measured(M) Str 2.5 

                 

94  

      

0.37  

      

0.88  

      

0.28  

      

0.05  17 

      

0.12  

      

3.08  

      

1.94  

        

0.3  

         

0.8  

         

0.3  

      

0.0  

             

51.0  

        

0.4  

  Indicated(I) Str 2.5 

               

643  

      

0.34  

      

0.90  

      

0.23  

      

0.09  17 

      

0.06  

      

3.23  

      

2.04  

        

2.2  

         

5.8  

         

1.5  

      

0.6  

           

354.0  

        

1.3  

  M & I Str 2.5 

               

737  

      

0.34  

      

0.90  

      

0.24  

      

0.09  17 

      

0.07  

      

3.21  

      

2.03  

        

2.5  

         

6.6  

         

1.7  

      

0.6  

           

405.0  

        

1.7  

  Inferred  Str 2.5 

               

142  

      

0.24  

      

1.12  

      

0.39  

      

0.04  17 

      

0.09  

      

2.95  

      

1.86  

        

0.3  

         

1.6  

         

0.6  

      

0.1  

             

75.6  

        

0.4  

North M & I 

All 

zones 2.9 

         

10,334  

      

0.37  

      

2.12  

      

2.39  

      

0.16  64 

      

0.64  

      

9.06  

      

5.72  

      

38.2  

     

219.0  

     

247.2  

    

16.2  

      

21,377.7  

    

212.0  

North Inferred  

All 

zones 2.8 

           

2,502  

      

0.18  

      

1.42  

      

1.70  

      

0.12  38 

      

0.43  

      

5.93  

      

3.74  

        

4.6  

       

35.6  

       

42.6  

      

2.9  

        

3,022.8  

      

34.3  

 

Central and South Zones Mineral Resource Estimate 
        

 
Average Grade Contained Metal 

Deposit Category Min Cut-off Tonnes Cu Zn Pb Sn Ag Au CuEq   Cu Zn Pb Sn Ag Au 

    Zones CuEq% (kt) (%) (%) (%) (%) (g/t) (g/t) (%) 
 

(kt) (kt) (kt) (kt) (koz) (koz) 

Central Inferred Str 0.9 1,707 0.15 0.16 0.06 0 12 2.22 1.66   

        

2.5  

         

2.7  

         

1.0          -    

           

635.2  

    

121.9  

South Measured(M) Str/Fr 0.9 0 — — — — — — — 
 

            

  Indicated(I) Str/Fr 0.9 2,473 0.47 1.53 0.83 0.00 19 0.06 1.54   11.5 37.9 20.6 0.0 1,484.7 4.7 

South M & I Str/Fr 0.9 2,473 0.47 1.53 0.83 0.00 19 0.06 1.54   11.5 37.9 20.6 0.0 1,484.7 4.7 

South Inferred Str/Fr 0.9 6,085 0.40 1.34 0.80 0.00 17 0.05 1.37   24.6 81.6 48.7 0.0 3,285.2 10.0 

 
Notes to tables: 
(1) Min(eralized) Zones: GO=Gossan, MS=Massive Sulphide, Str=Stringer, Str/Fr=Stockwork 
(2) ZnEq% = ((Zn Grade*25.35)+(Pb Grade*23.15)+(Cu Grade*67.24)+(Au Grade*40.19)+(Ag Grade*0.62)+(Sn Grade*191.75))/25.35 
(3) CuEq% = ((Zn Grade*25.35)+(Pb Grade*23.15)+(Cu Grade * 67.24)+(Au Grade*40.19)+(Ag Grade*0.62))/67.24 
(4) AuEq(g/t) = ((Zn Grade*25.35)+(Pb Grade*23.15)+(Cu Grade * 67.24)+(Au Grade*40.19)+(Ag Grade*0.62) )+(Sn Grade * 191.75))/40.19 
(5) Metal Prices: Cu $6,724/t, Zn $2,535/t, Pb $2,315/t, Au $1,250/oz, Ag $19.40/oz, Sn $19,175/t 
(6) Densities: GO=3.12, MS=4.76, Str=2.88, Str/Fr=2.88 

 

Based on the significant results of the updated Mineral Resource Estimate, the Company completed 

a PEA for the Lagoa Salgada project based on the North Zone only. While the work was completed in 

2019, the results of the PEA were announced subsequent to the year’s end, on January 14, 2020.   

 

The Technical Report entitled, “Technical Report and PEA for the Lagoa Salgada Property, Setúbal 

District, Portugal”, supporting the robust results from the maiden Preliminary Economic Assessment 
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(“PEA”) for the North Zone at the Lagoa Salgada VMS project was prepared in accordance with 

Canadian National Instrument 43-101 (“NI 43-101”) with an effective date of December 19, 2019.  

 

The report outlines a robust and compelling economic assessment for Lagoa Salgada as it assumes a 

two-stage underground mining development scenario, with single trackless ramp access, transverse 

sub-level open stoping method with pastefill. Ventilation and secondary escape ways are planned 

through raise-bored holes to surface. Milling rates of 2,700 tonnes per day in a standard process 

circuit is anticipated, with primary crushing, grinding, flotation and leaching of tailings to produce 

concentrates including lead, zinc, copper and tin, as well as gold and silver doré. There is ample 

opportunity for extensive expansion from future exploration work to define additional resources to 

extend the mine life or increase the scale of the outlined operation. 

 

Highlights from the PEA for the North Zone include: 

• After-tax IRR of 31% and NPV8% of $106M (C$139M @$1.31CAD/USD) 

• Nine-year mine life with production scenario of 2,700 tpd  

• Average annual EBITDA of $54.2 million 

• Four-year payback period of initial Capex of $162.7 million  

• Average operating costs of $49.43/t milled represents low cost production scenario 

• Low average annual cash costs of $0.44/lb ZnEq and average annual All-In Sustaining Cost 

(AISC) of $0.66/lb ZnEq 
 

• Significant upside opportunities remain with near-resource exploration targets identified with 

multiple deposits open laterally and at depth, and broader targets untested 
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Highlights of the key project metrics are provided in the following table on a 100% basis: 

 

 

PEA Key Highlights   

Project IRR pre-tax 37% 

NPV8% pre-tax $137 million 

Project IRR after-tax 31% 

NPV8% after-tax $106 million 

Life of mine pre-tax cash flow  $ 250 million 

Life of mine after-tax cash flow  $ 202 million 

Construction period 2 years 

Payback period  4 years 

Life of mine  9 years 

Average Annual Production 1.0 million tonnes 

Initial Capital Expenditure $ 162.7 million 

LOM Sustaining Capital Expenditure & Closure  $ 20.2 million 

Average annual operating costs  $ 49.43 /t milled 

Average Annual operating costs (C1) $0.44 /lb ZnEq 

Average annual All-In Sustaining Costs (AISC) $0.66 /lb ZnEq 

Metal Price Assumptions1  

Zinc $1.20/lb 

Lead $1.05/lb 

Copper $2.70/lb 

Silver $18/oz 

Gold $1,400/oz 

Tin $7.50/lb 

Recovery Assumptions  Massive Sulphide 

Zn 80% 

Pb     65% 

Cu 25% 

Ag 75% 

Au 75% 

Sn 30% 

Recovery Assumptions  Gossan 

Pb 65% 

Sn 40% 

Ag 66% 

Au 86% 

Average Annual Metal Production   

Zn 12.5kt 

Pb 13.7kt 
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Cu 0.2kt 

Ag 1.1Moz 

Au 13koz 

Sn 0.3kt 
Notes to Table: 
1 The project economics have been calculated using consensus prices at the time of the Resource Estimate report in September 

2019. 

 

The PEA was prepared by AMC Mining Consultants (Canada) Ltd (AMC) with contributions from 

Resource Development Inc (RDI) for Mineral Processing and Micon International Limited (Micon), who 

estimated the Mineral Resources. 

 

The PEA is preliminary in nature, as it includes Inferred Mineral Resources that are considered too 

speculative geologically to have the economic considerations applied to them that would enable them 

to be categorized as Mineral Reserves, and there is no certainty that the preliminary economic 

assessment will be realized. 

 

The Technical Report is available for review under the Company’s profile on SEDAR and on the 

Company’s website.  

 

Other Corporate Highlights 

 

On February 2019, the Company entered into an advance sales transaction pursuant to which, the 

Company received advanced consideration of $4.0 million in exchange for future quarterly physical 

deliveries of zinc and lead concentrates from the Company’s El Mochito mine production to the 

counterparty. The advanced consideration is accounted for as a financial liability to be repaid, as zinc 

and lead concentrates are delivered to the counterparty. The facility may be immediately renewable 

upon settlement of the quarterly delivery of zinc and lead concentrate. During the year, the Company 

repaid the $4.0 million facility and increased the facility to $10.0 million. 

 

At December 31, 2019, the Company had drawn down a total $28.5 million and repaid a total $18.5 

million under the revised revolving prepayment facility. As at December 31, 2019 the $10.0 million 

balance bears interest at the rate of 3 Month LIBOR + 5.50% until repaid. Refer to Note 11 of the 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

On March 28, 2019, the Company entered into the Silver Stream Arrangement with Maverix Metals 

Inc. (“Maverix”) whereby the Company received an Initial Advance Payment of $7.5 million against 

delivery of 22.5% of payable silver over the remainder of El Mochito’s mine life (the “Silver Stream 

Agreement”). Refer to Note 12 of the consolidated financial statements. 
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KEY OPERATING INFORMATION AND FINANCIAL CONDITION 

 

The following table is a summary of the Company’s key production and operating statistics for the 

three months and years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 at the El Mochito mine. 

 

  
  

Key Operating Information

2019 2018 2019 2018

Total Tonnes Mined tonnes 191,579               187,533               794,690               758,067                            

Total Tonnes Milled tonnes 186,987               184,913               775,559               756,034                            

Average Head Grades

Average Zn grade % 4.6% 4.2% 4.4% 4.3%

Average Pb grade % 2.3% 1.9% 2.0% 1.7%

Average Silver grade g/t 81                          77                          70                          54                                       

ZnEq Head grade (1) % 8.5% 7.0% 7.4% 6.5%

Average Recoveries

Zinc % 86.0% 84.1% 85.2% 88.0%

Lead % 79.9% 77.6% 80.4% 77.8%

Silver % 81.1% 76.6% 81.2% 77.9%

Contained Metal Production

Zinc 000's lbs 16,450                  14,435                  64,426                  62,658                              

Lead 000's lbs 7,730                    6,023                    27,134                  21,810                              

Silver ozs 393,902               347,251               1,401,141            1,001,514                        

ZnEq (1) 000's lbs 29,360                  23,173                  106,202               91,429                              

Payable Production

Zinc 0.85 000's lbs 13,982                  12,270                  54,762                  53,259                              

Lead 0.95 000's lbs 7,344                    5,722                    25,777                  20,719                              

Silver 0.7 ozs 275,731               243,076               980,798               701,060                            

ZnEq (1) 000's lbs 24,956                  19,697                  90,271                  77,715                              

Payable Metal Sold

Zinc 000's lbs 13,399                  14,636                  53,274                  55,427                              

Lead 000's lbs 6,962                    5,231                    24,493                  22,466                              

Silver ozs 338,884               243,413               1,201,601            782,960                            

ZnEq (1) 000's lbs 24,796                  21,511                  90,158                  81,871                              

Average Realized Metal Price

Zinc $/lb $1.08 $1.18 $1.15 $1.31

Lead $/lb $0.95 $0.89 $0.92 $1.00

Silver $/oz $17.36 $14.51 $16.20 $15.34

Cash operating cost per ZnEq payable lb sold (2) $/ZnEq lb $0.61 $0.83 $0.70 $0.79

AISC per ZnEq payable lb sold - El Mochito (2) $/ZnEq lb $1.00 $1.22 $1.14 $1.23

AISC per ZnEq payable lb sold - Consolidated (2) $/ZnEq lb $1.05 $1.28 $1.21 $1.31

Direct operating cost per tonne milled (excl. CAPEX) (2) $/tonne $85.63 $85.38 $83.62 $78.98

(1) Assumes average spot metal prices for the period.

(2) This is a non-IFRS performance measure, see Non-IFRS Performance Measures 

section of the MD&A.

Three months ended Year ended

December 31, December 31,
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Production of zinc and lead concentrate is trucked daily from the El Mochito mine to the port of Puerto 

Cortes where zinc and lead concentrates are stored until sufficient inventory is available for shipment. 

The Company recognizes revenue from provisional invoicing once the concentrate has been loaded 

or segregated on the vessel, all the performance obligations have been fulfilled and control is 

transferred to the customer. Final metal pricing occurs according to the quotational period stated in 

the offtake agreement and changes in metal prices during the quotational period may have a 

significant impact on the financial results of the Company. 

 

Given the Company’s revenue recognition policy and shipment schedule, the dry metric tonne (“DMT”) 

concentrate produced in any given quarter may not be immediately reflected in its revenue. The 

timing difference between DMT concentrate produced and revenue recognized tends to decrease 

significantly when viewed on a yearly basis. In Q4/19, the Company produced 15,514 DMT of zinc 

concentrates and 5,363 DMT of lead concentrate and sold 14,187 DMT of zinc concentrate and 5,057 

DMT of lead concentrate.  

Financial

2019 2018 2019 2018

Total revenue $000's                    19,968                    21,564                    77,816                                 85,618 

Mine operating expenses $000's                    16,184                    22,009                    72,222                                 74,162 

Income (loss) from mining operations $000's                       3,784                         (444)                       5,594                                 11,456 

Net income (loss) $000's                       3,591                     (3,020)                     (8,209)                                   3,005 

Adjusted EBITDA (2) $000's                       5,511                         (115)                       7,822                                 13,492 

Operating cash flow before movements in working capital (2) $000's                       5,530                         (122)                    11,657                                 10,868 

Operating cash flow $000's                          300                         (273)                       7,731                                 16,276 

Cash and cash equivalents $000's                       1,684                       3,808                       1,684                                   3,808 

Working capital surplus (deficiency) $000's                   (17,054)                     (7,109)                   (17,054)                                  (7,109)

Capital Expenditures $000's                       3,461                       3,620                    15,646                                 21,943 

(1) Assumes average spot metal prices for the period.

(2) This is a non-IFRS performance measure, see Non-IFRS Performance Measures 

section of the MD&A.

Year endedThree months ended

December 31,December 31,
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OUTLOOK 

 

2019 was a strong operational year for Ascendant as the El Mochito mine ended the year 

demonstrating its 12th consecutive quarter of ZnEq metal production growth and achieved record 

quarterly head grades of 8.5% ZnEq since the Company’s acquisition of the mine. The Company’s 

financial performance was affected by the tumultuous metals market persisting throughout much of 

2019, placing downward pressure on zinc prices particularly in the second half of the year. Also 

contributing were the high treatment and refining charges as well as costs pressures at the mine site.  

 

Since the acquisition in December 2016, Ascendant has dedicated significant capital and resources to 

the operations at El Mochito. While the mine has seen continual growth and record production quarter 

over quarter, as demonstrated by fourth quarter and full year 2019 operating results, it did not meet 

the Company’s profitability objectives and continued to require additional considerable financial 

investment. It is for this reason the Company made the strategic decision to divest of the El Mochito 

mine through a sale transaction as announced in the Company’s press release dated April 17, 2020 

and subsequently completed on April 27, 2020. The Company received a cash consideration of $1.0 

million and an additional $0.1 million in working capital adjustments, as well as a royalty on zinc sales 

from the El Mochito mine subject to the future price of zinc, wherein Ascendant will receive US$0.0125 

per lb of zinc for all sales through December 31, 2029 when the price of zinc is in excess of US$1.15 

per lb. The sale effectively eliminated the Company’s direct AMPAC expenses, liabilities and 

obligations, estimated at approximately $20-25 million, providing for an immediate strengthening of 

the Company’s financial position.  

 

With the sale of El Mochito completed, Ascendant is now able to focus on its highly attractive, high-

grade Lagoa Salgada VMS project located on the prolific Iberian Pyrite Belt in Portugal and devote the 

desired resources to a project that the Company believes will be a significant driver of growth and 

value. For 2020, the Company remains focused on mining high-grade material to maintain and drive 

elevated metal production levels achieved in the second half of 2019. The Company is assessing 

operations as the current market situation develops and will provide a more detailed update on 2020 

expectations in the future. 

 

In 2020, planned exploration work at Lagoa Salgada will include downhole IP and drilling aimed at 

expanding and upgrading the copper-rich resource in the Central and South Zones with additional  

drilling of the southern extension of the high-grade massive sulphide mineralization of the North Zone 

expected to expand the Indicated Mineral Resources. The program also includes four metallurgical 

drill holes for further metallurgical testing. All zones remain open along strike and at depth and from 

the extensive ongoing gravimetric work conducted on the LS West region, there is strong indication 

mineralization extends in all directions providing confidence in the potential growth potential.  

 

Based on results from the 2020 drill program at Lagoa Salgada, the Company plans to complete an 

updated Mineral Resource Estimate in the later half of the year which be used as a basis for a 

Feasibility Study to begin thereafter.  
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The results of the PEA for Lagoa Salgada, announced on January 14, 2020, highlight the robust 

potential of the project and outlines a compelling case for the future growth potential of the project. 

Management expects Lagoa Salgada to be an important value driver for the Company going forward 

as we seek to rapidly develop the Project towards its mineable potential. The Company is actively 

engaged with potential strategic and financial partners for funding the advancement and 

development of the Lagoa Salgada property. 
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SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 

The following table sets forth selected annual information extracted from the Company’s audited 

Consolidated Financial Statements for the years and period noted: 

 

The Company recognized $77.82 million in revenue and $77.22 million in mine operating expenses as 

compared to $85.62 million and $74.16 million respectively in 2018. The decrease in revenue and 

increase in mine operating expenses resulting in net loss for the year of ($8.21) million is mainly 

attributed to decreasing metal prices, and rising costs of production. 

The net income of $3.0 million for 2018 was mainly the result of 2018 being the first full year of 

normalized operations at El Mochito since the Company acquired the mine in December 2016. The 

net loss for 2017 of $12.06 million was the result of high mining production costs incurred in the first 

half of fiscal 2017, as the Company focused on turning around the El Mochito mine, and higher general 

and administrative expenses. The loss of $2.43 million in the short year ended December 31, 2016 is 

attributable to general and administrative expenses incurred of $1.60 million, which included $1.38 

million in management consulting fees, and other expense items of $0.82 million, which included 

$0.38 million incurred in transaction costs in connection with the acquisition of AMPAC. 

Total assets increased in 2019, 2018 and 2017 due primarily to acquisition of property, plant and 

equipment, including continued underground capitalized development at the El Mochito mine.  

Non-current financial liabilities increased in 2019 due mainly to non-current portion of $7.5 million 

silver stream since March 2019, and an increase in the provision for future termination payments, 

largely a result of the transfer of the remaining employees from a third-party contractor into AMPAC’s 

payroll and severance plan. Non-current financial liabilities decreased in 2018 due mainly to a 

remeasurement of termination obligations by $1.60 million, a reduction in environmental 

rehabilitation provision by $2.79 million, and a gain on settlement of amounts payable to Nyrstar of 

$1.45 million.   

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, 

2019 2018 2017
Revenue 000's $                    77,816                    85,618                    59,199 
Mine operating expenses 000's $                    72,222                    74,162                    59,248 
General and administrative expenses 000's $                       5,062                       5,984                       7,405 
Other expense 000's $                       8,743                          804                       3,445 
Income (loss) for the year 000's $                     (8,211)                       3,005                   (12,057)
Income (loss) per share - basic $/share                       (0.11)                         0.04                       (0.18)
Income (loss) per share - diluted $/share                       (0.11)                         0.04                       (0.18)
Total assets 000's $                    75,424                    66,071                    51,957 
Non-current financial liabilities 000's $                    24,035                    15,536                    19,419 
Cash dividends declared 000's $                              -                                -                                -   
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DISCUSSION OF OPERATIONS 

The variation in the nature of the comparative periods must be considered in evaluating the financial 

information noted below.  

 

Three months ended December 31, 2019 versus the three months ended December 31, 2018 

 

Contained metal production was up 27% to 29.4 million (Q4/18 – 23.2 million) ZnEq lbs using average 

realized metal prices during the three months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 respectively. 

 

Revenue of $19.97 million (Q4/18 - $21.56 million) resulted from the sale of 13.4 million (Q4/18 – 14.6 

million) pounds of zinc in concentrates, and 6.9 million (Q4/18 – 5.2 million) pounds of lead in 

concentrates. Average realized metal prices in USD were $1.08 per pound zinc (Q4/18 – $1.18), $0.95 

per pound zinc (Q4/18 - $0.89) and $17.36 per ounce silver (Q4/18 - $14.51). During the quarter, the 

Company produced 24.9 million (Q4/18 – 19.7 million) zinc equivalent payable lbs and sold 24.8 million 

(Q4/18 - 21.5 million) zinc equivalent payable lbs.  

 

Revenue from the sale of concentrate decreased by 7% during the fourth quarter, compared against 

the fourth quarter of 2019 due to a decline in average spot prices resulting in a provisional pricing 

adjustment on concentrate sales during the quarter.  

 

Total mine operating expenses of $16.18 million (Q4/18 - $22.01 million) related to the sale of 

concentrate, resulted in direct operating costs for the quarter of $85.63 per tonne milled (Q4/18 

$85.38). See Non-IFRS measures at the end of this MD&A. 

 

While the Company’s milled production during the three months ended December 31, 2019 was 1% 

higher (186,987 tonnes vs 184,913 tonnes), the ZnEq head grade increased 21% from 7.0% to 8.5%. 

The higher total operating costs partially offset by higher tonnes milled resulted in a 1% increased 

unit cost per tonne over the same period in the prior year.  

 

During the three months ended December 31, 2019, the Company incurred general and 

administrative expenses of $0.22 million (Q4/18 – $1.18 million) before non-cash share-based 

compensation of $0.02 million (Q4/18 - $0.15 million). The overall decrease in general and 

administrative expenses is due primarily to a reduction in accrued bonuses, offset by an increase in 

consulting fees during the quarter which totals $0.19 million (Q4/18 - $0.01 million) related to 

financing activities. 

 

During the three months ended December 31, 2019 the Company recorded loss from other items of 

$0.86 million (Q4/18 – loss of $0.30 million), primarily due to an increase in finance costs which totals 

$0.81 million (Q4/18 - $0.25 million), which includes finance costs on deferred revenue from silver 

stream of $0.60 million (Q4/18 - $Nil).  

 

During the three months ended December 31, 2019, the Company reported net income of $3.59 

million, or $0.05 basic and $0.04 diluted earnings per share, compared to a net loss of $3.02 million, 
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or $0.04 basic and diluted loss per share in the comparative quarter in 2018. Income from mining 

operations was $3.78 million during the fourth quarter of 2019 compared to net loss of $0.44 million 

in the fourth quarter of 2018. 

 

Also, current tax recovery of $0.90 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2019 as compared to 

current tax expense of $0.95 million in Q4/18.  

 

Year ended December 31, 2019 versus the year ended December 31, 2018 

 

Contained metal production for 2019 was 106.2 million ZnEq lbs compared to 91.4 million ZnEq lbs in 

2018 using average realized metal prices during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 

respectively.  

 

Revenues of $77.82 million (2018 - $85.62 million) resulted from the sale of 53.3 (2018 – 55.4) million 

pounds of zinc in concentrates, and 24.5 million (2018 – 22.5 million) pounds of lead in concentrates. 

Average realized metal prices were $1.15 (2018 – $1.31) per pound zinc, $0.92 (2018 - $1.00) per pound 

lead and $16.20 (2018 - $15.34) per ounce silver. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the 

Company produced 90.3 million (2018 – 77.7 million) zinc equivalent payable lbs and sold 90.2 million 

(2018 - 81.9 million) zinc equivalent payable lbs.  

 

Revenue from the sale of concentrate decreased by 9% during the year ended December 31, 2019, 

compared against the year ended December 31, 2018.  

 

Total mine operating expenses of $72.22 million (2018 - $74.16 million) related to the sale of 

concentrate. Costs consisted of direct site production costs of $40.34 million (2018 - $38.33 million) 

related to mining, processing costs of $13.14 million (2018 - $12.13 million), selling, general and 

administration of $11.09 million (2018 – $9.97) million, and government taxes and royalty expense 

were $2.01 million (2018 – $4.38) million. The Company also recorded $7.20 million (2018 - $4.71) 

million of depreciation and amortization. The Company’s direct operating cost for year ended 

December 31, 2019 was $83.62 (2018 - $78.98) per tonne milled (see Non-IFRS measures at the end 

of this MD&A). 

 

The Company’s production during the year ended December 31, 2019, increased over the same period 

in the prior year largely due to the productivity improvements as disclosed above. Although cash 

operating costs in 2019 were lower than the previous year as a result of higher grades mined, 

operating costs per tonne were higher than anticipated due to the increased portion of labour 

intensive conventional mining, combined with lower capital expenditure on underground 

development for the year. In 2020, the Company plans to further improve on milled volumes at higher 

grades which will further reduce unit costs. 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company incurred general and administrative 

expenses of $4.74 million (2018 – $4.96 million) before non-cash share-based compensation of $0.32 

million (2018 - $1.02 million). The overall decrease in general and administrative expenses is due 

primarily to a reduction in accrued bonuses, offset by an increase in consulting and professional fees, 
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which totals $0.97 million (2018 – 0.14 million), and $0.69 million (2018 - $0.55 million) respectively 

related to financing activities. There was also a decrease in share-based compensation which totals 

$0.32 million (2018 - $1.02 million) as a result of the timing of RSU vesting terms. 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2019 the Company recorded loss from other items of $8.74 

million, compared to loss from other items of $0.80 million in 2018, primarily due to an increase in 

charge on termination obligations which totals $2.84 million (2018 – $2.34 million) that includes an 

assumed liability expense of $1.27 million to reflect the transfer of employees from a third-party 

contractor into AMPAC’s payroll and severance plan, and also $2.64 million in advances to the Lagoa 

Salgada Project (2018 - $2.25 million). 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2019 the Company reported net loss of ($8.21 million), or $0.11 

basic and diluted loss per share, compared to a net income of $3.00 million, or $0.04 basic and diluted 

earnings per share in the comparative period in 2018. Income from mining operations was $5.59 

million during the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to income from mining operations of 

$11.46 million in 2018. 
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CASH FLOWS 

 

Operating Activities 

 

During the three months ended December 31, 2019, cash from operating activities totalled $0.30 

million (Q4/2018 - cash used in operating activities of $0.27 million). Cash from operating activities 

before changes in working capital was $5.53 million (Q4/2018 – cash used of $0.12 million).  

 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, cash from operating activities was $7.73 million (2018 – 

cash from operating activities of $16.28 million) due primarily to $7.5 million (2018 - $Nil) from the 

silver stream advance. Cash from operating activities before changes in working capital was $11.66 

million (2018 – $10.87 million).  

 

Investing Activities 

 

During the three months ended December 31, 2019, cash used in investing activities was $4.57 million 

(Q4/18 – $5.52 million). 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, cash used in investing activities was $19.04 million (2018 

- $25.02 million). The decrease in cash flow used in investing activities is mainly the result of lower 

capital expenditures of $15.65 million (2018 – $21.74 million), offset by a small increase in net 

investment in Redcorp’s Lagoa Salgada Project of $3.39 million (2018 - $3.28 million). 

 

Financing Activities  

 

During the three months ended December 31, 2019, cash provided by financing activities was $2.14 

million (Q4/18 – $2.31) million due mainly from proceeds of revolving credit and prepayment facilities 

of $12.32 million (Q4/18 - $3.35) million offset by repayments of $10.03 million (Q4/18 - $1.07) million 

during the quarter. The Company also used $0.16 million (Q4/18 – $0.05 million) in lease payments. 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, cash provided by financing activities was $9.25 million 

(2018 - $4.62 million). The increase in cash flow provided by financing activities year over year is mainly 

the result of proceeds received from revolving credit and prepayment facilities of $36.07 million (2018 

- $5.85 million), offset by repayments of $26.53 million (2018 - $1.07 million). Finally, the Company 

generated cash proceeds of $0.12 million (2018 – $0.15 million) from exercise of warrants. 
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SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 

The following tables provide highlights, extracted from the Company’s financial statements, of 

quarterly results for the past eight quarters. The changes in the tables below largely reflect the ramp 

up in capital expenditures and operations of the El Mochito mine.  

The exchange rates used for the quarterly financial information were as follows: 

 
U.S. Dollar/Cdn Dollar 

exchange rate  

Dec 31, 

2019 

Sep 30, 

2019 

Jun 30, 

2019 

Mar 31, 

2019 

Dec 31, 

2018 

Sep 30, 

2018 

Jun 30, 

2018 

Mar 31, 

2018 

Closing rate at the 

reporting date 

1.2988 1.3243 1.3087 1.3363 1.3642 1.2945 1.3168 1.2894 

Average for the period 1.3200 1.3292 1.3336 1.3295 1.3204 1.3070 1.2911 1.2647 

   

 

Concentrate revenues account for a portion of the quarter-to-quarter increase in total assets during 

2018 and 2019, where much of the increase is attributed to the acquisition of property, plant and 

equipment million including continued underground capitalized development at the El Mochito mine. 

The Company also raised $9.54 million, on a net basis, during 2019 in revolving facilities, compared to 

$4.78 million during 2018. 

 

Revenues commenced in the first quarter of 2017 at the El Mochito mine, and fluctuated quarter-to-

quarter due to increased production and metal price volatility throughout 2017, 2018 and 2019. 

Throughout fiscal 2019, metal prices weakened as pressure from global trade tensions intensified, 

resulting in decreased revenues over the period.  

 

  

December 31, September 31, June 30, March 31,

2019 2019 2019 2019

Total assets $000's                   75,424                   75,661                   73,299                                79,772 

Total revenue $000's                   19,968                   22,032                   18,033                                17,784 

Working capital surplus (deficiency) $000's                  (17,078)                  (17,352)                  (11,813)                                 (5,023)

Income (loss) before other expense (income) $000's                      3,543                    (1,592)                    (1,233)                                    (184)

Net income (loss) for the period $000's                      3,591                    (5,214)                    (4,177)                                 (2,410)

Basic earnings (loss) per share $/share                        0.05                       (0.07)                       (0.05)                                   (0.03)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $/share                        0.04                       (0.07)                       (0.05)                                   (0.03)

December 31, September 31, June 30, March 31,

2018 2018 2018 2018

Total assets $000's                   66,071                   67,012                   64,599                                57,999 

Total revenue $000's                   21,564                   13,359                   22,657                                28,038 

Working capital surplus (deficiency) $000's                    (7,110)                         757                      8,961                                13,658 

Income (loss) before other expense (income) $000's                    (1,774)                    (2,889)                      3,435                                  6,696 

Net (loss) income for the period $000's                    (3,020)                    (3,853)                      4,582                                  5,294 

Basic earnings (loss) per share $/share                       (0.04)                       (0.05)                        0.06                                     0.07 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $/share                       (0.04)                       (0.05)                        0.06                                     0.07 

Three months ended

Three months ended
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The Company’s working capital increased in the first quarter of 2018 due to an increased accounts 

receivable and increased cash balance, largely resulting from increased production and rising zinc and 

lead prices. The Company’s working capital has decreased since the second quarter of 2018 due to 

continued capital expenditures at El Mochito mine, and a decrease in accounts receivable, largely 

resulting from a decrease in zinc and lead prices. 

 

Net losses since the fourth quarter of 2018 throughout fiscal 2019 is mainly the result of lower 

revenues due to lower zinc and lead prices.   
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

The Company may be exposed to risks of varying degrees of significance which could affect its ability 

to achieve its risk management objectives. The main objective of the Company's risk management 

process is to ensure that the risks are properly identified and that the capital base is adequate in 

relation to those risks. The principal risks to which the Company is exposed to are described below. 

There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures during the years ended 

December 31, 2019 and 2018. 

 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is not able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 

The Company's approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to 

meet liabilities when due. 

 

At December 31, 2019, the Company had a cash balance of $1,684 (December 31, 2018 - $3,808), to 

settle current liabilities of $35,469 (December 31, 2018 - $26,911). The Company has working capital 

deficit of $17,054 at December 31, 2019 (December 31, 2018 – working capital deficit of $7,109).  

 

Foreign Currency Risk 

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk to the extent expenditures incurred or funds 

received, and balances maintained by the Company are denominated in currencies other than the 

functional currency of the entity party to the transaction. The Company had net monetary liabilities 

totalling $6,800 (2018 - $8,900) denominated in Honduran Lempiras, and $500 (2018 - $1,000) 

denominated in Euro as of December 31, 2019. The Company’s sensitivity analysis suggests that a 

change in the absolute rate of exchange in the Honduran Lempira by 1% would increase or decrease 

net loss by $68 (2018 - $89) and in the Euro by 1% would increase or decrease net loss by $5 (2018 - 

$10) for the year ended December 31, 2019. The Company’s objective in managing its foreign currency 

risk is to minimize its net exposure to foreign currency cash flows by obtaining most of its estimated 

annual U.S. cash requirements and holding the remaining currency in Canadian dollars. The Company 

has not, to the date of these consolidated financial statements, entered into derivative instruments to 

offset the impact of foreign currency fluctuations. 

 

Commodity Price Risk 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices arising from changes to the 

market prices for zinc, lead and silver between the time of the provisional invoicing of concentrates 

to the time of final price settlement. The Company closely monitors commodity prices to determine 

the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company. The Company’s future operations will 

be significantly affected by changes in the market prices of these commodities. Prices fluctuate on a 

daily basis and are affected by numerous factors beyond the Company’s control. The supply and 

demand, the level of interest rates, the rate of inflation, and stability of exchange rates can all cause 

significant fluctuations in prices. Such external economic factors may in turn be influenced by changes 

in international investment patterns and monetary systems and political developments. Management 

estimates that as of December 31, 2019 a 5% decrease in the market prices for zinc, lead and silver 
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would reduce the provisionally priced mark-to-market revenues and related accounts receivable by 

$2,666 (2018 - $1,909). 

 

Interest Rate Risk 

The Company has cash balances and interest-bearing debt as described in Notes 10 and 11 of the 

consolidated financial statements. The Company has no short-term investments as at December 31, 

2019 and is not subject to any significant impact on the cash balance as a result of changes in interest 

rates.  

 

Credit Risk 

The Company has no significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Management 

believes that the credit risk concentrating with respect to cash and amounts receivable is remote. 

 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

The Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting 

principles applicable to a going concern, which assumes that the Company will be able to continue in 

operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities 

and commitments in the normal course of business. 

 

In December 2019, a novel strain of the Coronavirus emerged in China. It has now spread to many 

other countries and infections have been reported globally. The extent to which the coronavirus 

impacts the Company’s business, including its operations, the market for its securities, and the ability 

to access financing will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be 

predicted at this time. However, the impact of COVID-19 has had a significant impact on the global 

economy including zinc prices which declined significantly in March 2020.  This in turn had a significant 

negative impact on the financial position and results of operations of the El Mochito Mine, and 

correspondingly, on the Company. 

 

In April 2020, Ascendant entered into a share purchase agreement with Kirungu Corporation 

(“Kirungu”), to sell all of the issued and outstanding shares of AMPAC and its El Mochito mine (see note 

29). The sale was completed by April 27, 2020.  Ascendant remains focused on its high-grade Lagoa 

Salgada VMS project in the Iberian Pyrite Belt in Portugal. The Company is also engaged in the 

evaluation of producing and advanced development stage mineral resource opportunities, on an 

ongoing basis. 

 

At March 31st, 2020 the Company had a minimal cash balance at Corporate. Following the closing of 

the sale of AMPAC on April 27, 2020, the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent 

upon its ability to raise additional financing to be able to further explore its mineral properties, retain 

mining rights and to meet ongoing requirements for general operations. Even if the Company has 

been successful in the past in doing so, there can be no assurance that additional debt or equity 

financing will be available to meet these requirements or available on terms acceptable to Ascendant. 

These matters represent a material uncertainty that casts significant doubt about the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern.  
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The consolidated financial statements do not include adjustments to the carrying values of recorded 

assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going 

concern. These adjustments may be material. 

 

The Company has not entered into any significant long-term lease commitments other than those 

outlined under Note 13 in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 

December 31, 2019. 

 

Contractual Obligations and Commitments 

The Company has the following constructive obligations and capital commitments as at December 31, 

2019: 

  

 
 

  

<1 years 1-5 years 5> years Total

Operating commitments (i) $ 1,635           409                   -                            2,044                 

Leases (i) $ 363               463                   -                            826                    

Credit facility payments (i) $ 4,314           -                    -                            4,314                 

Revolving prepayment facility (i) $ 10,000         -                    -                            10,000               

Environmental rehabilitation provision (i) $ -                -                    9,830                       9,830                 

$ 16,312         872                   9,830                       27,014               

(i) Reported on an undiscounted basis

Payments due by period
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 

The Company's objective when managing capital is to maintain its ability to continue as a going 

concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.  

 

The Company defines capital as total equity plus debt. Total equity is comprised of issued capital stock, 

warrants, share-based payments reserve and accumulated deficit.  Total debt is comprised of credit 

and revolving prepayment facilities. The Company manages its capital structure and makes 

adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the Company, in order to support the acquisition, 

exploration and development of mineral properties. The Board of Directors does not establish 

quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the 

Company's management to sustain future development of the business. 

 

The Company is dependent on external financing to fund its mineral exploration and evaluation 

activities. In order to carry out the planned exploration and pay for administrative costs, the Company 

will spend its existing working capital and raise additional amounts as needed. The Company will 

continue to assess new properties and seek to acquire an interest in additional properties if it feels 

there is sufficient geologic or economic potential and if it has adequate financial resources to do so. 

 

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this 

approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. The Company's capital management 

objectives, policies and processes have remained unchanged during the years ended December 31, 

2019 and 2018.  

 
  

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Equity 15,920                     23,624                     

Debt 14,314                     4,775                       

30,234                     28,399                     
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS HIERARCHY AND FAIR VALUES 

 

The following represents the carrying value and fair value of the Company’s financial instruments and 

non-financial derivatives: 

 
(i) Cash, trade and other receivables, and trade and other payables are recorded at carrying value, which approximates 

fair value due to their short-term nature and generally negligible credit losses. 

(ii) Excludes tax and other statutory amounts. 

(iii) Derivatives and embedded provisional pricing derivatives are carried at their fair value, which is determined on 

internal valuation models that reflect observable market commodity prices.  

(iv) The carrying value of the facility approximates the fair value due to their short-term nature. 

 

Fair value hierarchy 

 

The Company classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 

significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy shall have the 

following levels:  

 

Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 – Valuation techniques use significant observable inputs, either directly or indirectly, or 

valuations are based on quotes prices for similar instruments; and  

Level 3 – Valuation techniques use significant inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

  

Recurring measurements Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Financial Assets

Amortised cost

   Cash (i) 1,684                   1,684          3,808$               3,808$      

   Trade and other receivables (i)(ii) 3,601                   3,601          4,031                 4,031         

   Due from related parties 895                       895             833                     833            

Fair value through profit or loss

   Non-hedge derivative assets (iii) -                        -              137                     137            

Total financial assets 6,180                   6,180          8,809                 8,809         

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost

   Trade and other payables (i)(ii) 18,122                 18,122        19,374               19,374      

   Credit facility (iv) 4,314                   4,314          4,775                 4,775         

   Revolving prepayment facility (iv) 10,000                 10,000        -                      -             

Total financial liabilities 32,436                 32,436        24,149               24,149      

Net financial asset (liability) (26,256)$              (26,256)$    (15,340)$            (15,340)$   

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
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The Company’s financial assets and liabilities are recorded and measured as follows: 

 

a) The fair values for cash, trade and other receivables, due from related parties, trade and other 

payables, finance leases and revolving credit facility, approximate carrying values due to the 

immediate or short-term maturities of these financial instruments and are classified as Level 1 in 

accordance with their fair value hierarchy. 

 

b) For the non-derivative hedge assets and liabilities, the fair value is determined by reference to the 

quoted prices for the underlying commodity and is classified as Level 1 on the fair value hierarchy. 

 

The Company’s policy is to recognize transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels of 

the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. During the year ended 

December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company did not make any transfers. 
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DISCLOSURE OF OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA 

 

Ascendant is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares and preferred shares. A 

detailed description of the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to each class of 

authorized shares are included in our Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 

2018, a copy of which can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

 

As of May 5, 2020, the number of common shares outstanding or issuable pursuant to other 

outstanding securities is as follows: 

 
(i) There were 3,555,001 shares issued on January 24, 2020 pursuant to redemption of 3,555,0001 vested RSUs. 

(ii) There were 407,000 stock options under our share plan outstanding to directors, officers, employees and others with 

an exercise price of Cdn$0.25 and expiring between June 15, 2020 to October 27, 2020. 

(iii) There were 11,787,500 common share purchase warrants outstanding with an exercise price of Cdn$1.25 and 

expiring on March 7, 2022. 

 

Ascendant has not issued any preferred shares. 

 

FINANCIAL CONDITION 

 

As at December 31, 2019, the Company’s cash balance was $1.68 million. Total current assets were 

$18.42 million and total current liabilities were $35.47 million for negative working capital of $17.05 

million. 

 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

 

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. 

 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 
 

In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and 

responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company directly or indirectly, 

including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company. 

  

Common Shares Number

Outstanding (i) 81,247,140    

Issuable upon exercise of Ascendant options (ii) 407,000         

Issuable upon exercise of Ascendant warrants (iii) 11,787,500    

Issuable upon redemption of Ascendant RSUs (i) 2,309,999      

Diluted common shares 95,751,639    

http://www.sedar.com/
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(a) Compensation of key management personnel 

 

(b) Due from related parties 

 

During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company granted loans of $432 (2017 - 

$431) to certain directors and officers of the Company to cover the tax liability in respect of the vested 

RSUs. These loans bear interest at the Canada Revenue Agency’s (“CRA”) quarterly prescribed interest 

rate used to calculate employee and shareholder loans calculated annually and payable on the earlier 

of: (i) demand by the Company, (ii) sale by the directors and officers of the common shares underlying 

the vested RSUs, and (iii) April 18, 2022 and August 24, 2023 for the April 2017 RSU recipients, and 

November 22, 2022 for the November 2017 RSU recipients. 

 

As at December 31, 2019, amounts due from related parties including the balance related to these 

loans and accrued interest is $895 (2018 - $833). 

  

  

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Management compensation 1,380$                        2,202$                        

Directors' fees 139                              189                              

Share-based payments 316                              905                              

1,835$                        3,296$                        

Year ended
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NON-IFRS PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

 

The non-IFRS performance measures presented do not have any standardized meaning prescribed 

by IFRS and are therefore unlikely to be directly comparable to similar measures presented by other 

issuers.  

 

Non-IFRS reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA  

 

EBITDA is a non-IFRS measure that represents an indication of the Company’s continuing capacity to 

generate earnings from operations before taking into account management’s financing decisions and 

costs of consuming capital assets, and management’s estimate of their useful life. EBITDA comprises 

revenue less operating expenses before interest expense (income), property, plant and equipment 

amortization and depletion, and income taxes. Adjusted EBITDA has been included in this document. 

Under IFRS, entities must reflect in compensation expense the cost of share-based payments. In the 

Company’s circumstances, share-based payments involve a significant accrual of amounts that will 

not be settled in cash but will settled by the issuance of shares in exchange for cash. EBITDA and 

Adjusted EBITDA do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and should not be 

considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with 

IFRS. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA exclude the impact of cash costs of financing activities and taxes, 

and the effects of changes in operating working capital balances, and therefore are not necessarily 

indicative of operating profit or cash flow from operations as determined under IFRS. Other 

companies may calculate EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA differently. As such, the Company has made 

an entity specific adjustment to EBITDA for these expenses. The Company has also made an entity-

specific adjustment to the foreign currency exchange (gain)/loss.  

 

The following table provides a reconciliation of net income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA: 

       

   

Adjusted EBITDA

2019 2018 2019 2018

Net income (loss) $000's                       3,591                     (3,020)                     (8,211)                                   3,005 

Adjusted for:

Advances to joint venture $000's                          613                       2,248                       2,639                                   2,248 

Gain on remeasurement of environmental obligation $000's                              -                       (2,788)                              -                                    (2,788)

Depletion and depreciation $000's                       2,020                       1,454                       7,313                                   4,724 

Finance expenses $000's                          812                          249                       2,669                                   1,022 

Accretion expense on rehabilitation liabilities $000's                             80                         (333)                          284                                       310 

Charge on termination obligations $000's                         (651)                       1,089                       2,842                                   2,335 

Share-based payments $000's                             24                          152                          318                                   1,022 

Foreign currency exchange gain/loss $000's                           (74)                         (113)                           (32)                                        (49)

Income taxes $000's                         (904)                          947                              -                                     1,663 

Adjusted EBITDA $000's                       5,511                         (115)                       7,822                                 13,492 

Year endedThree months ended

December 31,December 31,
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Direct operating cost per tonne milled  

 

The Company uses the non-IFRS measure of direct operating cost per tonne milled to manage and 

evaluate operating performance. The Company believes that, in addition to conventional measures 

prepared in accordance with IFRS, certain investors use this information to evaluate the Company’s 

performance and ability to generate cash flows. Accordingly, it is intended to provide additional 

information and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance 

prepared in accordance with IFRS. The Company considers mine production expenses per tonne 

milled to be the most comparable IFRS measure to direct operating cost per tonne milled and has 

included calculations of this metric in the reconciliations within the applicable tables to follow.  

 

Direct operating cost per tonne milled includes mine direct operating production costs such as mining, 

processing, administration, indirect charges such as surface maintenance and camp expenses but 

does not include, smelting, refining and freight costs, royalties, depreciation, depletion, amortization, 

reclamation, and capital costs. 

 

Cash operating costs 

 

Cash operating costs is a financial performance measure with no standard meaning under IFRS. 

Ascendant reports total production cash costs on a sales basis. The Company believes that, in addition 

to conventional measures prepared in accordance with IFRS, certain investors use this information to 

evaluate the Company’s performance and ability to generate operating earnings and cash flow from 

its mining operations. Management uses this metric as an important tool to monitor operating cost 

performance. 

 

Total production cash costs include production costs, such as mining, processing charges divided by 

ZnEq payable pounds sold to arrive at total cash operating costs per ZnEq payable pound sold. The 

measure also includes other mine related costs incurred such as variation in inventory. Production 

costs are exclusive of depreciation. Other companies may calculate this measure differently. 

 

Net smelter return (NSR) 

 

The net smelter return (NSR) refers to the revenues expected from the mill feed, taking into 

consideration mill recoveries, transport costs of the concentrate to the smelter, treatment and 

refining charges, other deductions at the smelter, and finished inventory adjustments. 

 

All-in Sustaining Costs 

 

All- Sustaining Costs per ZnEq payable pound includes mine direct operating production costs (mining, 

administration and other mine related costs incurred such as variation in inventory and termination 

liability payments) as well as smelter treatment, refining and freight costs, royalties, corporate G&A 

and sustaining capital costs, divided by ZnEq payable pounds sold. The measure does not include 

depreciation, depletion, amortization and reclamation expenses. 
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The following table provides a reconciliation of direct operating costs, net smelter return, capital 

expenditures, and All-in Sustaining Costs to mine production expenses, as reported in the Company’s 

consolidated statement of income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018: 
    

 
 

 
 

 

 

Direct operating cost per tonne milled

2019 2018 2019 2018

Mine operating expenses (from consolidated income statement) $000's                    16,184                    22,009                    72,222                                 74,162 

Add: Termination Liability Payments $000's                             67 257                          289                                       933 

Add (deduct): Supplies Inventory Obsolescence Adjustment $000's                              -                           (266)                              -                                       (266)

Add (deduct): Supplies Inventory Adjustment $000's                              -                       (1,391)                              -                                    (1,391)

Deduct (Add): Variation in Finished Inventory $000's                          784                     (2,129)                       1,559                                  (4,641)

Deduct: Depreciation in production $000's                     (1,993)                     (1,452)                     (7,204)                                  (4,712)

Total cash costs (including royalties) $000's 15,042                  17,028                  66,866                  64,085                               

Deduct: Government taxes and royalties $000's                          970                     (1,240)                     (2,011)                                  (4,375)

Direct operating costs $000's 16,012                  15,788                  64,855                  59,710                               

Tonnes Milled tonnes                  186,987                  184,913                  775,559                              756,034 

Direct operating cost per tonne milled $/tonne $85.63 $85.38 $83.62 $78.98

Three months ended Year ended

December 31, December 31,

NSR & Capex per tonne milled

2019 2018 2019 2018

Tonnes Milled tonnes 186,987                184,913                775,559                756,034                             

Net smelter return reconciliation

Revenue (from consolidated income statement) $ 19,968                   21,564                   77,816                   85,618                               

Add (deduct): Variation in Finished Inventory $ (784)                       2,129                     (1,559)                    4,641                                  

Deduct: Government taxes and royalties $ 970                         (1,240)                    (2,011)                    (4,375)                                 

Net smelter return $ 20,154                  22,453                  74,246                  85,884                               

Net smelter return per tonnne milled $/tonne $107.78 $121.42 $95.73 $113.60

Capital Expenditures $ 3,461                     3,620                     15,646                   21,943                               

Capex per tonne milled $/tonne $18.51 $19.58 $20.17 $29.02

Year endedThree months ended

December 31,December 31,

AISC per ZnEq payable pound sold

2019 2018 2019 2018

ZnEq payable pounds sold 000's lbs                    24,796                    21,511                    90,158                                 81,871 

Cash Operating Costs Reconciliation

Direct operating costs $000's                    16,012                    15,788                    64,855                                 59,710 

Add (deduct): Variation in Finished Inventory $000's                         (784)                       2,129                     (1,559)                                   4,641 

Cash operating costs $000's                    15,228                    17,917                    63,296                                 64,351 

Cash operating cost per ZnEq payable pound sold $/ZnEq lb $0.61 $0.83 $0.70 $0.79

All-in Sustaining Costs (AISC) Reconciliation

Total cash operating costs $000's                    15,228                    17,917                    63,296                                 64,351 

Add: Government taxes and royalties $000's                         (970)                       1,240                       2,011                                   4,375 

Add: Adjustment to government taxes and royalties (1) $000's                       1,685                              -                         1,685                                           -   

Add: TC & RCs $000's                       5,399                       3,996                    20,174                                 14,474 

Add: G&A, excluding depreciation and amortization $000's                          214                       1,328                       4,953                                   5,974 

Add: Accretion expense on rehabilitation liabilities $000's                             80                         (333)                          284                                       310 

Add: Sustaining capital expenditure $000's                       3,372                       3,437                    15,325                                 17,555 

Total All-in sustaining costs - Consolidated $000's                    25,008                    27,585                 107,728                              107,039 

Deduct: G&A, excluding depreciation and amortization $000's                         (214)                     (1,328)                     (4,953)                                  (5,974)

Total All-in sustaining costs - El Mochito $000's                    24,794                    26,257                  102,775                              101,065 

AISC per ZnEq payable pound sold - Consolidated $/ZnEq lb $1.01 $1.28 $1.19 $1.31

AISC per ZnEq payable pound sold - El Mochito $/ZnEq lb $1.00 $1.22 $1.14 $1.23

Year endedThree months ended

December 31,December 31,
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(1) Adjustment to government taxes and royalties relates to a new tax amnesty program published on 

February 24, 2020 in the Government of Honduras Official Gazette, Decree 168-2019, whereby 

taxpayers are released from the payment of mining royalties until November 30, 2019. As a result, the 

Company reversed $1.69 million in accrued mining royalties during the fourth quarter of 2019. 

 

Additional Non-IFRS measures 

 

The Company uses other financial measures, the presentation of which is not meant to be a substitute 

for other subtotals or totals presented in accordance with IFRS, but rather should be evaluated in 

conjunction with such IFRS measures. The following other financial measures are used: 

 

- Operating cash flows before movements in working capital - excludes the movement from period-

to-period in working capital items including trade and other receivables, prepaid expenses, 

deposits, inventories, trade and other payables and the effects of foreign exchange rates on these 

items.  

 

The terms described above do not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS, and therefore 

the Company’s definitions are unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by other 

companies. The Company’s management believes that their presentation provides useful information 

to investors because cash flows generated from operations before changes in working capital 

excludes the movement in working capital items. This, in management’s view, provides useful 

information of the Company’s cash flows from operations and are considered to be meaningful in 

evaluating the Company’s past financial performance or its future prospects. The most comparable 

IFRS measure is cash flows from operating activities. 
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USE OF ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

 

Refer to Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements of the Company. 

 

Internal Controls over Financial Reporting (ICFR) 

 

The CEO and the CFO, with the assistance of management, conducted an evaluation of the 

effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2019. 

Based on the evaluation, the CEO and the CFO have concluded that as at December 31, 2019, the 

Company's internal control over financial reporting is effective, based on the criteria set forth by the 

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) on Internal Control — 

Integrated Framework (2013).  

 

The inherent limitations in all control systems are such that they can provide only reasonable, not 

absolute, assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud or error, if any, within the Company 

have been detected. Therefore, no matter how well-designed, ICFR has limitations and can provide 

only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and may not prevent and 

detect all misstatements.  

 

As of the end of the period covered by this MD&A and accompanying Financial Statements, 

Ascendant’s management evaluated the effectiveness of its disclosure controls. Based on that 

evaluation, the CEO and the CFO have concluded that Ascendant’s disclosure controls and procedures 

and internal controls over financial reporting, provide reasonable assurance that they were effective.  

 

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the period ended 

December 31, 2019 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, internal 

control over financial reporting. 

 

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

 

The Company’s business contains significant risk due to the nature of mining, exploration, and 

development activities. For additional discussion of these and other risk factors, please refer to the 

Company’s Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2018, which can be found 

under the Company’s profile at www.sedar.com. 

 

Unfavourable global economic conditions 

The Company’s results of operations could be adversely affected by general conditions in the global 

economy and in the global financial markets.  A severe or prolonged economic downturn could result 

in a variety of risks to our business, including our ability to raise additional capital when needed on 

acceptable terms, if at all.  A weak or declining economy could strain our suppliers, possibly resulting 

in supply disruption, or cause delays in payments for our services by third-party payors. Any of the 

foregoing could harm our business and we cannot anticipate all of the ways in which the current our 

future economic climate and financial market conditions could adversely impact our business. For 

example, in December 2019, a novel strain of COVID-19 has been reported in many countries around 

http://www.sedar.com/
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the globe.  The extent to which the COVID-19 impacts our results  will  depend  on  future  

developments  that  are  highly  uncertain  and  cannot  be  accurately  predicted,  including  new  

information  which  may  emerge  concerning  the  severity  of  the  COVID-19  and  the  actions  

required to contain the COVID-19 or remedy its impact, among others. 

 

Limited Operating History 

The Company has a limited history of earnings. The Company's continued operation will be dependent 

upon its ability to generate operating revenues and to procure additional financing.   

 

Dependence on El Mochito mine for the Company's Operating Revenue and Cash Flow 

Substantially all of the Company's operations are carried out through, and substantially all of the 

Company's operating revenue and cash flow are generated by, AMPAC a Honduran company and a 

wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Accordingly, the Company is dependent on the cash flows 

from AMPAC to meet its obligations. However historic and current performance of the AMPAC 

business may not be indicative of success in future periods, and there is no assurance as to future 

performance of AMPAC. The future performance of the AMPAC business and the ability of AMPAC to 

provide the Company with payments may be constrained by factors such as, among others: the 

operation of the Offtake Agreements; economic downturns; technological and regulatory changes; 

the cash flows generated by operations, investment activities and financing activities; and the level of 

taxation, particularly corporate profits and withholding taxes. If the Company is unable to receive 

sufficient cash from AMPAC, the Company may be required to incur indebtedness, raise funds in a 

public or private equity or debt offering, or sell some or all of its assets. There can be no assurance 

that any such financing will be available on satisfactory terms or that it will be sufficient. The Company 

may be subject to limitations on the repatriation of earnings in Honduras. In particular, there may be 

significant withholding taxes applicable to the repatriation of funds from Honduras to Canada. There 

can be no assurance that changes in regulations, including tax treaties, in and among the relevant 

countries where the Company does business will not take place, and if such changes occur, they may 

adversely impact the Company's ability to receive sufficient cash payments from its subsidiaries. 

 

Dependence on Nyrstar for Revenue  

Substantially all of the Company's revenue is derived from sales of its concentrate products 

pursuant to the Offtake Agreements with Nyrstar. Bulk sales of concentrate pursuant to the Offtake 

Agreements are highly periodic. 

 

Exploration, Development and Production Risks 

Mining and mineral operations involve many risks that even a combination of experience and 

knowledge and careful evaluation may not be able to overcome. The long-term commercial success 

of the Company will depend on its ability to find, acquire, develop and commercially produce mineral 

deposits.  Without the continual addition of new resources, any existing resources the Company may 

have at any particular time and the production therefrom will decline over time as such existing 

resources are exploited. A future increase in the Company’s resources will depend not only on its 

ability to explore and develop any properties it may have from time to time, but also on its ability to 

select and acquire suitable producing properties or prospects. No assurance can be given that the 



ASCENDANT RESOURCES INC. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(Expressed in US dollars, except otherwise noted) 

 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis For The Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 | Page 38 

 

Company will be able to continue to locate satisfactory properties for acquisition or participation. 

Moreover, if such acquisitions or participations are identified, the Company may determine that 

current markets, terms of acquisition and participation or pricing conditions make such acquisitions 

or participations uneconomic. There is no assurance that further commercial quantities of resources 

will be discovered or acquired by the Company. 

 

Mining and Processing 

Mining operations involve a high degree of risk. Such operations are subject to all the hazards and 

risks normally encountered in the development and production of zinc, lead, silver and other base or 

precious metals in a developing country, including but not limited to: 

 

- environmental hazards; 

- discharge of pollutants or hazardous chemicals; 

- industrial accidents; 

- failure of processing and mechanical equipment and other performance problems; 

- labour force disruptions; 

- unavailability of materials and equipment; 

- interruption of power supply; 

- unanticipated transportation costs; 

- changes in the regulatory environment; 

- climate change, including changes to weather patterns, increased frequency of extreme 

weather events, temperatures and water availability; 

- unusual and unexpected geologic formations, water conditions, surface or underground 

conditions and seismic activity; 

- diseases perceived as a serious threat to maintaining a skilled workforce; 

- cybersecurity breaches, hacking and cyberterrorism; 

- unanticipated changes in metallurgical and other processing problems; and 

- rock bursts, cave-ins, structural failures, flooding and fire. 

 

Any of these can materially and adversely affect, among other things, the development of properties, 

production quantities and rates, costs, capital expenditures and production commencement dates. 

Such risks could also result in: damage to, or destruction of, mines and other producing facilities; 

damage to property; loss of key employees; loss or compromise of data, financial and other digital 

records and information; environmental damage; delays in mining, monetary losses and possible legal 

liability. 

 

AMPAC's processing facilities are dependent on continuous mine feed to remain in operation. Should 

the El Mochito mine not maintain material stockpiles of ore or material in process, any significant 

disruption in either mine feed or processing throughput, whether due to equipment failures, adverse 

weather conditions, power supply interruptions, export or import restrictions, labour force 

disruptions or other causes, may have an immediate adverse effect on the results from the operations 

of the Company. A significant reduction in mine feed or processing throughput could cause the direct 

operating cost of production to increase to a point where the Company may determine that it is no 

longer economical to exploit some or all of its mineral reserves.  
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Although AMPAC utilizes the operating history of its existing mine complex to derive estimates of 

future operating costs and capital requirements, such estimates may differ materially from actual 

operating results at new deposits or expansion of existing deposits. The economic feasibility analysis 

with respect to any individual project is based upon, among other things: the interpretation of 

geological data obtained from drill holes and other sampling techniques; internal feasibility analysis 

(which derive estimates of cash operating costs based upon anticipated tonnage and grades of ore to 

be mined and processed); base and precious metals price assumptions; the configuration of the ore 

body; expected recovery rates of metals from the ore; comparable facility and equipment costs; 

anticipated climatic conditions; and estimates of labour, productivity, royalty, tax rates, or other 

ownership burdens and other factors.  

 

The Company expects to periodically review mining schedules, production levels and asset lives in its 

life-of mine planning. Significant changes in the life-of-mine plans can occur as a result of mining 

experience, new ore discoveries, changes in mining methods and rates, process changes, investment 

in new equipment and technology, base and precious metals price assumptions, and other factors.  

 

As a result of the foregoing risks, expenditures on all projects, actual production quantities and rates, 

and cash costs may be materially and adversely affected and may differ materially from anticipated 

expenditures, production quantities and rates, and costs. In addition, estimated production dates may 

be delayed materially, especially to the extent that development projects are involved. Any such 

events can materially and adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition, results of 

operations and cash flows. 

 

Competition 

The mining industry is competitive in all its phases. The Company will compete with numerous other 

participants in the search for the acquisition of mineral properties and in the marketing of mineral 

resources. Their competitors include mining companies that have substantially greater financial 

resources, staff and facilities than those of the Company, as the case may be. The Company’s ability 

to increase resources in the future will depend not only on its ability to explore and develop its present 

properties, but also on its ability to select and acquire suitable producing properties or prospects for 

exploratory drilling. Competitive factors in the distribution and marketing of mineral resources 

include price and methods and reliability of delivery. 

 

Regulatory 

Mining operations (exploration, production, pricing, marketing and transportation) are subject to 

extensive controls and regulations imposed by various levels of government that may be amended 

from time to time. The Company’s operations may require licenses from various governmental 

authorities. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain all necessary 

approvals, licenses and permits that may be required to carry out exploration and development at its 

projects. A failure to obtain such approval on a timely basis or material conditions imposed by such 

authority in connection with the approval would materially affect the prospects of the Company.  
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Environmental 

All phases of the mining business present environmental risks and hazards and are subject to 

environmental regulation pursuant to a variety of federal, provincial and local laws and regulations.  

Environmental legislation provides for, among other things, restrictions and prohibitions on spills, 

releases or emissions of various substances produced in association with mining operations. The 

legislation also requires that wells and facility sites be operated, maintained, abandoned and 

reclaimed to the satisfaction of applicable regulatory authorities. Compliance with such legislation can 

require significant expenditures and a breach may result in the imposition of fines and penalties, 

some of which may be material. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner expected to result 

in stricter standards and enforcement, larger fines and liability and potentially increased capital 

expenditures and operating costs. The discharge of resources or other pollutants into the air, soil or 

water may give rise to liabilities to governments and third parties and may require the Company to 

incur costs to remedy such discharge. Although the Company believes that it will be in material 

compliance with current applicable environmental regulations no assurance can be given that 

environmental laws will not result in a curtailment of production or a material increase in the costs of 

production, development or exploration activities or otherwise adversely affect the Company’s 

financial condition, results of operations or prospects. 

 

Reclamation and Mine Closure Costs 

Closing a mine can have a significant impact on local communities and site remediation activities may 

not be supported by local stakeholders. AMPAC reviews and updates closure plans regularly with 

external stakeholders over the life of the mine and considering where post-mining land use for mining 

affected areas has potential benefits to the communities. 

 

In addition to the immediate closure activities, including ground stabilization, infrastructure 

demolition and removal, top soil replacement, re-grading and re-vegetation, closed mining operations 

require long-term surveillance and monitoring. 

 

Site closure plans have been developed and amounts accrued in AMPAC's financial statements to 

provide for mine closure obligations. Future remediation costs for inactive mines are estimated at the 

end of each period, including ongoing care, maintenance and monitoring costs. Changes in estimates 

at inactive mines are reflected in earnings in the period an estimate is revised. Actual costs realized in 

satisfaction of mine closure obligations may vary materially from management's estimates. Changes 

in environmental laws can create uncertainty with regards to future reclamation costs and affect the 

requirements.  

 

Market Conditions 

In the last decade, market events and conditions, including the disruptions in the international credit 

markets and other financial systems and the deterioration of global economic conditions, have caused 

significant volatility in commodity prices. These conditions also caused a loss of confidence in the 

broader US and global credit and financial markets and resulted in the collapse of, and government 

intervention in, major banks, financial institutions and insurers and created a climate of greater 

volatility, less liquidity, widening of credit spreads, a lack of price transparency, increased credit losses 

and tighter credit conditions. Notwithstanding various actions by governments, concerns about the 
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general condition of the capital markets, financial instruments, banks, investment banks, insurers and 

other financial institutions caused the broader credit markets to further deteriorate and stock markets 

to decline substantially. More recently, there has been mounting government debt in many western 

nations, significant volatility and depression in the price of oil and numerous environmental disasters 

globally. These events are illustrative of the effect that events beyond the Company's control may 

have on commodity prices, demand for metals such as zinc, lead and silver, availability of credit, 

investor confidence and general financial market liquidity, all of which may affect the Company's 

business. Any or all of these economic factors, as well as other related factors, may cause decreases 

in asset values that are deemed to be other than temporary, resulting in impairment losses. If such 

increased levels of volatility and market turmoil continue, the Company's operations could be 

adversely impacted and the trading price of the Common Shares may be adversely affected.  

 

The Company is also exposed to liquidity and various counterparty risks including, but not limited to, 

through: (i) financial institutions that hold the Company's or AMPAC's cash; (ii) companies that have 

payables to AMPAC or the Company; (iii) the Company's or AMPAC's insurance providers; (iv) future 

lenders to the Company or AMPAC; and (v) companies that have received deposits from AMPAC for 

the future delivery of equipment. AMPAC is also exposed to liquidity risks in meeting its capital 

expenditure requirements in instances where cash positions are unable to be maintained or 

appropriate financing is unavailable. 

 

Issuance of Debt 

From time to time Ascendant may enter into transactions to acquire assets or the shares of other 

Companies. These transactions may be financed partially or wholly with debt, which may increase the 

Company’s debt levels above industry standards. Depending on future exploration and development 

plans, the Company may require additional equity and/or debt financing that may not be available or, 

if available, may not be available on favorable terms. Neither the Company’s articles nor its by-laws 

limit the amount of indebtedness that Ascendant may incur. The level of the Company’s indebtedness 

from time to time could impair the Company’s ability to obtain additional financing in the future on a 

timely basis to take advantage of business opportunities that may arise. 

 

Impairment of PP&E assets 

Under IFRS, impairment of PP&E is calculated at a more granular level than under the Canadian GAAP 

Full Cost Accounting method where all the Company’s mining assets are accumulated into costs 

centres. Impairment calculations are performed at a “Cash Generating Unit” level (“CGUs”) by 

comparing the CGUs carrying value to a corresponding risk adjusted recovery of proved and probable 

resources. The Company has allocated its costs to each block acquired during the year based on 

individual acquisition costs and on the Company’s proved plus probable resources or resource values 

where costs were not separately identified. 

 

Resource Estimates 

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of resources and cash flows to be 

derived there from, including many factors that are beyond the control of the Company.  The resource 

and cash flow information set forth herein represent estimates only. These evaluations include a 
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number of assumptions relating to factors such as initial production rates, production decline rates, 

ultimate recovery of resources, timing and amount of capital expenditures, marketability of 

production, future prices, operating costs and royalties and other government levies that may be 

imposed over the producing life of the resources. These assumptions were based on price forecasts 

in use at the date the relevant evaluations were prepared and many of these assumptions are subject 

to change and are beyond the control of the Company.  Actual production and cash flows derived 

there from will vary from these evaluations, and such variations could be material. The foregoing 

evaluations are based in part on the assumed success of activities the Company intends to undertake 

in future years. The resources and estimated cash flows to be derived there from contained in such 

evaluations will be reduced to the extent the Company fails to achieve success on the activities to be 

undertaken in future years. 

 

Insurance and Uninsured Risks 

The Company's business is subject to a number of risks and hazards generally, including adverse 

environmental conditions, industrial accidents, labour disputes, civil unrest and political instability, 

unusual or unexpected geological conditions, ground or slope failures, cave-ins, changes in the 

regulatory environment and natural phenomena such as inclement weather conditions, floods and 

earthquakes. Such occurrences could result in damage to mineral properties or production facilities, 

personal injury or death, environmental damage to the Company's properties or the properties of 

others, delays in development or mining, monetary losses and possible legal liability. The Company 

will maintain insurance to protect against certain other risks in such amounts as it considers 

reasonable. However, its insurance will not cover all the potential risks associated with its operations.  

 

The Company may also be unable to maintain insurance to cover these risks at economically feasible 

premiums. Insurance coverage may not continue to be available or may not be adequate to cover any 

resulting liability. Moreover, insurance against risks such as environmental pollution or other hazards 

as a result of exploration and production is not generally available to the Company or to other 

companies in the mining industry on acceptable terms. The Company might also become subject to 

liability for pollution or other hazards which may not be insured against or which the Company may 

elect not to insure against because of premium costs or other reasons. Losses from these events may 

cause the Company to incur significant costs that could have a material adverse effect upon its 

financial performance and results of operations. 

 

Reliance on Key Personnel 

The Company’s success will depend in large measure on certain key personnel. The loss of the services 

of such key personnel could have a material adverse effect on the Company. The Company does not 

anticipate having key person insurance in effect for management. The contributions of these 

individuals to the immediate operations of the Company are likely to be of central importance. In 

addition, the competition for qualified personnel in the mining industry is intense and there can be 

no assurance that the Company will be able to continue to attract and retain all personnel necessary 

for the development and operation of its business. Investors must rely upon the ability, expertise, 

judgment, discretion, integrity and good faith of the management of the Company. 
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Labour and Employment Matters 

Relations with employees and key skilled personnel in Honduras, Portugal or any other country in 

which the Company has a presence, could be impacted by changes in the scheme of labour relations 

that may be introduced by relevant governmental authorities. Adverse changes in such legislation 

may materially adversely affect the Company's business, results of operations and financial condition. 

In addition, labour disruption or work stoppages by AMPAC's employees , most of whom are 

unionized, or its contractors could materially adversely affect its business and operations.  

 

Operations in Foreign Jurisdiction and Emerging Market 

Substantially all of the Company's operations are located in Honduras. Like many emerging markets, 

Honduras is a developing country that at times may face challenges in terms of natural resource 

development governance, physical and institutional infrastructure, governmental and regulatory 

bureaucracy and delays associated therewith. Additionally, the Company's AMPAC operations may at 

various times be exposed to political, economic and other risks and uncertainties associated with 

operating in a foreign jurisdiction. These risks and uncertainties 

include, but are not limited to: 

- renegotiation, nullification, termination or rescission of existing concessions, licenses, permits 

and contracts; 

- expropriation and/or nationalization; 

- repatriation restrictions; 

- changing political conditions; 

- currency exchange rate fluctuations; 

- war and civil unrest; 

- military repression; 

- hostage-taking; 

- taxation policies; 

- labour unrest; 

- changing government policies and legislation; 

- import and export regulations; 

- restrictions on foreign exchange; 

- currency controls; 

- environmental legislation; 

- infrastructure development policy; and 

- certain non-governmental organizations that oppose globalization and resource 

development. 

 

Changes, if any, in mining or investment policies or shifts in political attitude in Honduras may 

adversely affect the Company's operations or profitability. Operations may be affected in varying 

degrees by government regulations with respect to, but not limited to, restrictions on production, 

price controls, export controls, currency remittance, income taxes, foreign investment, maintenance 

of claims, environmental legislation, land use, land claims by locals, water use, infrastructure and mine 

safety. Additionally, there may be restrictions that interfere with the ability of AMPAC to make 

distributions to the Company. Failure to comply strictly with applicable laws, regulations and local 

practices relating to mineral right applications and tenure could result in loss, reduction or 
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expropriation of entitlements. The occurrence of these various factors and uncertainties cannot be 

accurately predicted and could have an adverse effect on the Company's operations and profitability.  

There can be no assurance that companies and/or industries which are deemed of national or 

strategic importance in Honduras, including mineral exploration, production and development, will 

not be nationalized. There is a risk that further government limitations, restrictions or requirements, 

not presently foreseen, may be implemented. Changes in policy that alter laws regulating the mining 

industry could have a material adverse effect on the Company. 

 

There can be no assurance that AMPAC's assets in Honduras will not be subject to nationalization, 

requisition or confiscation, whether legitimate or not, by an authority or body. 

 

In addition, in the event of a dispute arising from operations in Honduras, the Company may be 

subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of foreign courts. The Company may also be hindered or 

prevented from enforcing its rights with respect to a governmental instrumentality due to the doctrine 

of sovereign immunity. 

 

The Company has taken certain steps to mitigate certain of the foregoing risks, including but not 

limited to: implementing appropriate internal financial control policies, retaining qualified local 

experts to advise on matters such as title to the El Mochito mine, licenses and permits, environmental 

regulation and related matters, hiring personnel with appropriate specialized knowledge, skill and 

experience, maintaining positive government relations, maintaining positive labour relations, and 

maintaining appropriate insurance policies.  

 

However notwithstanding the Company's efforts to mitigate risks associated with operations in a 

developing jurisdiction, most of the foregoing risks and uncertainties are beyond the Company’s 

control and the occurrence of any of them could adversely affect the operations of AMPAC and the 

Company's future cash flow, results of operations and financial condition. 

 

Title Matters 

The Company obtained, as a condition of closing for the El Mochito Acquisition, a favourable legal 

report as to the quality of AMPAC's title to the property and assets comprising the El Mochito mine, 

however, should AMPAC's titles not be honoured or become unenforceable for any reason, the 

Company's business, financial condition and prospects will be materially adversely affected. While the 

Company has diligently investigated AMPAC's title to, rights over and interests in and relating to its 

mining assets and mineral properties, this should not be construed as a guarantee of AMPAC's title to 

its mining assets and/or the area covered by such mining rights. AMPAC's mineral property interests 

may be subject to prior unregistered agreements or transfers and title may be affected by undetected 

defects. There can be no guarantee that title to some of AMPAC's properties will not be challenged or 

impugned. Additionally, the land upon which AMPAC holds mineral exploitation rights may not have 

been surveyed; therefore, the precise area and location of such interests may be subject to challenge. 

 

Changes in Legislation 

The return on an investment in securities of the Company is subject to changes in Canadian, Honduras 

and Portuguese federal and provincial tax laws and government incentive programs and there can be 
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no assurance that such laws or programs will not be changed in a manner that adversely affects the 

Company or the holding and disposing of the securities of the Company. 

 

Assessments of Value of Acquisitions 

Acquisitions of mining issuers and mineral resources assets are typically based on engineering and 

economic assessments made by independent engineers and the Company’s own assessments. These 

assessments both will include a series of assumptions regarding such factors and recoverability and 

marketability of mineral resources, future prices of mineral resources and operating costs, future 

capital expenditures and royalties and other government levies which will be imposed over the 

producing life of the resources. Many of these factors are subject to change and are beyond the 

Company’s control. In particular, the prices of and markets for mineral resources products may 

change from those anticipated at the time of making such assessment. In addition, all such 

assessments involve a measure of geologic and engineering uncertainty which could result in lower 

production and resources than anticipated. Initial assessments of acquisitions may be based on 

reports by a firm of independent engineers that are not the same as the firm the Company uses for 

its year end resource evaluations. Because each of these firms may have different evaluation methods 

and approaches, these initial assessments may differ significantly from the assessments of the firm 

used by the Company. Any such instance may offset the return on and value of the Company shares. 

 

Income Taxes 

The Company will file all required income tax returns and believes that it will be in full compliance 

with the provisions of the Income Tax Act (Canada), all applicable provincial tax legislation as well as 

the Income Tax Law in Honduras and Portugal. However, such returns are subject to reassessment by 

the applicable taxation authority. In the event of a successful reassessment of the Company whether 

by re-characterization of exploration and development expenditures or otherwise, such reassessment 

may have an impact on current and future taxes payable. 

 

Dilution 

The Company may make future acquisitions or enter into financings or other transactions involving 

the issuance of securities of the Company which may be dilutive. 

 

Third Party Credit Risk 

The Company is or may be exposed to third party credit risk through its contractual arrangements 

with future joint venture partners, and other parties.  In the event such entities fail to meet their 

contractual obligations to the Company, such failures could have a material adverse effect on the 

Company and its cash flow from operations. 
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The information provided in this MD&A and the Consolidated Financial Statements is the 

responsibility of management.  In the preparation of these statements, estimates are sometimes 

necessary to make a determination of future values for certain assets or liabilities.  Management 

believes such estimates have been based on careful judgments and have been properly reflected in 

the audited financial statements. 

 

Additional Information 

 

Additional information relating to the Company can also be found on SEDAR.  

 

CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

 

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the financial statements of the Company and it’s 

subsidiaries, Morumbi Capital Inc. and AMPAC. 

 

TECHNICAL INFORMATION 

 

All technical information contained herein has been reviewed and approved by Robert A. Campbell, 

M.Sc, P.Geo, a director of the Company. Mr. Campbell is a "qualified person" within the meaning of NI 

43-101 – Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (“NI 43-101”). 
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CAUTIONARY NOTES TO US INVESTORS 

The information concerning the Company’s mineral properties has been prepared in accordance with 

National Instrument 43-101 (“NI-43-101”) adopted by the Canadian Securities Administrators.  In 

accordance with NI-43-101, the terms “mineral reserves”, “proven mineral reserve”, “probable mineral 

reserve”, “mineral resource”, “measured mineral resource”, “indicated mineral resource” and “inferred 

mineral resource” are defined in the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum (the “CIM”) 

Definition Standards for Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves adopted by the CIM Council on May 10, 

2014.  While the terms “mineral resource”, “measured mineral resource”, “indicated mineral resource” and 

“inferred mineral resource” are recognized and required by NI 43-101, the U.S. Securities Exchange 

Commission (“SEC”) does not recognize them.  The reader is cautioned that, except for that portion of mineral 

resources classified as mineral reserves, mineral resources do not have demonstrated economic value.  

Inferred mineral resources have a high degree of uncertainty as to their existence and as to whether they 

can be economically or legally mined.  It cannot be assumed that all or any part of any inferred mineral 

resource will ever be upgraded to a higher category.  Therefore, the reader is cautioned not to assume that 

all or any part of an inferred mineral resource exists, that it can be economically or legally mined, or that it 

will ever be upgraded to a higher category.  Likewise, you are cautioned not to assume that all or any part 

of a measured or indicated mineral resource will ever be upgraded into mineral reserves. 

 

Readers should be aware that the Company’s financial statements (and information derived 

therefrom) have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and are subject to Canadian 

auditing and auditor independence standards. IFRS differs in many respects from United States 

generally accepted accounting principles and thus the Company’s financial statements (and 

information derived therefrom) may not be comparable to those of United States companies. 

 

FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION 

 

This MD&A contains "forward-looking statements" and "forward-looking information" (collectively, 

"forward-looking information") within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities legislation. All 

information contained in this news release, other than statements of current and historical fact, is forward-

looking information. Often, but not always, forward-looking information can be identified by the use of 

words such as "plans", "expects", "budget", "guidance", "scheduled", "estimates", "forecasts", "strategy", 

"target", "intends", "objective", "goal", "understands", "anticipates" and "believes" (and variations of these 

or similar words) and statements that certain actions, events or results "may", "could", "would", "should", 

"might" "occur" or "be achieved" or "will be taken" (and variations of these or similar expressions). Forward-

looking information is also identifiable in statements of currently occurring matters which may continue in 

the future, such as "providing the Company with", "is currently", "allows/allowing for", "will advance" or 

"continues to" or other statements that may be stated in the present tense with future implications. All of 

the forward-looking information in this MD&A is qualified by this cautionary note. 

 

Forward-looking information in this MD&A includes, but is not limited to, statements regarding the 

consistency of processing recovery levels, improvements of grades in 2019, deployment of new mining 

equipment, increase in contained metal production, maintenance of production rates, increase of mill feed 
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grades, reduction of costs, monthly shipments of concentrate, the ability to fully fund planned development, 

exploration and capital expenditures, robust adjusted EBITDA, expectation of expanding the known Mineral 

Resources at Lagoa Salgada, the Company’s guidance, and free cash flow generation in 2019 and the 

undertaking of various long-term optimization programs. Forward-looking information is not, and cannot 

be, a guarantee of future results or events. Forward-looking information is based on, among other things, 

opinions, assumptions, estimates and analyses that, while considered reasonable by Ascendant at the date 

the forward-looking information is provided, inherently are subject to significant risks, uncertainties, 

contingencies and other factors that may cause actual results and events to be materially different from 

those expressed or implied by the forward-looking information. The material factors or assumptions that 

Ascendant identified and were applied by Ascendant in drawing conclusions or making forecasts or 

projections set out in the forward-looking information include, but are not limited to, the ability of the 

Company to maintain the consistency of processing recovery levels, to improve grades in 2019, to deploy 

new mining equipment, increase contained metal production, maintain production rates, increase mill feed 

grades, reduce costs, make monthly shipments of concentrate, fully fund planned development, exploration 

and capital expenditures, maintain robust adjusted EBITDA and free cash flow in 2019, the ability to expand 

known Mineral Resources at Lagoa Salgada, the ability to achieve guidance and undertake various long-

term optimization programs and other events that may affect Ascendant's ability to develop its project; and 

no significant and continuing adverse changes in general economic conditions or conditions in the financial 

markets. 

 

The risks, uncertainties, contingencies and other factors that may cause actual results to differ materially 

from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking information may include, but are not limited to, 

risks generally associated with the mining industry, such as economic factors (including future commodity 

prices, currency fluctuations, energy prices and general cost escalation), uncertainties related to the 

development and operation of Ascendant's projects, dependence on key personnel and employee and union 

relations, risks related to political or social unrest or change, rights and title claims, operational risks and 

hazards, including unanticipated environmental, industrial and geological events and developments and 

the inability to insure against all risks, failure of plant, equipment, processes, transportation and other 

infrastructure to operate as anticipated, compliance with government and environmental regulations, 

including permitting requirements and anti-bribery legislation, volatile financial markets that may affect 

Ascendant's ability to obtain additional financing on acceptable terms, the failure to obtain required 

approvals or clearances from government authorities on a timely basis, uncertainties related to the geology, 

continuity, grade and estimates of Mineral Reserves and Mineral Resources, and the potential for variations 

in grade and recovery rates, uncertain costs of reclamation activities, tax refunds, hedging transactions, the 

inability of the Company to meet its guidance, as well as the risks discussed in Ascendant's most recent 

Annual Information Form on file with the Canadian provincial securities regulatory authorities and available 

at www.sedar.com. 

 

Should one or more risk, uncertainty, contingency, or other factor materialize, or should any factor or 

assumption prove incorrect, actual results could vary materially from those expressed or implied in the 

forward-looking information. Accordingly, the reader should not place undue reliance on forward-looking 

information. Ascendant does not assume any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking 

information after the date of this news release or to explain any material difference between subsequent 

actual events and any forward-looking information, except as required by applicable law. 

http://www.sedar.com/
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Shareholders of Ascendant Resources Inc. 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ascendant Resources Inc. (the Entity), which 

comprise: 

• the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 

• the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the years then ended 

• the consolidated statements of changes in equity for the years then ended 

• the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended 

• and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

consolidated financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, and its 

consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the 

Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report.   

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 

of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion.    

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements, which indicates that in order for the Entity to fund its 

operations and meet its obligations for the next twelve months the Company requires a recovery in zinc prices 

and obtaining additional financing. 

As stated in Note 1 in the financial statements, these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in 
Note 1 in the financial statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that casts significant doubt on the 
Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

  



 

  

 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information.  Other information comprises: 

• the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant Canadian 

Securities Commissions. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit and remain alert for indications that the other 

information appears to be materially misstated.   

We obtained the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant 

Canadian Securities Commissions as at the date of this auditors’ report.  If, based on the work we have 

performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact in the auditors’ report. 

We have nothing to report in this regard  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and for such internal control as 

management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, 

or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes 

our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement 

when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the 

financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 

professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also:  



 

  

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to 

the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. 

However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

control that we identify during our audit.  

• Provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters 

that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 

safeguards. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the group Entity to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are 

responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 

responsible for our audit opinion. 

 

 [insert signature] 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this auditors’ report is Lee Hodgkinson 

Toronto, Canada 

May 5, 2020 
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As at Notes December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

ASSETS

Current

Cash 1,684$                      3,808$                      

Trade and other receivables 5 3,814                        4,093                        

Concentrate and ore inventory 6 3,562                        2,003                        

Materials and supplies inventory 9,084                        9,436                        

Prepaid expenses and other assets 271                           325                           

Other financial assets 22 -                           137                           

Total current assets 18,415                      19,802                      

Non-current

Other receivables 5 4,223                        3,085                        

Investment in joint venture 7 3,761                        3,011                        

Property, plant and equipment 8 48,130                      39,340                      

Due from related parties 24 895                           833                           

Total assets 75,424                      66,071                      

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current

Trade and other payables 9 18,122                      19,374                      

Credit facility 10 4,314                        4,775                        

Revolving prepayment facility 11 10,000                      -                           

Deferred revenue 12 1,170                        -                           

Lease obligations 13 275                           1,185                        

Taxes payable 27 1,588                        1,577                        

Total current liabilities 35,469                      26,911                      

Non-current

Deferred revenue 12 5,299                        -                           

Lease obligations 13 362                           270                           

Provision for environmental rehabilitation 14 7,381                        6,665                        

Provision for future termination payments 15 10,993                      8,601                        

Total liabilities 59,504                      42,447                      

Shareholders' equity

Share capital 16 36,194                      36,041                      

Warrants 17 4,196                        4,935                        

Share-based payment reserve 18 3,312                        3,095                        

Accumulated other comprehensive income 2,371                        2,299                        

Deficit (30,153)                     (22,746)                     

Total shareholders' equity 15,920                      23,624                      

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 75,424$                    66,071$                    

Nature of Operations and Going Concern (Note 1) , Commitments and Contingencies (Note 25) 

APPROVED AND AUTHORIZED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:

Signed: "PETRA DECHER" Signed: "MARK BRENNAN"

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



 

 

ASCENDANT RESOURCES INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, excepts for share and per share amounts) 

 

  

  

Notes December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

REVENUE 19 77,816$                   85,618$                   

MINE OPERATING EXPENSES

Mining 40,336                     38,334                     

Processing 13,142                     12,129                     

Government royalties 2,011                       4,375                       

Selling, General and Administration 11,088                     9,971                       

Concentrate inventory (1,559)                      4,641                       

Depreciation and amortization 7,204                       4,712                       

Total mine operating expenses 72,222                     74,162                     

INCOME FROM MINING OPERATIONS 5,594$                     11,456$                   

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 20 5,062                       5,984                       

(LOSS) INCOME BEFORE OTHER EXPENSE (INCOME) 532                          5,472                       

OTHER EXPENSE 20 8,741                       804                          

(LOSS) INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES (8,209)                      4,668                       

Income taxes 27 -                           (1,663)                      

Net (loss) income for the period (8,209)$                    3,005$                     

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Translation adjustment                            (89)                            (34)

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Remeasurement of future termination payments 15                           161                        1,600 

Other comprehensive income (loss)                              72                        1,566 

Total comprehensive (loss) income (8,137)$                    4,571$                     

Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share

Basic (0.11)$                      0.04$                       

Diluted (0.11)$                      0.04$                       

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

Basic 16 77,343,646              74,310,271              

Diluted 16 77,343,646              77,766,769              

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Year ended



 

 

ASCENDANT RESOURCES INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars) 

 

 

Notes December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net (loss) income for the period (8,209)$                            3,005$                             

Add (deduct) the following items

Advances to joint venture 7 2,639                               2,248                               

Depreciation 8 7,313                               4,724                               

Advance payment on silver stream 12 7,500                               -                                  

Amortization of deferred revenue 12 (1,630)                              -                                  

Finance costs on deferred revenue 12 599                                  -                                  

Accretion expense on rehabilitation liabilities 14 284                                  310                                  

Change in environmental rehabilitation estimate 14 -                                  (2,788)                              

Environmental rehabilitation payments 14 (2)                                     (25)                                   

Charge on termination obligations 15 2,842                               2,335                               

Termination liability payments 15 (289)                                 (932)                                 

Share based payments 18 318                                  1,022                               

Value added tax write-down 5 292                                  904                                  

Materials and supplies inventory adjustment -                                  1,391                               

Materials and supplies obsolescence adjustment -                                  266                                  

Gain on settlement of amounts payable 20 -                                  (1,592)                              

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 11,657                             10,868                             

Total changes in non-cash working capital 26 (3,926)                              5,408                               

Net cash flows from operating activities 7,731                               16,276                             

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investment in joint venture 7 (750)                                 (1,361)                              

Advances to joint venture 7 (2,639)                              (1,918)                              

Additions to property, plant and equipment 8 (15,646)                            (21,738)                            

Net cash flows (used in) investing activities (19,035)                            (25,017)                            

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from revolving credit facility 10 7,570                               5,850                               

Repayment of revolving credit facility 10 (8,031)                              (1,075)                              

Proceeds from revolving prepayment facility 11 28,500                             -                                  

Repayment of prepayment facility 11 (18,500)                            -                                  

Payments on leases 13 (409)                                 (305)                                 

Proceeds from exercise of warrants 16 115                                  151                                  

Net cash flows provided by financing activities 9,245                               4,621                               

Change in cash during the period (2,059)                              (4,120)                              

Cash, beginning of period 3,808                               8,041                               

Impact of foreign exchange in cash balances (65)                                   (113)                                 

Cash, end of period 1,684$                             3,808$                             

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Year ended



 

 

ASCENDANT RESOURCES INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars) 

 

Notes

Number of 

shares

 Issued Share 

Capital  Warrants 

 Share-based payments 

reserve 

 Accumulated 

deficit 

 Accumulated other 

comprehensive 

income  Total 

Balance, December 31, 2018          77,092,139  $              36,041  $        4,935  $                           3,095  $             (22,746)  $                       2,299  $ 23,624 

Warrants expired 17                        -                           -                (701)                                     -                         701                                 -               -   

Warrants exercised 17               600,000                      153                (38)                                     -                           -                                   -            115 

Options expired 18                        -                           -                    -                                   (101)                       101                                 -               -   

RSUs vested 18                        -                           -                    -                                    318                         -                                   -            318 

Loss for the period                        -                           -                    -                                       -                     (8,209)                                 -        (8,209)

Foreign currency translation 

adjustment                        -                           -                    -                                       -                           -                                 (89)           (89)

Remeasurement adjustment of 

termination obligation                        -                           -                    -                                       -                           -                                161          161 

Balance, December 31, 2019          77,692,139  $              36,194  $        4,196  $                           3,312  $             (30,153)  $                       2,371  $ 15,920 

Balance, December 31, 2017          74,214,593  $              34,194  $        4,967  $                           2,106  $             (25,770)  $                          733     16,230 

Shares issued as consideration 

for investment in joint venture 7            2,052,546                    1,650                  -                                       -                           -                                   -         1,650 

Warrants exercised 17               800,000                      183                (32)                                     -                           -                                   -            151 

RSUs vested 18                        -                           -                    -                                 1,022                         -                                   -         1,022 

RSUs redeemed 18                 25,000                        14                  -                                     (14)                         -                                   -               -   

RSUs cancelled 18                        -                           -                    -                                     (19)                         19                                 -               -   

Income for the period                        -                           -                    -                                       -                      3,005                                 -         3,005 

Foreign currency translation 

adjustment                        -                           -                    -                                       -                           -                                 (34)           (34)

Remeasurement adjustment of 

termination obligation                         -                    -                                       -                           -                             1,600       1,600 

Balance, December 31, 2018          77,092,139  $              36,041  $        4,935  $                           3,095  $             (22,746)  $                       2,299  $ 23,624 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1.  NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 

 

Ascendant Resources Inc. (“Ascendant” or “the Company”) through its 100%-owned subsidiary American 

Pacific Honduras S.A. (“AMPAC”) owns the producing El Mochito zinc, silver and lead mine in west-central 

Honduras. Since acquiring the mine in December 2016, the Company focused on increasing zinc equivalent 

production and optimizing mine operations. The Company’s head office, principal address and records office 

are located at 110 Yonge Street, Suite 501, Toronto-Dominion Centre, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5C 1T4. 

 

In December 2019, a novel strain of the Coronavirus emerged in China. It has now spread to many other 

countries and infections have been reported globally. The extent to which the coronavirus impacts the 

Company’s business, including its operations, the market for its securities, and the ability to access financing 

will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted at this time. 

However, the impact of COVID-19 has had a significant impact on the global economy including zinc prices 

which declined significantly in March 2020.  This in turn had a significant negative impact on the financial 

position and results of operations of the El Mochito Mine, and correspondingly, on the Company. 

 

In April 2020, Ascendant entered into a share purchase agreement with Kirungu Corporation (“Kirungu”), to 

sell all of the issued and outstanding shares of AMPAC and its El Mochito mine (see note 29). The sale was 

completed by April 27, 2020.  Ascendant remains focused on its high-grade Lagoa Salgada VMS project in 

the Iberian Pyrite Belt in Portugal. The Company is also engaged in the evaluation of producing and 

advanced development stage mineral resource opportunities, on an ongoing basis. 

 

At March 31st, 2020 the Company had a minimal cash balance at Corporate. Following the closing of the sale 

of AMPAC on April 27, 2020, the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its 

ability to raise additional financing to be able to further explore its mineral properties, retain mining rights 

and to meet ongoing requirements for general operations. Even if the Company has been successful in the 

past in doing so, there can be no assurance that additional debt or equity financing will be available to meet 

these requirements or available on terms acceptable to Ascendant. These matters represent a material 

uncertainty that casts significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

 

The consolidated financial statements do not include adjustments to the carrying values of recorded assets 

and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. These 

adjustments may be material.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

 

(a) Statement of compliance: 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards and Interpretations (collectively “IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (“IASB”).  

 

These consolidated financial statements were approved for issuance by the Board of Directors on May 5, 

2020. 

 

(b) Functional and presentation currency: 

 

The functional currency of Ascendant Resources Inc. is the Canadian dollar (“CAD”). These consolidated 

financial statements are presented in US dollars (“USD”) which is also the functional currency of the 

Honduran subsidiary AMPAC. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand ($000) except where otherwise 

indicated. 

 

(c) Basis of measurement: 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 

derivatives, embedded derivatives, other financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), 

which are measured at fair value. 

 

The accounting policies set out in Note 3 have been applied consistently by the Company and its subsidiaries 

in preparing the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, except 

for IFRS 16, Leases as disclosed in Note 4.  

 

(d)  Use of accounting estimates and judgements: 

 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Company to 

make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies, reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 

consolidated financial statements, and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting 

period. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 

The Company reviews these estimates and underlying assumptions on an ongoing basis, based on 

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that the Company believes to be 

reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized prospectively in the 

period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

 

The following are significant judgements and estimates impacting the consolidated financial statements: 

 

− Mineral reserves and resources - the Company estimates mineral reserves and resources to determine 

future recoverable mine production based on assessment of geological, engineering and metallurgical 
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analyses, estimates of future production costs, capital costs and reclamation costs, as well as long term 

commodity prices and foreign exchange rates. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating 

mineral reserves and resources, including many factors beyond the Company’s control. The estimates 

are based on information compiled by appropriately qualified persons relating to the geological data 

on the size, depth and shape of the ore body and interpreting this data requires complex geological 

judgements.  

 

Changes in the mineral reserve or resource estimates may affect: 

- the carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets, capital works in progress, mining properties 

and plant and equipment; 

- depreciation expense for assets depreciated either on a unit-of-production basis or on a straight-

line basis where useful lives are restricted by the life of the related mine or plan; 

- the provision for decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities; and 

- the carrying value of deferred tax assets. 

 

- Property plant and equipment (note 8) - the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and 

exploration and evaluation assets on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets are significant and 

reflect multiple estimates and applications of judgement. Management exercises judgement in 

determining whether the costs related to exploration and evaluation are eligible for capitalization and 

whether they are likely to be recoverable by future production, which may be based on assumptions 

about future events and circumstances. Judgement and estimates are used when determining whether 

exploration and evaluation assets should be transferred to assets under construction within property, 

plant and equipment. For mines in the production stage, management applies judgement to determine 

development costs to be capitalized based on the extent they are incurred in order to access reserves 

mineable over more than one year. In doing this, estimates such as number of tonnes of waste to be 

removed over the life of the mining area and economically recoverable reserves extracted as a result. 

 

For depreciable property, plant and equipment assets, management makes estimates to determine 

depreciation. For assets depreciated using the straight-line method, useful lives of the assets or 

components are estimated. A significant estimate is required to determine the total production basis for 

units-of-production depreciation. The most currently available reserve and resource report is utilized in 

determining the basis which has material impacts on the amount of depreciation recorded through 

inventories and the consolidated income statements. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in 

estimating mineral reserves, and assumptions that were valid at the reporting date may change when 

new information becomes available. The actual volume of ore extracted and any changes in these 

assumptions could affect prospective depreciation rates and carrying values. 

 

- Tax provisions (note 28) - management makes estimates in determining the measurement and 

recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities recorded on the consolidated balance sheets. The 

measurement of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is based on tax rates that are expected 

to apply in the period that the asset is realized or liability is settled based on tax rates that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets, including those 

arising from unutilized tax losses, require management to assess the likelihood of taxable income in 

future periods in order to utilize recognized deferred tax assets. Estimates of future taxable income are 

based on forecasted cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws in each 
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jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, 

the ability to realize the net deferred tax assets recorded at the balance sheet date could be affected. At 

the end of each reporting period, management reassesses the period that assets are expected to be 

realized or liabilities are settled and the likelihood of taxable income in future periods in order to support 

and adjust the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities recognized on the consolidated balance 

sheets. 

 

− Functional currency (note 2b) - judgement was required in determining that the US dollar is the 

appropriate functional currency of certain subsidiaries of Ascendant. This was determined by 

assessing the currency which influences sales prices for concentrate and metals sales, labour and 

input costs, as well as the currency in which AMPAC finances its operations. If the judgement was 

altered and a different functional currency was determined for certain subsidiaries of Ascendant, this 

could result in material differences in the amounts recorded in the consolidated statement operations 

and comprehensive loss pertaining to foreign exchange gains or losses. 

 

- Provision for environmental rehabilitation (note 14) - significant judgement and estimates are utilized in 

the determination of the decommissioning and restoration provisions in the consolidated balance 

sheets. Judgement is involved in determining the timing and extent of cash outflows required to satisfy 

constructive obligations based on the timing of site closure in the Life-of-Mine (“LOM”) plan, expected 

unit costs to determine cash obligations to remediate disturbances and regulatory and constructive 

requirements to determine the extent of the remediation required. The timing of cash outflows and 

discount rates associated with discounting the provision are also key estimates. Changes in these 

estimates may result in a change in classification of the provision between non-current and current 

as well as material differences in the total provision recorded in the consolidated balance sheets. 

 

− Post-employment benefits (note 15) - the Company’s termination obligations relate mainly to ongoing 

severance plans. The Company estimates obligations related to the employee benefits plans using 

actuarial determinations that incorporate assumptions using management’s best estimates of factors 

including, salary escalation, retirement dates of employees and discount rates. Due to the complexity 

of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long-term nature, the termination obligation is 

highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. Management reviews all assumptions at each 

reporting date. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Company considers the interest 

rates on government bonds in the respective currency, with extrapolated maturities corresponding 

to the expected duration of the defined benefit obligation. The mortality rate is based on publicly 

available mortality tables for the specific country, and the Company bases future salary increases and 

severance increases on expected future inflation rates for Honduras. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 

consolidated financial statements and by all Company entities, except for IFRS 16 adopted in 2019. 

 

(a) Basis of consolidation: 

 

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its wholly-

owned subsidiaries, Morumbi Capital Inc. and AMPAC.  

 

Subsidiaries 

 

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. The Company controls an entity when it is exposed 

to, or has right to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 

returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 

consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

 

Business combinations and goodwill 

 

When the Company makes an acquisition, it first determines whether the assets acquired and liabilities 

assumed constitute a business, in which case the acquisition requires accounting as a business 

combination. Management applies judgement in determining whether the acquiree is capable of being 

conducted and managed for the purpose of providing a return, considering the inputs of the acquiree and 

processes applied to those inputs that have the ability to create outputs. 

 

The Company applies the acquisition method of accounting to business combinations, whereby goodwill 

is measured at the acquisition date as the excess fair value of the consideration transferred including the 

recognized amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree as compared to the fair value of the 

net assets acquired. When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognized immediately in 

the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. The assessment of fair values on 

acquisition includes those mineral reserves and resources that are able to be reliably measured. In 

determining these fair values, management must also apply judgement in areas including future cash 

flows, metal prices, exchange rates and appropriate discount rates.  

 

The consideration transferred is the aggregate of the fair values at the date of acquisition of the assets 

transferred, the liabilities incurred or assumed, and the equity instruments issued by the acquirer in 

exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognized in the consolidated 

statement of operations and comprehensive loss as incurred, unless they relate to issue of debt or equity 

securities. 
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Business combinations and goodwill (continued) 

 

Where applicable, the consideration transferred includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 

consideration arrangement, which is measured at its acquisition date fair value. Subsequent changes in 

such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period 

adjustments. All other subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an 

asset or liability are accounted for in accordance with relevant IFRS.  

 

After initial recognition, any goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the 

purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 

allocated to each of the Company’s cash generating units (“CGUs”) that are expected to benefit from the 

synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether any assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned 

to those units. Goodwill is allocated to the lowest level at which it is monitored for internal management 

purposes and is not larger than an operating segment before aggregation. Where goodwill forms part of 

a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed 

operation is included in the determination of any gain or loss on disposal. 

 

Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication of 

impairment. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the CGU is estimated in order to 

determine the extent of the impairment, if any. The recoverable amount is determined as the higher of 

fair value less costs of disposal and the CGU’s value in use. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not 

reversed. 

 

Fair value for a CGU is generally determined as the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected 

to arise from the continued use of the asset, including any expansion prospects, and its eventual disposal, 

using assumptions that an independent market participant may take into account. 

 

Value in use is determined as the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to arise from 

the continued use of the asset in its present form and its eventual disposal. Value in use is determined by 

applying assumptions specific to the Company’s continued use and cannot take into account future 

development. 

 

The weighted average cost of capital of comparable market participants is used as a starting point for 

determining the discount rates, with appropriate adjustments for the risk profile of the country in which 

the operations are located and the specific risks related to the development of the project. 
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Business combinations and goodwill (continued) 

 

Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent of other assets, the Company 

estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. If the carrying amount of an 

asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is reduced to its 

recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of 

operations and comprehensive loss. 

 
(b) Translation of foreign currencies: 

 

Management determines the functional currency of each subsidiary as the currencies of the primary 

economic environment in which the entity operates. 

 

Foreign currency transactions 

 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the entity at 

exchange rates in effect at the transaction dates. 

 

At the end of each reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 

translated to the functional currency using the period end exchange rate. Non-monetary assets and 

liabilities measured at fair value are translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value was 

determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are 

translated using exchange rates that were in effect at the transaction dates.  

 

Foreign currency gains and losses arising on period-end revaluations are recognized in the consolidated 

statement of operations and comprehensive loss. 

 

Foreign operations 

 

For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, assets and liabilities of entities that have 

functional currencies other than the US dollar are translated to US dollars at the reporting date using the 

exchange rate on that date. Revenue and expenses are translated at monthly average exchange rates that 

approximate those in effect at the transaction dates. Differences arising from these foreign currency 

translations are recognized in OCI and presented within equity in the foreign currency translation reserve. 

When a foreign operation is disposed, the relevant exchange differences accumulated in the foreign 

currency translation reserve are transferred to the consolidated statement of operations and 

comprehensive loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.  
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Net investment in a foreign operation 

 

Foreign currency gains and losses arising on translation of a monetary item receivable from or payable to 

a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future 

are considered to form part of a net investment in the foreign operation. Such gains and losses are 

recognized in OCI and presented within equity in the foreign currency translation reserve. 

 
(a) Revenue: 

 

Revenue from the sale of goods to customers is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 

or receivable, net of treatment and refining charges. Revenue from the sale of by-products is included in 

revenue. 

 

Sales revenue is recognized when control of the goods sold has been transferred to the buyer. Control is 

deemed to have passed to the customer when significant risks and rewards of the product has passed to 

the buyer, the Company has a present right to payment and physical possession of the product has been 

transferred to the buyer. For medium and long-term contracts, revenue recognition criteria are assessed 

for individual sales within the contracts.  

 

Sales of concentrate and certain other products are “provisionally priced”. For these contracts, sales prices 

are subject to final adjustment at the end of a future period after shipment, based on quoted market prices 

during the quotational period specified in the contract. Revenue is initially recorded based on an initial 

provisional invoice. Such a provisional sale contains an embedded derivative that must be separated from 

the host contract.  Subsequently, at each reporting date, until the provisionally priced sale is finalized, sales 

receivables are marked to market, with adjustments (both gains and losses) recorded within revenue and 

in trade and other receivables on the consolidated balance sheets.  

 

The Company only includes in the transaction price an amount which is not highly likely to be subject to 

significant subsequent revenue reversal. Within sales contracts with customers, separate performance 

obligations may arise pertaining to the shipping of goods sold. Where significant, costs and the transaction 

price are allocated on a relative stand-alone selling basis to any separate performance obligations and are 

recognized over the period of time the goods sold are shipped, on a gross basis. 
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Deferred Revenue 

 

Metal revenue subject to precious metal stream contracts 

 

The Company entered into a streaming arrangement with a customer (the “Silver Stream Arrangement “) 

pursuant to which, the Company received advanced consideration against the delivery of a portion of future 

silver metal production in reference to the Company’s El Mochito mine. In addition to the advanced 

consideration, the Company will also receive a cash payment as metal is delivered to the customer. Refer to 

Note 12 for details on the Silver Stream Arrangement.  

 

The Company recognized the advanced consideration as deferred revenue and recognizes the amounts in 

revenue as it satisfies its performance obligation to deliver metal to the customer over the life of the 

contract. In contracts for the delivery of silver, the performance obligation is typically at the point in time 

when the metal is credited to the metal account for the customer. Following the crediting of silver to the 

customer’s metal account, the customer has legal title to, physical possession of, and the risks and rewards 

of ownership of the metal, and therefore, the ability to direct the use of, and obtain substantially all of the 

remaining benefits, from the metal. 

 

The Company determines the amortization of deferred revenue to the consolidated statements of 

operations on a per unit basis. In streaming arrangements, the estimated total quantity of metal expected 

to be delivered to the customer over the term of the contract is used. Subsequent changes to expected 

deliveries result in an adjustment to revenue in the year of change and is retroactively adjusted for the new 

number of ounces or pounds expected to be delivered under the contract. 

 

Where consideration is received in advance of the Company’s performance of its obligation, there is an 

inherent financing component in the transaction. When the period between the receipt of consideration and 

revenue recognition is greater than one year, the Company determines whether the financing component 

is significant to the contract. 

 

Where a contract is determined to have a significant financing component, the transaction price is adjusted 

to reflect the financing. The discount rate used in adjusting the promised amount of consideration is the 

rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Company and the customer at 

contract inception. This rate is not subsequently adjusted for any other changes over the contract term. 

 

The accretion of the interest expense is recognized in the finance expense line in the consolidated 

statements of operations, unless capitalized to assets under construction in accordance with the Company’s 

policy on capitalized borrowing costs. 

 

The Company estimates the current portion of deferred revenue based on quantities anticipated to be 

delivered under the contract over the next twelve months. 
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(b) Cash and cash equivalents: 

 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash, demand deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments that 

are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 

value. Cash equivalents have maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition. Interest earned 

is included in other income on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss and in 

investing activities on the consolidated statements of cash flows. 

 

Amounts that are restricted from being used for at least twelve months after the reporting date are 

classified as non-current assets and presented in restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheets. 

Changes in restricted cash balances are classified as investing activities on the consolidated statements of 

cash flows. 

 

(c) Inventories: 

 

Inventories consist of stockpiles, in-process inventory (concentrates), and supplies. Concentrates and all 

other saleable products are valued at the lower of cost and estimated net realizable value. Net realizable 

value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs 

necessary to make the sale. Where the net realizable value is less than cost, the difference is charged to 

the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss as an impairment.  

 

Cost of production of concentrate inventory is determined on a weighted average cost. The cost of 

production includes direct costs associated with conversion of production inventory: material, labour, 

contractor expenses, and an attributable portion of production overheads and depreciation of all property, 

plant and equipment involved with the mining and production process. 

 

Materials and supplies include consumable stores and spare parts used in operations. Appropriate 

allowances for damage, obsolescence and slow-moving items are recorded based on an identification 

process. Spare parts include spares that are regularly replaced, usually as part of a replacement 

programme (circulating spares). However, major spare parts on hand to ensure the uninterrupted 

operation of the production equipment before an unexpected breakdown or equipment failure and stand-

by equipment are accounted for as property, plant and equipment and depreciated over the same period 

as the component they are associated with. 

 

Supplies are valued at the lower of average cost and net realizable value. A regular review is undertaken 

to determine the extent of any provision for obsolescence. 

 

(d) Intangible assets: 

 

Computer software is measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment 

losses. Costs include all directly attributable costs necessary to create, produce and prepare the asset to 

be capable of operating it in the manner intended by management. 

 

Amortization methods, useful lives, and residual values if any, are reviewed at each year end and adjusted 

prospectively, if required. When an intangible asset is disposed of, or when no further economic benefits 
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are expected, the asset is derecognized, and any resulting gain or loss is recorded in the consolidated 

statement of operations and comprehensive loss. 

 

Currently, the Company’s intangible assets relate primarily to enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) 

information systems, which are amortized over their estimated useful lives. 

 

(e) Exploration and evaluation expenditures: 

  

Exploration and evaluation activity begins when the Company obtains legal rights to explore a specific area 

and involves the search for mineral reserves, the determination of technical feasibility, and the assessment 

of commercial viability of an identified resource. Expenditures incurred in the exploration and evaluation 

phase include the cost of acquiring interests in mineral rights, licenses and properties and the costs of the 

Company’s exploration activities, such as researching and analyzing existing exploration data, gathering data 

through geological studies, exploratory drilling, trenching, sampling, and certain feasibility studies. 

 

Exploration and evaluations costs are capitalized as either tangible or intangible exploration or evaluation 

assets according to the nature of the assets acquired. These costs include acquisition of rights to explore, 

exploration drilling, carrying costs of unproved properties, and any other activities relating to the evaluation 

of technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting mineral resources. Cash flows associated with 

exploration and evaluation assets are classified as investing activities in the consolidated statements of cash 

flows. 

 

Judgement is required in determining whether the respective costs are eligible for capitalization where 

applicable, and whether they are likely to be recoverable, which may be based on assumptions about future 

events and circumstances. Estimates and assumptions made may change if new information becomes 

available. Management has determined that exploration and evaluation costs incurred and capitalized have 

future economic benefits and are economically recoverable. In making this judgment, management has 

assessed various sources of information including but not limited to the geologic and metallurgic 

information, history of conversion of mineral deposits to proven and probable mineral reserves, operating 

management expertise and existing permits. Costs incurred relating to the acquisition and claim 

maintenance of mineral properties, including option payments and annual fees to maintain the project in 

good standing, are capitalized and deferred by project until the project to which they relate is sold, 

abandoned, impaired or placed into production. 

 

The Company monitors exploration and evaluation assets for factors that may indicate their carrying 

amounts are not recoverable. If such indicators are identified, the Company tests the exploration and 

evaluation assets or their CGUs, as applicable, for impairment. The Company also tests for impairment when 

assets reach the end of the exploration and evaluation phase. 
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Exploration and evaluation assets are transferred to assets under construction within property, plant and 

equipment once the Company determines that probable future economic benefits will be generated as a 

result of the expenditures. The Company’s determination of probable future economic benefit is based on 

management’s evaluation of the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the geological properties 

of a given ore body based on information obtained through evaluation activities, including metallurgical 

testing, resource and reserve estimates and the economic assessment of whether the ore body can be 

mined economically. Tools that may be used to determine this include a preliminary feasibility study, 

confidence in converting resources into reserves and the probability that the property could be developed 

into a mine site. At that time, the property is considered to enter the development phase, and subsequent 

development costs are capitalized. 

 

(f) Property, plant and equipment: 

 

The Company measures items of property, plant and equipment at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

any accumulated impairment losses. 

 

The initial cost of an item of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price or construction costs, 

including import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, any costs directly attributable to bringing the 

asset into operation, and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs. The initial cost of property, plant and 

equipment also includes the initial estimate of the cost of dismantling and removing the item and restoring 

the site on which it is located, the obligation for which the Company incurs either when the item is acquired 

or as a consequence of having used the item during a particular period for purposes other than to produce 

inventories during that period. 

 

Capitalization of costs ceases once an asset is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 

operating in the manner intended by management. At this time, depreciation commences. For a new mine, 

this occurs upon commencement of commercial production. Any revenue earned in the process of 

preparing an asset to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management is included in the 

cost of the constructed asset. Any other incidental revenue earned prior to commencement of commercial 

production is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. 

 

Carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment, including assets under finance leases, are depreciated 

to their estimated residual value over the estimated useful lives of the assets or the estimated life of the 

related mine or plant, if shorter. Where components of an asset have different useful lives, depreciation is 

calculated on each separate component. Components may be physical or non-physical, including the cost 

of regular major inspections and overhauls required in order to continue operating an item of property, 

plant and equipment. 
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Certain items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a unit-of-production basis. The unit-of- 

production method is based on proven and probable tonnes of ore reserves. There are numerous 

uncertainties inherent in estimating ore reserves, and assumptions that were valid at the reporting date 

may change when new information becomes available. The actual volume of ore extracted and any changes 

in these assumptions could affect prospective depreciation rates and carrying values. 

 

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized on disposal or when no 

future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Upon derecognition of an item of property, 

plant and equipment, the difference between its carrying value and net sales proceeds, if any, is presented 

as a gain or loss in other operating income or expense in the consolidated statement of operations and 

comprehensive loss. 

 

(i) Assets under construction: 

 

Assets under construction consist of items of property, plant and equipment in the course of 

construction or mineral properties in the course of development, including those transferred 

upon completion of the exploration and evaluation phase. On completion of construction or 

development, costs are transferred to plant and equipment and/or mining properties as 

appropriate. Assets under construction are not depreciated. 

 

(ii) Mining properties: 

 

Mining properties consist of costs transferred from assets in construction when a mining 

property reaches commercial production, costs of subsequent mine and exploration 

development, and acquired mining properties in the production stage. 

 

Mining properties include costs directly attributable to bringing a mineral asset into the state 

where it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management and includes such costs 

as the cost of shafts, ramps, track haulage drifts, ancillary drifts, pumps, electrical substations, 

refuge stations, ventilation raises, permanent manways, and ore and waste pass raises. The 

determination of development costs to be capitalized during the production stage of a mine 

operation requires the use of judgements and estimates such as estimates of tonnes of waste 

to be removed over the life of the mining area and economically recoverable reserves extracted 

as a result. 

 

A mining property is considered to be capable of operating in a manner intended by 

management when it commences commercial production. Upon commencement of commercial 

production, a mining property is depreciated on a unit-of-production method. Unit-of-

production depreciation rates are determined based on the related proven and probable 

mineral reserves. 

 

Subsequent mine development costs are capitalized to the extent they are incurred in order to 

access reserves mineable over more than one year. Ongoing maintenance and development 

expenditures are expensed as incurred and included in mine production expenses in profit or 

loss. These include ore stope access drifts, footwall and hanging-wall drifts in stopes, drawpoints, 
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drill drifts, sublevels, slots, drill raises, stope manway access raises and definition diamond 

drilling. 

 

(ii) Property, plant and equipment: 

 

Plant and equipment consists of buildings and fixtures, surface and underground fixed and 

mobile equipment and assets under finance lease. 

 

Plant and equipment are depreciated on either unit-of-production or straight-line basis based 

on factors including the production life of assets and mineable reserves. In general, mining 

assets are depreciated using a unit-of-production method; equipment is depreciated using the 

straight-line method, based on the shorter of its useful life and that of the related mine or facility; 

and plants are depreciated using the straight-line method, with useful lives limited by those of 

related mining assets. 

 

(iii) Depreciation rates of major categories of assets: 

 

- Mining properties - unit-of-production 

- Mining assets  - unit-of-production 

- Other plant assets - straight-line over 1 to 5 years 

  unit-of-production 

- Equipment  - straight-line over 1 to 5 years 

 

The Company reviews its depreciation methods, remaining useful lives and residual values at 

least annually and accounts for changes in estimates prospectively. 

 

(g) Impairment of non-financial assets: 

 

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of property, plant and 

equipment, exploration and evaluation assets and intangible assets - computer software to determine 

whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the Company estimates the 

recoverable amount of the asset in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The 

Company generally assesses impairment at the level of CGUs, which are the smallest identifiable groups 

of assets that generate cash inflows that are largely independent of cash inflows from other assets. 

 

The Company allocates exploration and evaluation assets to CGUs based on their operating segment, 

geographic location and management’s intended use for the property. Exploration and evaluation assets 

are allocated to CGUs separate from those containing producing or development-phase assets, except 

where exploration and evaluation assets have the potential to significantly affect the future production of 

producing or development-phase assets. 
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Where an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU 

is made. The recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use: 

 

− Fair value less costs of disposal is the amount obtainable from the sale of the asset or CGU in an arm’s 

length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, less costs of disposal. Fair value for 

mineral assets is often determined as the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected 

to arise from the continued use of the asset, including any expansion prospects, and its eventual 

disposal, using assumptions that an independent market participant may take into account. These 

cash flows are discounted by an appropriate discount rate that reflects current market assessments 

of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset to arrive at a net present value of the 

asset. 

 

− Value in use is determined as the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to arise 

from the continued use of the asset or CGU in its present form and its eventual disposal, discounted 

using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and risks 

specific to the asset for which estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. Value in use 

calculations apply assumptions specific to the Company’s continued use and cannot take into account 

future development. These assumptions are different to those used in calculating fair value, and 

consequently the value in use calculation is likely to give a different result to a fair value calculation. 

 

The Company estimates future cash flows based on estimated future recoverable mine production, 

expected sales prices (considering current and historical commodity prices, price trends and related 

factors), production levels and cash costs of production, all based on detailed engineering LOM plans. 

Future recoverable mine production is determined from reserves and resources after taking into account 

estimated dilution and recoveries during mining, and estimated losses during ore processing and 

treatment. Estimates of recoverable production from measured, indicated and inferred mineral resources 

not included in the LOM plan are assessed for economic recoverability and may also be included in the 

valuation of fair value less costs of disposal. Gains from the expected disposal of assets are not included 

in estimated future cash flows. Assumptions underlying future cash flow estimates are subject to risks and 

uncertainties. Changes in estimates may affect the expected recoverability of the Company's investments 

in mining properties. 

 

If the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the carrying amount is reduced 

to the recoverable amount, and an impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of 

operations and comprehensive loss in the expense category consistent with the function of the impaired 

asset or CGU.  
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(h) Provisions: 

 

Provisions are recognized when the Company or its subsidiaries has a present obligation (legal or 

constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 

the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognized 

as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end 

of the reporting period. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by 

discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre‐tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 

time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the 

increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a finance cost. 

 

Contingent liabilities are recognized in the consolidated financial statements, if estimable and probable, and 

are disclosed in notes to the financial information unless their occurrence is remote. 

 

Mine closure and restoration 

 

Provisions for mine closure and restoration are made in respect of the estimated future costs of closure and 

restoration and for environmental rehabilitation costs (which include such costs as dismantling and 

demolition of infrastructure, removal of residual materials and remediation of disturbed areas) in the 

accounting period when the related environmental disturbance occurs. The provision is discounted using a 

pre‐tax rate and the accretion is included in finance costs. At the time of establishing the provision, the net 

present value of the obligation is capitalized as part of the cost of mineral properties. 

 

The provision is reviewed on an annual basis for changes in cost estimates, discount rates, inflation and 

operating lives. The net present value of changes in cost estimates of the mine closure and restoration 

obligations are capitalized to mineral properties. 

 

Restoration activities will occur primarily upon closure of a mine but can occur from time to time throughout 

the life of the mine. As restoration projects are undertaken, their costs are charged against the provision as 

the costs are incurred. 

 

Termination obligations and other employee benefits 

 

Certain long-term employee benefits are specifically payable when employment is terminated. The expected 

costs of these benefits are accrued in the period of employment. Actuarial gains and losses arising from 

experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to other 

comprehensive loss in the period in which they arise. These obligations are valued annually by independent 

qualified actuaries.  
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(i) Financial Instruments: 

 

Non-derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset 

or financial liability not measured at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 

Measurement in subsequent periods depends on the financial instrument’s classification. The Company 

determines the classification of its financial instruments and non-financial derivatives at initial recognition. 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated balance sheets 

when, and only when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a 

net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

  

The classification of financial assets is based on the results of the contractual characteristics test and the 

business model assessment which will result in the financial asset being classified as either: amortized cost, 

fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) or fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”). 

 

(i) Non-derivative financial instruments - classification:  

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Provisionally priced zinc sales receivables and the Company’s advances to associates and joint ventures 

where repayments do not meet the criteria as Solely Payments of Principal and Interest (“SPPI”) are 

classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and are measured at fair value. The 

unrealized gains or losses related to changes in fair value are reported in other finance income/expense 

in the consolidated income statements, except gains and losses on the non-hedge financial derivatives 

related to customer sales contracts are presented in revenue. 

 

Amortized cost 

Cash and other receivables are classified as and measured at amortized cost and are carried at amortized 

cost using the effective interest rate method, less impairment losses, if any. 

 

Non-derivative financial liabilities 

Accounts payable and credit facility are initially recognised at FVTPL and subsequently accounted for at 

amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method.  

 

(ii)     Derivatives: 

 

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value when the Company becomes a party to the derivative 

contract and are subsequently re-measured to fair value at the end of each reporting period. The 

resulting gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated income statements immediately unless the 

derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument. Derivatives with positive fair value are 

recognized as assets; derivatives with negative fair value are recognized as liabilities. 

 

Contracts to buy or sell non-financial items that meet the definition of a derivative but were entered into 

and are held in accordance with the Company's expected purchase, sale or usage requirements are not 

recognized as derivatives. Such contracts are recorded as non-derivative purchases and sales.  
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(iii)    Embedded derivatives: 

 

The Company considers whether a contract contains an embedded derivative when it becomes a party 

to the contract. Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated 

as separate derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host 

contracts and the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL. 

 

(iv)    Fair values of financial instruments: 

 

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability 

settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s-length transaction. 

 

Fair values of financial instruments traded in active markets are determined based on quoted market 

prices, where available.  

 

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, fair values are determined based on appropriate 

valuation techniques. Such techniques may include discounted cash flow analysis, using recent arm’s-

length market transactions, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially 

the same, and other valuation models. 

 

The Company applies a hierarchy to classify valuation methods used to measure financial instruments 

carried at fair value. Levels 1 to 3 are defined based on the degree to which fair value inputs are 

observable and have a significant effect on the recorded fair value, as follows: 

 

     Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

     Level 2: Valuation techniques use significant observable inputs, either directly (i.e., as prices) or 

indirectly (i.e., derived from prices), or valuations are based on quoted prices for similar instruments; and 

     Level 3: Valuation techniques use significant inputs that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs). 

 

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments is provided in note 22. 

 

(vi)    Derecognition of financial instruments: 

 

The Company derecognizes financial assets when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets 

expire, or when the Company transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial 

assets in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset 

are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Company is 

recognized as a separate asset or liability. 

 

The Company derecognizes financial liabilities when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled 

or expire or when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially 

different. 
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(j) Taxation: 

 

Current tax 

 

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid 

to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are 

enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

 

The Company is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in 

determining the worldwide provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There are many 

transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary 

course of business. The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax based on estimates of whether 

additional taxes will be due. Where the final outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that 

were initially recorded, such differences will affect the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period 

in which such determination is made. 

 

Additionally, future changes in tax laws in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates could limit the 

ability of the Company to obtain tax deductions in future periods. 

 

Deferred Tax 

 

Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method in respect of temporary differences at the 

balance sheet date between the tax basis of assets and liabilities, and their carrying amounts for financial 

reporting purposes. 

 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

- where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill, or the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of 

the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 

interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be 

controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused 

tax assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 

which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax 

losses can be utilized, except: 

- where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the 

initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 

time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

- in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 

and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable 

that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available 

against which the temporary differences can be utilized. 
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The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to 

the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of 

the deferred income tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are reassessed at 

each balance sheet date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 

profit will be available to allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

 

Judgement is required in determining whether deferred tax assets are recognized on the consolidated 

balance sheets. Deferred tax assets, including those arising from unutilized tax losses, require management 

to assess the likelihood of taxable profit in future periods in order to utilize recognized deferred tax assets. 

Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of 

existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ 

significantly from estimates, the ability to realize the net deferred tax assets recorded at the balance sheet 

date could be affected. 

 

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods 

in which the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws enacted or 

substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

 

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists 

to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same 

taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

 

Current and deferred taxes relating to items recognized outside profit or loss (whether in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity) are recognized outside profit or loss and not in the consolidated 

income statements. Mining taxes and royalties are treated and disclosed as current and deferred taxes if 

they have the characteristics of an income tax. 

 

(k) Loss per share: 

 

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) data for its common shares. Basic 

EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the 

weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by 

adjusting the profit or loss attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number of 

common shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares, which currently consist 

of stock options and RSUs granted to employees and warrants.  

 

When calculating earnings per share for periods where the Company has a loss, Ascendant's calculation of 

diluted earnings per share excludes any incremental shares from the assumed conversion of stock options, 

RSUs, and warrants as they would be anti-dilutive. 

 

(l) Share Capital and Reserves: 

 

Transaction costs 

 

Transaction costs directly attributable to equity transactions are recognized as a deduction from equity.  
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Share-based payment reserve 

 

Share-based payment reserve is used for equity-settled share-based payments and includes amounts for 

stock options and RSUs granted, vested and not exercised. 

 

Foreign currency translation reserve 

 

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation 

of the financial statements of foreign operations. Exchange differences arising from the translation of the 

financial statements of foreign operations form part of the net investment in the foreign operation. 

Translation gains and losses remain in the reserve until disposal of all or a portion of the foreign operation. 

 

(m) Share-based payments: 

 

The Company maintains a Restricted Share Unit (“RSU”) and stock option plan for employees, directors, and 

other qualified individuals. 

 

Equity-settled transactions, which include RSUs and stock options, are measured by reference to their fair 

value at the grant date. The fair value for RSUs is determined using the market value of the common shares, 

as listed on the TSX, at the close of business at the grant date. The fair value for stock options is determined 

using a Black-Scholes option pricing model, which relies on estimates of the future risk-free interest rate, 

future dividend payments, future share price volatility and the expected average life of options. The 

Company believes this model adequately captures the substantive features of the option awards, and are 

appropriate to calculate their fair values. The fair value determined for both RSUs and stock options at grant 

date is recognized over the vesting period in accordance with the vesting terms and conditions, with a 

corresponding increase to share-based payment reserve.  

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at 

the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the determination of the fair 

value of equity-settled share-based payment transactions are set out in Note 16. The fair value determined 

at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed in profit or loss over the vesting 

period in accordance with vesting terms and conditions, with a corresponding increase to share-based 

payment reserve. At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the number of 

equity instruments expected to vest, if any.  

 

(n) Leases 

 

Finance leases, under which substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased 

item are transferred to the Company, are capitalized as assets at the inception of the lease at the lower of 

fair value or the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between 

finance charges and the reduction of the liability so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest on the 

remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are reflected in the consolidated income statements as 

finance costs. 
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Under operating lease arrangements, the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are not transferred to 

the Company. Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the consolidated income 

statements on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 

(o) Interests in Joint Arrangements 

 

A joint arrangement can take the form of a joint venture or joint operation. All joint arrangements involve a  

contractual arrangement that establishes joint control, which exists only when decisions about the activities 

that significantly affect the returns of the investee require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 

A joint operation is a joint arrangement in which the Company has rights to the assets and obligations for 

the liabilities relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a joint arrangement in which the Company has 

rights to only the net assets of the arrangement. 

 

Joint ventures are accounted for in accordance with the policy “Investments in Associates and Joint 

Ventures.” Joint operations are accounted for by recognizing the Company’s share of the assets, liabilities, 

revenue, expenses and cash flows of the joint operation in the consolidated financial statements. 

 

(p) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 

 

Investments over which the Company exercises significant influence and which the Company does not 

control or jointly control are associates. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity 

method, except when classified as held for sale. Investments in joint ventures as determined in accordance 

with the policy “Interests in Joint Arrangements” are also accounted for using the equity method.   

 

The equity method involves recording the initial investment at cost and subsequently adjusting the carrying 

value of the investment for the Company’s proportionate share of the profit or loss, other comprehensive 

income or loss and any other changes in the associate’s or joint venture’s net assets such as dividends.    

  

The Company’s proportionate share of the associate’s or joint venture’s profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income or loss is based on its most recent financial statements. Adjustments are made to 

align any inconsistencies between the Company’s accounting policies and the associate’s or joint venture’s 

policies before applying the equity method. Adjustments are also made to account for depreciable assets 

based on their fair values at the acquisition date of the investment and for any impairment losses recognized 

by the associate or joint venture.  

  

If the Company’s share of the associate’s or joint venture’s losses equals or exceeds the investment in the 

associate or joint venture, recognition of further losses is discontinued. After interest is reduced to zero, 

additional losses will be provided for and a liability recognized only to the extent that the Company has 

incurred legal or constructive obligations to provide additional funding or make payments on behalf of the 

associate or joint venture. If the associate or joint venture subsequently reports profits, the Company 

resumes recognizing its share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses 

not recognized.   

  

At each reporting date, the Company considers whether there is objective evidence of impairment in 

associates and joint ventures, and records an impairment charge accordingly. 
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4. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

New standards and interpretations adopted 

 

Leases 

 

As of January 1, 2019, the Company adopted IFRS 16, Leases (“IFRS 16”) that revises the definition of leases 

and requires companies to bring most leases on-balance sheet, recognizing new assets and liabilities. 

 

The Company has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the comparative 

information has not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.  

 

Leases recognition 

 

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 

contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 

in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an 

identified asset, the Company assesses whether: 

 

- The contract involves the use of an identified asset – this may be specified explicitly or implicitly and 

should be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct asset. If the 

supplier has a substantive substitution right, then an asset is not identified.  

- The Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset 

throughout the period of use; and  

- The Company has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Company has this right when it has the 

decision-making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used. In 

rare cases where the decision about how and for what purpose the asset is used is predetermined, the 

Company has the right to direct the use of the asset if either: 

- The Company has the right to operate the asset; or  

- The Company designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will be 

used.  

 

If a contract is assessed to contain a lease, a lease liability is recognized representing the present value of 

cash flows estimated to settle the contract, discounted using the discount rate implicit in the lease, or if that 

is not available, a discount rate which would be required if the underlying asset was acquired through a 

financing arrangement. The Company will also recognize a right-of-use asset (“ROU”) that will generally be 

equal to the lease obligation at adoption. The ROU is subsequently amortized over the life of the contract. 

 

This policy is applied to contracts entered into, or changed, on or after January 1, 2019. 

 

The ROU asset is initially measured at cost, and subsequently at cost less any accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses, adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.  

 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 

commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 
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determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company uses its incremental 

borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

 

The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and decreased by lease 

payments made. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in 

index or rate, a change in the estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value 

guarantee, or as appropriate, changes in the assessment of whether a purchase or extension option is 

reasonably certain to be exercised or a termination option is reasonably certain not to be exercised. 

 

Transition 

 

For leases that were classified as finance leases under IAS 17, the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset 

and the lease liability at January 1, 2019 are determined at the carrying amount of the lease asset and lease 

liability under IAS 17 immediately before that date. For leases classified as operating leases under IAS 17, 

lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the 

Company’s incremental borrowing rate as at January 1, 2019 and the related right-of-use assets were 

recognized at amounts equal to the corresponding lease liability. 

 

The Company used the following practical expedients when applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified 

as operating leases under IAS 17. 

- Leases of low dollar value will continue to be expensed as incurred. 

- Applied the exemption not to recognize ROU assets and liabilities for leases with less than 12 months of 

lease term. 

- Excluded initial direct costs from measuring the ROU asset at the date of initial application. 

- Applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with similar characteristics. 

 

The below table is a reconciliation of the lease commitments disclosed at December 31, 2018 in the 

Company’s consolidated financial statements and the lease liability recognized as a result of the adoption 

of IFRS 16 on January 1, 2019. When measuring the value of the lease liabilities, the Company discounted 

lease payments using its incremental borrowing rate at January 1, 2019. The weighted average rate applied 

was 10.78%.  

 

Operating lease commitment at December 31, 2018 -                                 

   Operating leases deemed not to be leases under IFRS 16 -                                 

Operating lease at December 31, 2018 deemed to be leases at January 1, 2019 -                                 

Discounted value using the incremental borrowing rate at January 1, 2019 -                                 

Finance lease liabilities recognized as at December 31, 2018 1,455                            

Contracts derecognized as a lease under IFRS 16 (1,001)                           

Contracts identified as a lease under IFRS 16 549                                

Lease liabilities recognized at January 1, 2019 1,003                            
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IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 

 

In June 2017, the IASB issued IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (“IFRIC 23”). The 

interpretation seeks to provide guidance on the accounting for current and deferred tax liabilities and assets 

in circumstances in which there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. On January 1, 2019 the Company 

adopted IFRIC 23, which did not have any effect on the Company’s financial statements.   

 

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

 

Amendment to IFRS 3 - Business Combinations 

  

The amendment to IFRS 3 clarifies the definition of a business and includes an optional concentration test 

to determine whether an acquired set of activities and assets is a business. This amendment is in effect 

January 1, 2020 and will be treated prospectively. The Group will apply these amendments to future 

acquisition transactions. 
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5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 
Current taxes receivable relates to refundable Harmonized Sales Tax (“HST”) in Canada 

 

The Company has recorded valued added tax (“VAT”) paid in Honduras and related to the El Mochito mine 

as a recoverable non-current asset. Honduras law allows for certain VAT payments to be recovered through 

ongoing applications for refunds or tax credits.  

 

6. INVENTORIES 

 

Stockpile inventories represent mineralized material that has been mined at the El Mochito mine.  All 

concentrate and ore inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

 
7. INVESTMENT IN REDCORP 

 

On June 22, 2018 (the “closing date”), the Company entered into an agreement with TH Crestgate GmbH 

(“Crestgate”) to acquire an initial 25% interest in its Portuguese subsidiary Redcorp - Empreendimentos 

Mineiros, Lda (“Redcorp”), which holds an 85% interest in the polymetallic Lagoa Salgada volcanogenic 

massive sulphide (“VMS”) Project, as well as an option to earn up to an 80% interest in Redcorp upon 

completion of certain milestones. 

 

In 2018 Ascendant acquired an initial effective 25% interest in Redcorp for an upfront payment of $2.45 

million composed of $0.8 million in cash and 2,053,546 Ascendant shares with a value of $1,650. Ascendant 

has the right to earn a further effective 25%, totaling a 50% interest in Redcorp by: 

 

• Investing a minimum of $9.0 million directly (as at December 31, 2019 $4.9 million has been funded) 

in Redcorp within 48 months of the closing date, to fund exploration drilling, metallurgical test work, 

economic studies and other customary activities for exploration and development, and 

Prepaid insurance and other - Corporate Notes December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Current

Trade receivables (i) 3,601$                       4,031$                       

Taxes receivable 53                               62                               

Lease receivable 13 160                            -                             

3,814                         4,093                         

Non-current

Taxes receivable 4,133                         3,085                         

Lease receivable 13 90                               -                             

4,223                         3,085                         

8,037$                       7,178$                       

(i) Trade receivables are from sales to Nyrstar

Notes Notes

Prepaid insurance and other - Corporate Notes December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Mineralized stockpiles 593                            295$                          

Concentrates 2,969                         1,708                         

Concentrate and ore inventory 3,562$                       2,003$                       
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• Making staged payments totaling $3.5 million to Crestgate according to the schedule below or 

earlier. 

 

• The Company then has the option to earn an additional 30%, totaling an 80% interest in Redcorp, by 

completing a feasibility study within 54 months (December 22, 2022) of the closing date and making a further 

payment of $2.5 million to Crestgate. 

• The Company will fund all development and future construction costs and recoup Crestgate’s share of 

investment through shareholders’ distributions until all the expenditures incurred in the project have been 

repaid. 

• Ascendant will retain a Right of First Offer on the remaining equity held by Crestgate.  

 

The Company accounts for this investment using the equity method; accordingly, the investment will be 

adjusted for the Company’s share of profit and loss at each reporting period. Redcorp’s exploration and 

evaluation expenditures are capitalized, and the Company did not report losses attributable to Redcorp’s 

operations in its Consolidated Financial Statements. The advances to Redcorp of $2,639 for the year ended 

December 31, 2019 (2018 - $2,248) are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and 

are measured at fair value, which resulted in a total expense of $2,639 (2018 - $2,248) recognized in other 

expense items (see note 20). 
 

The staged option payments and minimum exploration expenditures are summarized as follows: 

 
At December 31, 2019, the Company holds a 25% interest in the Redcorp joint venture, with the remaining 

75% held by Crestgate. The Redcorp joint venture is governed by the shareholders’ agreement between the 

joint venture partners that requires unanimous approval for certain key strategic, operating, investing and 

financing policies of the Redcorp joint venture. There are no publicly quoted market prices for Redcorp. 

  

Expressed in (000's) On or Before 

Due Date

Number 

of Shares

Minimum 

Exploration 

Expenditures

Exploration 

Expenditures 

Funded to Date

On closing date June 22, 2018 $800 (paid) $1,650 (issued) 2,053,546 -                     -                          

6 months after the closing date December 22, 2018 $250 (paid) -      -              -                     $2,248

12 months after the closing date June 22, 2019 $250 (paid) -      -              -                     $578

18 months after the closing date December 22, 2019 $500 (paid) -      -              -                     $2,056

24 months after the closing date June 22, 2020 $500 -      -              -                     -                          

36 months after the closing date June 22, 2021 $1,000 -      -              -                     -                          

48 months after the closing date June 22, 2022 $1,000 -      -              -                     -                          

$3,500 -      -              $9,000 $4,882

54 months after the closing date December 22, 2022 $2,500 -      -              Completing a feasibility study

To earn additional 25% interest, 

for a total 50% interest

To earn an initial 25% interest

To earn additional 30% interest, 

for a total 80% interest

Cash Option 

Payments

Share 

Payments
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The following is a summary of selected financial information of Redcorp prepared under IFRS, which is 

considered to be a joint venture at December 31, 2019, and the carrying amount of the investment on the 

consolidated statements of financial position: 

 
 

  

Item December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Current assets 349$                        618$                        

Non-current assets 4,600                       1,789                       

Current liabilities (37)                           (163)                         

Non-current liabilities (4,723)                      (1,996)                      

Net assets (liabilities) 189$                        248$                        

Statement of investment in joint venture:

Year ended Year ended

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Balance, beginning of period 3,011$                     -$                         

Investment in joint venture 750                          2,700                       

Acquisition costs -                           311                          

Balance, end of period 3,761$                     3,011$                     

Advances to joint venture:

Year ended Year ended

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Balance, beginning of period -$                         -$                         

Advances to joint venture 2,639                       2,248                       

Valuation allowance (2,639)                      (2,248)                      

Balance, end of period -$                         -$                         
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8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 
(i) Includes opening balance adjustments on adoption of IFRS 16. 

 

9. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES  

 
  

Notes

Property, 

Plant and 

Equipment

Assets Under 

Construction

Computer 

and Office 

Equipment

Right-of-use 

assets Total

Cost 

January 1, 2019 (i)         43,585               2,761                39             1,354    47,739 

Additions         15,235                    91                  -                      -      15,326 

Change in provision for environmental rehabilitation              434                      -                    -                      -            434 

Foreign currency translation                  -                        -                     2                  15            17 

As at December 31, 2019         59,254               2,852                41             1,369    63,516 

Accumulated depreciation and amortization

January 1, 2019 (i)          (7,740)                      -                 (37)               (292)      (8,069)

Charge for the period          (6,999)                      -                    (3)               (311)      (7,313)

Foreign currency translation                  -                        -                    (2)                    (2)             (4)

As at December 31, 2019        (14,739)                      -                 (42)               (605)   (15,386)

Net book value

Balance, December 31, 2018         36,577               2,761                   2                    -      39,340 

Balance, January 1, 2019 (i)         35,845               2,761                   2             1,062    39,670 

Balance, December 31, 2019         44,515               2,852                 (1)                764    48,130 

Cost as at January 1, 2018  $    24,021  $              666  $            36  $               -    $24,723 

Additions         20,589               2,095                   6                    -      22,690 

Foreign currency translation                  -                        -                    (4)                    -               (4)

As at December 31, 2018         44,610               2,761                38                    -      47,409 

Accumulated depreciation and amortization as at January 1, 2018          (3,321)                      -                 (26)                    -        (3,347)

Charge for the period          (4,712)                      -                 (12)                    -        (4,724)

Foreign currency translation                  -                        -                     2                    -                2 

As at December 31, 2018          (8,033)                      -                 (36)                    -        (8,069)

Net book value, December 31, 2018  $    36,577  $           2,761  $              2  $               -    $39,340 

Notes December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Trade Payables 7,010$                       7,779$                       

Accrued liabilities and other 11,112                       11,595                       

18,122$                     19,374$                     
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10. CREDIT FACILITY 

 

On August 24, 2018 the Company entered into a $5.0 million 12-month term revolving credit facility, which 

was renewed in August 2019. The credit facility bears interest at a rate of 8% for drawn downs in US dollar 

(“USD”) currency and 13% for drawn downs in Honduran Lempira (“HNL”) currency and is renewable on an 

annual basis. Any amounts drawn under the revolving credit facility are payable in 12 monthly instalments. 

The credit facility is secured by a pledge of the Company’s real estate assets at the port of Puerto Cortes, 

Honduras as well as a corporate guarantee to AMPAC by the parent company. The interest rate effective at 

December 31, 2019 was 8% relating solely to amounts drawn in USD. 

 

11. REVOLVING PREPAYMENT FACILITY 

  

On February 2019, the Company entered into an advance sales transaction pursuant to which, the Company 

received advanced consideration of $4,000 in exchange for future quarterly physical deliveries of zinc and 

lead concentrates from the Company’s El Mochito mine production to the counterparty. The advanced 

consideration is accounted for as a financial liability to be repaid, as zinc and lead concentrates are delivered 

to the counterparty. The facility may be immediately renewable upon settlement of the quarterly delivery of 

zinc and lead concentrate. During the year, the Company increased the facility from $4,000 to $10,000.  

At December 31, 2019, the Company had drawn down a total $28,500 and repaid a total $18,500 under the 

revised revolving prepayment facility. As at December 31, 2019 the $10,000 balance bears interest at the 

rate of 3 Month LIBOR + 5.50% until repaid. 

12. DEFERRED REVENUE 

 

On March 28, 2019, the Company entered into the Silver Stream Arrangement with Maverix Metals Inc. 

(“Maverix”) whereby the Company received an Initial Advance Payment of $7,500 against delivery of 22.5% 

of payable silver over the remainder of El Mochito’s mine life (the “Silver Stream Agreement”).  

 

In addition to the deposit payment, as silver is delivered to Maverix, the Company receives cash payments 

equal to the lesser of (i) 25% of the average silver price during the preceding month, and (ii) the applicable 

prevailing spot market price of silver at the time of delivery. 

 

This agreement includes a step-down option whereby the stream percentage will be reduced from 22.5% 

down to 20% upon certain production milestones being met. Upon satisfaction of additional conditions, a 

mechanism exists to increase the stream by an additional $7,500 for the right to purchase a combined total 

of 40% of the life of mine payable silver production from El Mochito under similar commercial terms. In this 

case, the stream percentage will be reduced to 30% once Maverix has purchased a cumulative total of 

3,000,000 ounces of silver.  

 

The Company recorded the Initial Advance Payment received as deferred revenue and recognizes amounts 

in revenue as silver is delivered to Maverix. The Company determines the amortization of deferred revenue 

on a per unit basis using the estimated total number of silver ounces expected to be delivered to Maverix 

over the life of El Mochito mine. The Company estimates the current portion of deferred revenue based on 

deliveries anticipated over the next twelve months based on the mine plan. 
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Deferred revenue consists of: 1) initial cash deposit received by the Company for future delivery of payable 

silver under the terms of the Silver Stream Agreement, and 2) a significant financing component of the Silver 

Streaming Agreement resulting from the difference in the timing of the upfront consideration received and 

the promised goods delivered. As such, the Company recognizes interest expense at each reporting period 

and will accrete the deferred revenue balance to recognize the significant financing element that is part of 

the Silver Stream Agreement. The interest rate of 12.23% is determined based on the rate implicit in the 

Silver Stream Agreement at the date of inception.  

 

The initial consideration received from the Silver Stream Arrangement is considered variable, subject to 

changes in the total silver ounces to be delivered in the future. Changes to variable consideration will be 

reflected in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and loss. 

The following table summarizes deferred revenue: 

   

13. LEASES 

 
The Company sub-leases an office space that it leased in 2019 to companies with directors and officers in 

common. The Company has classified the sub-lease as a lease, because the sub-lease is for the whole of the 

remaining of the head lease (see Note 5). 

 

Balance, December 31, 2018 -$                                

Initial Silver Stream Advance Payment 7,500                              

   Amortization of deferred revenue

      Deferred revenue recognized (1,630)                            

  Finance costs on deferred revenue 599                                 

Balance, December 31, 2019 6,469$                          

December 31, 2019

Current portion 1,170$                           

Non-current portion 5,299                              

Total 6,469$                          

Notes December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Total minimum lease payments 826$                             1,548$                          

Effect of discounting (189)                               (93)                                 

Present value of minimum lease payments 637                                1,455                            

Less: current portion (275)                               (1,185)                           

362                                270                                

Minimum payments under leases

Due no later than 1 year 363                                1,205                            

Due later than 1 year less than 5 years 463                                343                                

826                                1,548$                          
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14. PROVISION FOR ENVIRONMENTAL REHABILITATION 

 

The Company’s provision for environmental rehabilitation consists of costs accrued based on the best 

estimate of mine closure and reclamation activities that will be required at the El Mochito mine site upon 

completion of mining activity. These costs will largely be incurred on mine closure. These activities include 

costs for earthworks, including land re-contouring and re-vegetation, water treatment and demolition.  

 

The assumptions used in the estimate of the provision are as follows: 

 
The following is a continuity schedule of the Company’s estimated provisions: 

 
  

Undiscounted liability 

for closure

Expected dates of 

expenditure Pre-tax discount rate

Inflation 

factor

Present value of cash 

flow required on 

closure

El Mochito mine operation 9,830$                          2029 - 2035 4.72% 2.00% 7,381$                          

Year ended Year ended

Notes December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Balance, beginning of period 6,665$                          9,168$                       

Change in estimate 434                                (2,788)                        

Accretion 284                                310                            

Rehabilitation payments (2)                                   (25)                              

Balance, end of period 7,381                             6,665                         



ASCENDANT RESOURCES INC. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except where otherwise noted) 

  

37 
 

15. PROVISION FOR FUTURE TERMINATION PAYMENTS 

 

The Company provides severance benefits to its employees in accordance with Honduran Labour Law. The 

severance accrues based on the years of service of employees with the Company up to a maximum of 25 

years. The present value of the severance liability is based on expected future payments that arise from 

future potential terminations. This obligation has been calculated by independent actuaries using the 

projected unit credit method. Expected future payments are discounted using the risk-free rate of Honduran 

state bonds average in recent years of 10.08% for employees who receive benefits in Honduran Lempiras 

and 3.76% for employees who receive benefits in US dollars. 

 

Actuarial Valuation of termination benefits: 

  

Termination obligation Notes Notification Severance Death Total

Balance at December 31, 2018 1,100$                       7,488$                        13$                            8,601$                

Current service cost 131                            752                              -                             883                     

Past service cost 467                            797                              6                                 1,270                  

Net interest cost 90                               598                              1                                 689                     

Remeasurement adjustment of termination obligation (54)                              (125)                             18                               (161)                    

Exchange rate adjustment -                             -                               -                             -                      

Benefit payments (67)                              (204)                             (18)                              (289)                    

Assumed liability -                             -                               -                             -                      

Balance at December 31, 2019 1,667$                       9,306$                        20$                            10,993$             

Termination obligation Notes Notification Severance Death Total

Balance at December 31, 2017 1,115$                       7,669$                        15$                            8,799$                

Current service cost 78                               804                              -                             882                     

Past service cost 167                            597                              (3)                                761                     

Net interest cost 90                               600                              2                                 692                     

Remeasurement adjustment of termination obligation (235)                           (1,374)                          9                                 (1,600)                 

Exchange rate adjustment -                             (1)                                 -                             (1)                         

Benefit payments (115)                           (807)                             (10)                              (932)                    

Assumed liability -                             -                               -                             -                      

Balance at December 31, 2018 1,100$                       7,488$                        13$                            8,601$                
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16.   SHARE CAPITAL 

 

Authorized 

 Unlimited number of common shares, no par value 

 Unlimited number of preferred shares 

 

The following is a summary of changes in common share capital:  

 
The weighted average number of shares outstanding used to calculate basic and diluted earnings (loss) per 

share for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 

 
  

Notes

Number of 

Common Shares

Share Capital

Balance, December 31, 2017 74,214,593          34,194$         

Shares issued as consideration for investment in Redcorp 7 2,052,546             1,650              

Warrants exercised 800,000                183                 

RSUs redeemed 25,000                  14                   

Balance, December 31, 2018 77,092,139          36,041$         

Warrants exercised                 600,000 153

Balance, December 31, 2019           77,692,139  $        36,194 

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Basic 77,343,646                      74,310,271                      

Dilutive effect of warrants -                                    776,094                           

Dilutive effect of options -                                    287,155                           

Dilutive effect of RSUs -                                    2,393,249                        

Diluted 77,343,646                      77,766,769                      

Year endedWeighted Average Number of Shares 

Outstanding
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The determination of weighted average number of common shares for the purpose of diluted Earnings and 

(Loss) per Share excludes the following shares relating to warrants and options that were anti-dilutive for 

the periods below noted: 

 
17. WARRANTS 

 

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, warrants outstanding were as follows: 

 
• On March 7, 2019 a total of 1,414,500 compensation warrants expired unexercised.  

• On July 31, 2019 a total of 600,000 warrants were exercised, with the remaining 500,000 expiring unexercised. 

 

At December 31, 2019, the weighted average remaining contractual life of the warrants was 2.18 years 

(December 31, 2018 – 2.69 years). 

 

Warrants transactions are summarized as follows: 

   

  

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Anti-dilutive warrants 11,787,500                      13,202,000                      

Anti-dilutive options 438,667                           163,334                           

Anti-dilutive RSUs 5,903,333                        -                                    

Year ended

Expiry Date

Exercise 

Price (Cdn$)

Number of 

Warrants

Exercisable Exercise Price 

(Cdn$)

Number of 

Warrants

Exercisable

July 31, 2019 -                 -                      -                 $0.25 1,100,000      1,100,000    

March 7, 2022 $1.25 11,787,500      11,787,500 $1.25 11,787,500    11,787,500 

March 7, 2019 -                 -                      -                 $0.85 1,414,500      1,414,500    

$1.25 11,787,500      11,787,500 $1.13 14,302,000    14,302,000 

December 31, 2018December 31, 2019

Number of 

warrants

Exercise price 

(Cdn$) Warrants

Number of 

warrants

Exercise price 

(Cdn$) Warrants

Balance, beginning of period 14,302,000 $1.13 4,935$          15,102,000    $1.09 4,967$          

Warrants exercised (600,000)      $0.25 (38)                 (800,000)         $0.25 (32)                 

Warrants expired (1,914,500)  $0.69 (701)              -                    -                    -                 

Balance, end of period 11,787,500 $1.25 4,196$          14,302,000    $1.13 4,935$          

December 31, 2018December 31, 2019
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18.     SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE  

 
Options 

 

The Company has an incentive stock option plan ("the Option Plan") whereby the Company can grant to 

directors, officers, employees and consultants options to purchase common shares of the Company.  The 

Option Plan provides for the issuance of stock options to acquire up to 10% of the Company's issued and 

outstanding capital. The Option Plan is a rolling plan as the number of shares reserved for issuance pursuant 

to the grant of stock options will increase as the Company's issued and outstanding share capital increases.  

 

No options were granted under the Option Plan during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, and 

none have been granted since 2015.  

 

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018 the Company had outstanding stock options enabling the holders to 

acquire common shares as follows: 

 
• On January 14, 2020 a total of 31,667 stock options expired unexercised. 

  

At December 31, 2019, the weighted average remaining contractual life of the stock options was 0.46 years 

(December 31, 2018 – 1.22 years). 

 

  

Options

Restricted 

share units

Share-based 

payment reserve Options

Restricted 

share units

Share-based 

payment reserve

Balance, beginning of period 380$    2,715$      3,095$                 380$     1,726$      2,106$                 

Options expired (101)     -            (101)                     -        -            -                       

RSUs vested -       318           318                       -        1,022        1,022                   

RSUs redeemed -       -            -                       -        (14)            (14)                        

RSUs cancelled/forfeited -       -            -                       -        (19)            (19)                        

Balance, end of period 279$    3,033$      3,312$                 380$     2,715$      3,095$                 

December 31, 2018December 31, 2019

Expiry date

Exercise 

Price (Cdn$)

Number of 

Options

Exercisable Exercise Price 

(Cdn$)

Number of 

Options

Exercisable

May 28, 2019                       -                       -                                  -   $0.75 131,667          131,667                 

January 14, 2020 $5.25           31,667                      31,667 $5.25 31,667            31,667                   

June 15, 2020 $0.25        367,000                   367,000 $0.25 367,000          367,000                 

October 27, 2020 $0.25           40,000                      40,000 $0.25 40,000            40,000                   

$0.61        438,667                   438,667 $0.64 570,334          570,334                 

December 31, 2018December 31, 2019
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Stock option transactions are summarized as follows: 

 
Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”) 

 

On October 7, 2016, the Company’s shareholders approved the Restricted Share Unit Plan (the “RSU Plan”), 

whereby RSUs may be granted to directors, officers, consultants or employees at the discretion of the Board 

of Directors. The RSU Plan provides for share unit awards (the “RSUs”) to be granted by the Board of 

Directors to employees of the Company. An RSU is a unit representing the right to receive one common 

share issued from treasury. The RSU Plan provides for the issuance of RSUs to acquire up to 10% of the 

Company's issued and outstanding capital. The RSU Plan is a rolling plan as the number of shares reserved 

for issuance pursuant to the grant of RSUs will increase as the Company's issued and outstanding share 

capital increases. 

 

The number of RSUs awarded will be determined based on the market price on the date of the grant, as 

approved by the Board of Directors. The market price shall be calculated at the closing market price on the 

Toronto Stock Exchange of the common shares on the date of the grant. The vesting requirements are 

established from time to time by the Board of Directors. 

 

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018 the Company had restricted share units enabling the holders to redeem 

common shares as follows: 

 

 
As of December 31, 2019, there were 6,258,332 RSUs outstanding, which includes 5,878,333 RSUs that have 

vested, and are redeemable as of December 31, 2019.  

 

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized share-based payment expense relating to 

the vesting of RSUs of $318 (2018 - $1,022). 

  
  

Number of 

Options

Exercise 

Price (Cdn$)

Share-based 

payment reserve

Number of 

Options

Exercise Price 

(Cdn$)

Share-based 

payment reserve

Balance, beginning of period 570,334         $0.64 380$                        570,334          $0.64 380$                       

Options expired (131,667)       0.75              (101)                         -                    -                    -                          

Balance, end of period 438,667         $0.61 279$                        570,334          $0.64 380$                       

December 31, 2018December 31, 2019

 Number of 

RSUs Granted 

Grant date fair 

value (Cdn$)

 Number of 

RSUs Vested & 

Redeemable 

Number of 

RSUs Granted

Grant date fair 

value (Cdn$)

Number of 

RSUs Vested & 

Redeemable

April 18, 2017 (i) 5,693,333        $0.65 5,443,333        5,693,333        $0.65 3,513,333       

November 22, 2017 (ii) 565,000           $0.70 435,000           565,000           $0.70 238,333           

6,258,333        $0.66 5,878,333        6,258,333        $0.66 3,751,667       

December 31, 2018December 31, 2019
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Restricted share unit vesting transactions are summarized as follows: 

 

 
Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”) (continued) 

(i) On April 18, 2017, the Company granted 5,790,000 Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”), subject to certain 

eligible participants under the Company’s RSU Plan, including certain officers, directors, and employees.  

 

Of the 5,790,000 RSUs granted, 5,040,000 will vest in accordance with the following schedule: (i) 33 1/3% 

immediately; (ii) 33 1/3% one year from the date of the grant; and (iii) 33 1/3% two years from the date of 

the grant. The remaining 750,000 RSUs will vest in accordance with the following schedule: (i) 33 1/3% one 

year following the date of the grant; (ii) 33 1/3% two years from the date of the grant; and (iii) 33 1/3 three 

years after the date of the grant. 

 

(ii) On November 22, 2017, the Company granted 665,000 Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”), subject to 

certain eligible participants under the Company’s RSU Plan, including certain officers, directors, and 

employees. 

 

Of the 665,000 RSUs granted, 275,000 will vest in accordance with the following schedule: (i) 33 1/3% 

immediately; (ii) 33 1/3% one year from the date of the grant; and (iii) 33 1/3% two years from the date of 

the grant. The remaining 390,000 RSUs will vest in accordance with the following schedule: (i) 33 1/3% one 

year following the date of the grant; (ii) 33 1/3% two years from the date of the grant; and (iii) 33 1/3 three 

years after the date of the grant. 

 

  

 Number of 

RSUs Vested & 

Redeemable 

Grant date fair 

value (Cdn$)

 Share-based 

payment 

reserve 

Number of 

RSUs Vested & 

Redeemable

Grant date fair 

value (Cdn$)

Share-based 

payment 

reserve

Balance, beginning of period 3,751,667        $0.66 2,715$              1,650,001        $0.65 1,726$             

RSUs Vested 2,126,666        $0.66 318                    2,126,667        $0.66 1,022                

RSUS Redeemed -                     -                     -                     (25,000)             $0.70 (14)                    

RSUs Forfeited/Cancelled -                     -                     -                     -                     $0.70 (19)                    

Balance, end of period 5,878,333        $0.66 3,033$              3,751,667        $0.66 2,715$             

December 31, 2018December 31, 2019



ASCENDANT RESOURCES INC. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars, except where otherwise noted) 

  

43 
 

19. REVENUE  

 
(i) Pricing adjustments represent mark-to-market adjustments on initial estimate of provisionally priced sales, and realized and 

unrealized changes to fair value of non-hedge derivative contracts. 

 

The Company’s analysis of revenues by product is as follows: 

 

  

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Notes December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Revenue from zinc and lead concentrates $83,110 $91,166

Pricing adjustments (i) (5,294)                      (5,548)                      

77,816$                   85,618$                   

Year ended

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Zinc 43,012                     55,404                     

Lead 10,569                     18,273                     

Silver 24,235                     11,941                     

77,816$                   85,618$                   

Year ended
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20. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES AND OTHER EXPENSE ITEMS 

  
(i) In May 2018 the Company finalized a working capital adjustment and certain other matters related to the El Mochito acquisition, 

with a value of $2,953 to the Company. Of this amount, $1,500 was a direct cash payment to the Company, and $1,453 was an off-

set against a loan in that same amount advanced by Nyrstar Finance International AG to the Company in December 2016.   

Notes December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Consulting fees 973                          135                          

Wages and salaries 2,394                       3,506                       

Professional fees 687                          549                          

Office and miscellaneous 517                          630                          

Depreciation 8 109                          12                            

Travel and promotion 64                            130                          

Share-based payments 18 318                          1,022                       

5,062                       5,984                       

OTHER EXPENSE (INCOME) ITEMS

Loss on foreign exchange (34)                           (49)                           

Accretion expense on rehabilitation liabilities 14 284                          310                          

Charge on termination obligations 15 2,842                       2,335                       

Finance expenses 2,669                       1,022                       

Advances to joint venture 7 2,639                       2,248                       

Gain on settlement with Nyrstar (i) -                           (2,953)                      

Gain on remeasurement of environmental rehabilitation estimate 14 -                           (2,788)                      

Other loss 341                          679                          

8,741                       804                          

Year ended
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21. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 

The Company's objective when managing capital is to maintain its ability to continue as a going concern in 

order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.  

 

The Company defines capital as total equity plus debt. Total equity is comprised of issued capital stock, 

warrants, share-based payments reserve and accumulated deficit.  Total debt is comprised of credit and 

revolving prepayment facilities. The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, 

based on the funds available to the Company, in order to support the acquisition, exploration and 

development of mineral properties. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital 

criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company's management to sustain future 

development of the business. 

 

The Company is dependent on external financing to fund its mineral exploration and evaluation activities. 

In order to carry out the planned exploration and pay for administrative costs, the Company will spend its 

existing working capital and raise additional amounts as needed. The Company will continue to assess new 

properties and seek to acquire an interest in additional properties if it feels there is sufficient geologic or 

economic potential and if it has adequate financial resources to do so. 

 

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, 

given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. The Company's capital management objectives, 

policies and processes have remained unchanged during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.  

 
 

  

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Equity 15,920                     23,624                     

Debt 14,314                     4,775                       

30,234                     28,399                     
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

(a) Fair value and carrying value of financial instruments: 

 

The following represents the carrying value and fair value of the Company’s financial instruments and non-

financial derivatives: 

 
(i) Cash, trade and other receivables, and trade and other payables are recorded at carrying value, which approximates fair 

value due to their short-term nature and generally negligible credit losses. 

(ii) Excludes tax and other statutory amounts. 

(iii) Derivatives and embedded provisional pricing derivatives are carried at their fair value, which is determined on internal 

valuation models that reflect observable market commodity prices.  

(iv) The carrying value of the facilities approximates the fair value due to their short-term nature. 

 

 

  

Recurring measurements Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Financial Assets

Amortised cost

   Cash (i) 1,684                   1,684          3,808$               3,808$      

   Trade and other receivables (i)(ii) 3,601                   3,601          4,031                 4,031         

   Due from related parties 895                       895             833                     833            

Fair value through profit or loss

   Non-hedge derivative assets (iii) -                        -              137                     137            

Total financial assets 6,180                   6,180          8,809                 8,809         

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost

   Trade and other payables (i)(ii) 18,122                 18,122        19,374               19,374      

   Credit facility (iv) 4,314                   4,314          4,775                 4,775         

   Revolving prepayment facility (iv) 10,000                 10,000        -                      -             

Total financial liabilities 32,436                 32,436        24,149               24,149      

Net financial asset (liability) (26,256)$              (26,256)$    (15,340)$            (15,340)$   

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
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Fair value hierarchy 

 

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities are recorded and measured as follows: 

 

a) The fair values for cash, trade and other receivables, due from related parties, trade and other payables, 

finance leases and revolving credit facility, approximate carrying values due to the immediate or short-

term maturities of these financial instruments and are classified as Level 1 in accordance with their fair 

value hierarchy. 

 

b) For the non-derivative hedge assets and liabilities, the fair value is determined by reference to the 

quoted prices for the underlying commodity, and is classified as Level 1 on the fair value hierarchy. 

 

The Company’s policy is to recognize transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels of the date 

of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. During the years ended December 31, 

2019 and 2018, the Company did not make any transfers. 

 

(b) Derivatives and hedging: 

 

Non-hedge derivative zinc contracts 

 

Ascendant enters into fixed price sales contracts with zinc customers and, to ensure that the Company 

continues to receive a floating or unhedged realized zinc price, Ascendant enters into forward zinc purchase 

contracts that effectively offset the fixed price sales contracts. At December 31, 2019, the Company held no 

such contracts. The aggregate fair value of the transactions at December 31, 2019 was $nil (2018 – net asset 

position of $137). 

 

(c) Embedded derivatives: 

 

Changes in fair value of provisionally price receivables 

 

The Company records changes in fair value of provisionally priced receivables related to provisional pricing 

in concentrate sale contracts. Under the terms of these contracts, prices are subject to final adjustment at 

the end of a future period after title transfers based on quoted market prices during the quotation period 

specified in the contract. The period between provisional pricing and final pricing is typically up to four 

months. 

 

Changes in fair value of provisionally priced receivables are presented in trade and other receivables when 

they relate to sales contracts. At each reporting date, provisionally priced metals are marked-to-market, with 

changes in fair value recognized in revenue from concentrates. Cash flows related to changes in fair value 

of provisionally priced receivables are classified in operating activities. 
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

The Company may be exposed to risks of varying degrees of significance which could affect its ability to 

achieve its risk management objectives. The main objective of the Company's risk management process is 

to ensure that the risks are properly identified and that the capital base is adequate in relation to those 

risks. The principal risks to which the Company is exposed to are described below. There have been no 

changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 

2018. 

 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is not able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 

Company's approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 

liabilities when due. 

 

At December 31, 2019, the Company had a cash balance of $1,684 (December 31, 2018 - $3,808), to settle 

current liabilities of $35,469 (December 31, 2018 - $26,911). The Company has working capital deficit of 

$17,054 at December 31, 2019 (December 31, 2018 – working capital deficit of $7,109). See Note 1 Basis of 

Presentation and Going Concern.  

 

Foreign Currency Risk 

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk to the extent expenditures incurred or funds received, and 

balances maintained by the Company are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of 

the entity party to the transaction. As of December 31, 2019, the Company had net monetary liabilities 

totalling $6,800 (2018 - $9,900) denominated in Honduran Lempiras, and $500 (2018 - $1,000) denominated 

in Euro. The Company’s sensitivity analysis suggests that for the year ended December 31, 2019 a change in 

the absolute rate of exchange in the Honduran Lempira by 1% would increase or decrease net income by 

$68 (2018 - $89) and in the Euro by 1% would increase or decrease net income by $5 (2018 – $10). The 

Company’s objective in managing its foreign currency risk is to minimize its net exposure to foreign currency 

cash flows by obtaining most of its estimated annual U.S. cash requirements and holding the remaining 

currency in Canadian dollars. The Company has not, to the date of these consolidated financial statements, 

entered into derivative instruments to offset the impact of foreign currency fluctuations. 

 

Commodity Price Risk 

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices arising from changes to the market 

prices for zinc, lead and silver between the time of the provisional invoicing of concentrates to the time of 

final price settlement. The Company closely monitors commodity prices to determine the appropriate 

course of action to be taken by the Company. The Company’s future operations will be significantly affected 

by changes in the market prices of these commodities. Prices fluctuate on a daily basis and are affected by 

numerous factors beyond the Company’s control. The supply and demand, the level of interest rates, the 

rate of inflation, and stability of exchange rates can all cause significant fluctuations in prices. Such external 

economic factors may in turn be influenced by changes in international investment patterns and monetary 

systems and political developments. Management estimates that as of December 31, 2019 a 5% decrease 

in the market prices for zinc, lead and silver would reduce the provisionally priced mark-to-market revenues 

and related accounts receivable by $2,666 (2018 - $1,909).  
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Interest Rate Risk 

The Company has cash balances and interest-bearing debt as described in Notes 10 and 11. The Company 

has no short-term investments as at December 31, 2019 and is not subject to any significant impact on the 

cash balance as a result of changes in interest rates.  

 

Credit Risk 

The Company has no significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Management believes 

that the credit risk concentrating with respect to cash and amounts receivable is remote. 

 

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 

 

In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility 

for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company directly or indirectly, including any 

directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company. 

 

(a) Compensation of key management personnel 

  

(b) Due from related parties 

 

During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company granted loans of $432 (2017 - $431) to 

certain directors and officers of the Company to cover the tax liability in respect of the vested RSUs. These 

loans bear interest at the Canada Revenue Agency’s (“CRA”) quarterly prescribed interest rate used to 

calculate employee and shareholder loans calculated annually and payable on the earlier of: (i) demand by 

the Company, (ii) sale by the directors and officers of the common shares underlying the vested RSUs, and 

(iii) April 18, 2022 and August 24, 2023 for the April 2017 RSU recipients, and November 22, 2022 for the 

November 2017 RSU recipients. 

 

As at December 31, 2019, amounts due from related parties including the balance related to these loans 

and accrued interest is $895 (December 31, 2018 - $833), and the office sub-lease payments receivable (see 

Notes 5 and 13) is $250 (December 31, 2018 - $Nil). 

 

  

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Management compensation 1,380$                        2,202$                        

Directors' fees 139                              189                              

Share-based payments 316                              905                              

1,835$                        3,296$                        

Year ended
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25. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 

By their nature, contingencies will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 

uncertain future events.  The assessment of contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant 

judgments and estimates of the outcome of future events. 

 

The Company operates in countries where it may be subject to assessments by the regulatory authorities in 

each of those countries, which can be complex and subject to interpretation. Assessments may relate to 

matters such as income and other taxes, duties and environmental matters. The Company is diligent, and 

exercises informed judgment to interpret the provisions of applicable laws and regulations as well as their 

application and administration by regulatory authorities to reasonably determine and pay the amounts due. 

From time to time, the Company may undergo a review by the regulatory authorities and in connection with 

such reviews, disputes may arise with respect to the Company’s interpretations about the amounts due and 

paid. 

 

The Company may also be subject to various litigation actions.  In-house counsel, outside legal advisors, and 

other subject matter experts assess the potential outcome of litigation and regulatory assessments. 

Accordingly, the Company establishes provisions for future disbursements considered probable. 

 

As at December 31, 2018, the Company did not have any material provisions for litigation claims or 

regulatory assessments. Further, the Company does not believe claims or regulatory assessments, for which 

no provision has been recorded, will have a material impact on the financial position of the Company.   

 

The Company has the following commitments as at December 31, 2019: 

 
 

  

<1 years 1-5 years 5> years Total

Operating commitments (i) 1,635$         409$                -$                         2,044$               

Leases (i) 363               463                   -                            826                    

Credit facility payments (i) 4,314           -                    -                            4,314                 

Revolving prepayment facility (i) 10,000         -                    -                            10,000               

Environmental rehabilitation provision (i) -                -                    9,830                       9,830                 

16,312$       872$                9,830$                     27,014$            

(i) Reported on an undiscounted basis

Payments due by period
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26. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

 

a) Change in non-cash working capital: 

  
 

27. INCOME TAXES 

 

(a) Tax rate reconciliation 

 

Major items causing the Company’s income tax rate to differ from the Canadian statutory rate of 26.5% 

(December 31, 2018 – 26.5%) were as follows: 

  

  

Notes December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Change in:

Amounts receivable 587                            (1,110)                        

Prepaid expenses and deposits 64                               (186)                           

Concentrate and ore inventory (1,559)                        4,641                         

Materials and supplies inventory 352                            (244)                           

Value added tax receivable (1,341)                        (2,693)                        

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2,021)                        3,894                         

Current income taxes payable 11                               1,527                         

Other (19)                              (421)                           

(3,926)                        5,408                         

Year ended

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Income (loss) before income taxes (8,209)$                          4,668$                           

Expected income tax recovery based on statutory rate (2,175)                            1,237                             

Foreign tax rate differential (19)                                  (148)                               

Share-based compensation 86                                   273                                

Other non-deductible expenses 361                                217                                

Unrecognized/(recognized) temporary differences 1,747                             84                                   

Current income tax expense -$                               1,663$                           
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(b) Deferred income tax balances 

 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following items: 

    
The Company has approximately $18.66 million (2018 - $17.04 million) of non-capital losses in Canada which 

under certain circumstances can be used to reduce taxable income for future years. These losses expire 

from 2025 to 2039. Other tax pools in Canada totalling $15.79 million (2018 - $6.23 million) do not expire. 

 

The Company also has approximately $6.91 million (2018 - $30.62 million) of tax losses in Honduras, which 

under certain circumstances can be used to reduce taxable income for future years. The losses expire from 

2020-2022. Other tax pools in Honduras totalling $13.12 million (2018 - $133.52 million) do not expire. 

 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not probable that future 

taxable profit will be available against which the Company can use the benefits. 

 

The aggregate amount of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 

interests in joint arrangements, for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognized, as at December 

31, 2019 is $5.32 million (December 31, 2018 - $4.03 million). 

 

28. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 

The Company’s sole mining operation is the El Mochito mine in Honduras. The Company’s investment 

and exploration activities in the Lagoa Salgada Project in Portugal are not individually significant, as they 

do not meet the minimum quantitative thresholds. Accordingly, the chief decision makers consider 

Ascendant Resources Inc. to currently have one segment and, therefore, segmented information is not 

presented. 

 

 

  

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Deferred income tax assets:

Non-capital losses carry-forwards - Canada 4,945$                           4,516$                           

Capital losses - Canada 264                                270                                

Other deductible temporary differences - Canada 1,222                             927                                

Tax losses - Honduras 1,728                             7,656                             

Other deductible temporary differences - Honduras 3,280                             35,881                           

Total deferred income tax assets not recognized 11,439$                         49,250$                         
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29. DISPOSITION OF SUBSIDIARY 

 

Sale of AMPAC 

 

In April 2020, Ascendant entered into an agreement to sell its wholly-owned subsidiary AMPAC, which holds 

the El Mochito mine in Honduras, to Kirungu. Under the agreement, Kirungu will acquire 100% of the issued 

and outstanding shares of AMPAC for a purchase price of $1.0 million cash upon closing of the transaction, 

and additional future consideration (“the Zinc Payment Agreement”) on zinc sales from the El Mochito mine, 

subject to the future price of zinc, wherein Kirungu will pay Ascendant US$0.0125 per lb of zinc for all sales 

through December 31, 2029 when the price of zinc is in excess of US$1.15 per lb.  Upon closing of the 

transaction, Ascendant will receive $1.0 million and up to $0.1 million in working capital adjustments. 

Management determined that the fair value of the Zinc Payment Agreement using a Black-Scholes Option 

Pricing model to be $1.0 million, based on the estimated present value of the cash to be received taking into 

account future forecast zinc prices and a relevant discount rate. 

 

As at December 31, 2019, the carrying value of the El Mochito CGU is approximately $12 million. The 

Company has not recorded an impairment of the El Mochito CGU at December 31, 2019 as the events and 

conditions (the outbreak of COVID-19 and the corresponding decrease in the metal prices, in particular that 

of zinc and lead) which precipitated the decrease in both the carrying amount and the recoverable amount 

of the El Mochito CGU are directly related to events which occurred subsequent to December 31, 2019 and 

are therefore considered to be a non-adjusting subsequent event for these consolidated financial 

statements.   

 

As at March 31, 2020, the Company will record its investment in El Mochito as an asset held for sale under 

IFRS 5 at fair value of approximately $2 million. 

 

30. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

Since December 31, 2019, the outbreak of the novel strain of coronavirus, specifically identified as “COVID-

19”, has resulted in governments worldwide enacting emergency measures to combat the spread of the 

virus. These measures, which include the implementation of travel bans, self-imposed quarantine periods 

and social distancing, have caused material disruption to businesses globally resulting in an economic 

slowdown. Global equity markets have experienced significant volatility and weakness. Governments and 

central banks have reacted with significant monetary and fiscal interventions designed to stabilize economic 

conditions. The duration and impact of the COVID-19 outbreak is unknown at this time, as is the efficacy of 

the government and central bank interventions. It is not possible to reliably estimate the length and severity 

of these developments and the impact on the financial results and condition of the Corporation and its 

operating subsidiaries in future periods.  
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